
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU 

 
 

 
 

Planning Delivery 
Committee 

 
 
 

 
Members of the Planning Delivery Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned 
to attend a meeting to be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on 
Wednesday, 20 June 2012 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is 
proposed to be transacted. 
 
 

 
S Kilkie 
Assistant Director (Communities) 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Part A 
Items likely to be considered in Public 

1. Apologies   

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 1 - 4) 

3. To declare any interests Members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda. When declaring an interest Members should state what their 
interest is.  

 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public.  

 

5. Presentation by Kent Architecture Centre   

6. Presentation - Duty-to-Cooperate   

 Hand outs will be distributed at the meeting  
 

 

7. Retail Study and Policy approach - Report & appendices herewith  (Pages 5 - 130) 

8. Performance Update - Quarter Four 2011-12 (January 2012 to March 
2012) - Report & appendices herewith  

(Pages 131 - 
146) 

 To provide Members of the Planning Delivery Committee with a report on 
the progress made by the council in delivering the Areas of Focus and 
Measures of Accountability (relevant to the committee) as set out within 
the Corporate Business Plan 2011-15.   

 

Public Document Pack



 

9. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency.  

 

10. Exclusion   

 To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
  
 

 

 Part B 
Items likely to be considered in Private 

 

 
 
 
Members 
 
Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair) 
Cllr Valerie Ashenden (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: Jane Cribbon 

Harold Craske 
Rosemary Leadley 
Peter Rayner 
Caroline Shelton 
Michael Snelling 
Robin Theobald 
Michael Wenban 
 

 
Co-Optees Nigel Allen 

Claire Brown 
Elizabeth Carter 
Niamh Christine Joyce 
Steve Ross 
 

 
Substitutes: Lesley Boycott 

Rob Halpin 
Glen Handley 
John Loughlin 
Makhan Singh 
Derek Shelbrooke 
 

 



1 

Planning Delivery Committee 
 

Wednesday, 28 March 2012                                 7.30pm 
 

 
Present: 
 
Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair) 
Cllr Peter Rayner (Vice-Chair) 
 
Cllrs: Harold Craske 

Jane Cribbon 
Brian Sangha 
Makhan Singh 
Michael Snelling 
Robin Theobald 
Michael Wenban 
Rosemary Leadley 
 

Co-optees Nigel Allen 
Steve Ross 

 
Note:  Cllr Leslie Hills was also in attendance 
 
Wendy Lane Principal Planner (Policy) 
Tony Chadwick Principal Planner 
Christopher Wakeford Committee Services Officer (Scrutiny) 
 
 
 
23. Apologies  
 
An apology for absence was received from Cllr Valerie Ashenden.  Cllr Rosemary Leadley 
attended as her substitute. 
 
An apology for absence was also received from Claire Brown. 
 
24. Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 23 November 2011 were signed by the Chair. 
 
25. Declarations of Interest  
 
No declarations of interest were made. 
 
26. Responses to recent consultation and emerging Reg.27 Core Strategy  
 
The Principal Planning Officer updated the Committee on the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) that was published on 27 March 2012.  This is a key part of Government 
reforms to make the planning system less complex and more accessible, to protect the 
environment and to promote sustainable growth. 

Agenda Item 2Page 1



Planning Delivery Committee 28.03.2012 

2 

The new NPPF had only recently been received and more time was needed to digest the 
document - the Principal Planning Policy Officer highlighted the following areas:- 
 
• the Local Development Framework is now called the Local Plan; 
• the Planning Policy for Travellers sites has been updated and imposes a 5 year supply 
requirement; 

• NPPF does appear better than the original but it does treat Planning as an administrative 
hoop; 

• NPPF reinforces Green Belt as a constraint on development; 
• windfalls: now allowed to be included in 5 year supply but not development in gardens.  
 
The Committee agreed that a briefing to all Members along with a seminar on the National 
Planning Policy Framework would be highly beneficial as soon as possible. 
 
Following a request from a Member, the Planning Policy Officer explained that she would 
advise on the exact number of Traveller site pitches that are required for inclusion in the 
Core Strategy for the period 2006/2018. 
 
The Principal Planning Officer presented the Committee with an update on the production of 
the Regulation 27 Core Strategy.  This included a report of the key issues raised by, and 
draft proposed responses to, the Growth Scenarios and Core Strategy consultation.  The 
responses will guide the policy development in the Regulation 27 Core Strategy but may 
need revision following the publication of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Following a question from a Member the Principal Planning Officer explained that the LDF 
Core Strategy time period had been reduced by three years (from 2031 to 2028) which has 
subsequently reduced the housing figure requirements from 5200 to 4600 for the zero-net 
migration demographic requirement.  This reduction was proposed in response to the 
representations received to last year’s Growth Scenarios and Core Strategy consultation. 
 
Kent County Council’s new local forecasting model, unlike the previous Chelmer model 
which modelled in five year periods, provides single-year data. This has allowed officers to 
now consider a shorter time period.  Whilst the single year data was provided by Kent 
County Council to accompany their demographic and labour supply projections in July 2011, 
this was not considered in advance of the consultation being undertaken as all the 
supporting evidence looked to 2031. 
 
Members noted that this subject had already been discussed at the Overview Scrutiny 
Committee on 14 February 2012. 
 
Cllr Robin Theobald presented the Committee with the following views for consideration:- 
 
• the need for rural affordable housing had been overstated, and information from Higham 
suggests that people with no or only a limited local connection had filled the properties; 

• there is a limited need for the provision of affordable sheltered retirement homes in the 
rural area; 

• local authorities can ensure an adequate supply of land but they cannot control its 
release if the owners do not want to proceed to develop it; 

• one job for every dwelling needs to be the minimum. There is a shortage of employment 
in the Borough. 

 

Page 2



Planning Delivery Committee 28.03.2012 

3 

The Principal Planning Officer said that following similar comments that had been made at 
the LDF consultation events and in representations, she had spoken to the Housing Strategy 
and Development Manager about this issued and been advised that the Higham properties 
have been filled by people meeting the Council’s allocation criteria.  In response, Members 
accepted her offer to arrange a briefing note on the subject.   
 
Cllr Snelling also expressed concerns about the application of rural exception site policies 
and the effect this has on credibility.   
 
The Committee discussed the Red Lion Wharf site at Northfleet.  The Principal Planning 
Officer explained that Kent County Council had supported the proposal from the Home & 
Communities Agency and the intention is to accommodate the minerals importing activity 
whilst seeking the biggest employment gain possible. 
 
The consultation options in the report were also discussed.  It was accepted that it will be 
challenging to balance the formality of the Planning Inspectorate forms with a process that is 
accessible for all those that want to comment on and / or support the published plan.  
 
The Committee thanked the Planning Officers for all their hard work. 
 
It was agreed that a briefing note on the National Planning Policy Framework be sent to all 
Members as soon as possible, followed by a seminar. 
 
27. Quarter 3 Performance Update - Planning Delivery specific items  
 
The Committee considered the Performance Update - Quarter Three 2011/12 (October 2011 
to December 2011). 
 
The Committee discussed the progress made by the Council in delivering the Areas of 
Focus and Measures of Accountability (relevant to the Committee) as set out within the 
Corporate Business Plan 2011/15. 
 
Key areas of improvement/good performance include: 
 
CBP 14 - Number of affordable homes delivered (gross) 
Performance against this measure in quarter three continued to be ahead of target.  All the 
new homes completed in quarter three were family sized houses, five of which were 
delivered in the rural setting of Lower Higham. 
 
CBP 29 - Town centre footfall (Average weekly footfall) 
This performance measure continued to record figures ahead of the set target as has been 
the case throughout 2012/13.  Quarter three saw an average weekly town centre footfall of 
190,364, over 6,000 ahead of target. 
 
Potential areas for review include:- 
 
CBP 13 - Net additional homes provided 
Performance against this measure is performing below target.  The target that has been set 
for the Council is based upon the South East Plan which sets out the need for Gravesham to 
deliver 465 dwellings per year between 2006 and 2026.  Due to the current economic 
climate, leading to a lack of finance for developers, the number of new builds has reduced.  

Page 3



Planning Delivery Committee 28.03.2012 

4 

It is worth noting that Government has indicated its intention to abolish the South East Plan 
and its housing targets via the Localism Act.  
 
Work on the Local Development Core Strategy is being based upon lower housing targets 
within the plan period (2011/2028), which will in due course to feed through to this particular 
indicator.  This will also impact upon the CBP 14 targets. 
 
Following a request from a Member the Principal Planning Officer explained that he would 
take back the request for comparative data with Dartford on footfall in the Town Centre. 
 
It was agreed that the Quarter Three 2011/12 Performance Update be noted.  
 
 Close of meeting  
 
The meeting ended at 9.30pm. 
 
 

Page 4



 

Classification:       
Key Decision:       

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Planning Delivery Committee 

Date: 20 June 2012 

Reporting officer: Kevin Burbidge, Director (Housing and Regeneration) 

Subject: Retail Study and Policy approach 

Purpose and summary of report:  

o To highlight to Planning Delivery Committee the update on the retail study and 
resulting policy changes before prior to public consultation 

Recommendations: 

o That Planning Delivery Committee consider the report and retail study and agree for  
subsequent public consultation 

 
 
1. Introduction 

1.1 In taking forward the preparation of the Local Plan Core Strategy, following the 
Cabinet discussion on 6 February 2012, it has been necessary to update various 
parts of the information base to reflect the reduced housing numbers, and 
therefore population.  This has been done for retail projections where there is a 
direct impact on the expenditure potentials.  This feeds through into the retail 
policy area which also needs to respond to some of the comments made in last 
year’s consultation, in particular those that suggested a radically different 
approach to retailing in the town centre.  The impact of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) replacing PPS4 also needs to be included.  The 
impending loss of the South East Plan will also remove the retail hierarchy as a 
policy approach, though it is still valid as a descriptive tool. 

1.2 The intention is that these reports will be taken to Planning Delivery Committee, 
and then out to a short targeted consultation aimed at those who have responded 
before and key stakeholders in the town centre. The publication stage consultation 
on the Local Plan Core Strategy will not now take place until September at the 
earliest. 

2. Retail update 

2.1 Previous work was undertaken in 2009 and 2010, along with a Gravesend Town 
Centre Audit in 2011 prepared for the Heritage Quarter appeal (this work had to 
be commissioned to meet appeal process deadlines before it was known that it 
would be withdrawn).  The report by our consultants Roger Tym (now part of Peter 

Agenda Item 7Page 5



 

2 

Brett Associates) simply updated the previous work to take account of the reduced 
housing numbers and the latest (lower) retail expenditure forecasts.  

2.2 Not surprisingly the result is reduced potentials but sufficient for the Heritage 
Quarter (non food) but very limited scope for additional food expenditure (which is 
directly related to population).  The results are summarised in section 3 of the 
retail policy approach document. The update report is a finished document. 

3. Retail policy approach 

3.1 The paper summarises all the background to the evolution of retail and town 
centre policy so other reports do not need to be referred to unless additional 
information is required.  The report sets out: 

• Current national planning policy base 

• Implications of the Retail Study update (2012) 

• Scale of town centre uses to be accommodated 

• Options for accommodating development 

• Representations received during the last consultation 

• Responses to those representations 

• Outline of the consequences for policy (but not the actual policies 
themselves) 

3.2 The major uncertainties relate to the progress and type of development in the 
Ebbsfleet and Eastern Quarry and the impact on the population projections over 
time.  The projections used are a couple of years old and should therefore be 
regarded as optimistic.  This also applies to the retail floorspace delivery in those 
schemes which is dependent on the rate of development. 

3.3 For Gravesend Town Centre some of the consultees raised major issues over 
what they thought the vision for it should be.  The paper provides responses to 
those comments drawing on the evidence base which does not support some of 
the opinions expressed. 

3.4 This document is capable of modification up to the point it goes out on 
consultation, and will be used as the basis of preparing the latest iteration of the 
Core Strategy.  Any comments on it are therefore welcome. 

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

4.1 The Gravesham Retail Study Update and Gravesend Town Centre position paper 
are included after this covering report. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements. 

Page 6



 

3 

 
IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1 

      

Legal  None 

Finance and 
Value for 
Money  

None 

Risk 
Assessment 

Low 

Equality 
Impact 
Assessment 

Screening for Equality Impacts 

Question Answer Explanation 

  a. Does the decision 
being made or 
recommended through 
this paper have 
potential to cause 
adverse impact or 
discriminate against 
different groups in the 
community? 

No Decision at this stage only about 
consultation 

b. Does the decision 
being made or 
recommended through 
this paper make a 
positive contribution to 
promoting equality? 

No Decision at this stage only about 
consultation 

c. What steps are you 
taking to mitigate, 
reduce, avoid or 
minimise the impacts 
identified above? 

 Will feed into Local Plan Core Strategy and 
any implications thar arise will be 
considered in that context 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Corporate 
Business 
Plan 

Objectives 13 and 14 

Crime and 
Disorder 

None 

 

Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



Part of Peter Brett Associates LLP

Roger Tym & Partners t: 020 7025 7100 
7 Soho Square e: london@tymconsult.com 
London W1D 3QB w: www.tymconsult.com 

Final Report    March 2012 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Retail Study Update 2012 
Final Report 

  

Page 9



Job Number: 26354 

Page 10



CONTENTS  

1� INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................. 1�

Terms of reference .............................................................................................................. 1�

Context ................................................................................................................................ 1�

Structure of report................................................................................................................ 3�

2� PLANNING POLICY CONTEXT .......................................................................................... 5�

Localism Act ........................................................................................................................ 5�

National planning policy ....................................................................................................... 5�

Emerging LDF ..................................................................................................................... 7�

Conclusions ......................................................................................................................... 7�

3� UPDATED QUANTITATIVE RETAIL NEEDS ASSESSMENT ............................................. 9�

Methodology ........................................................................................................................ 9�

Updated inputs since July 2010 ........................................................................................... 9�

Population growth .............................................................................................................. 11�

Special forms of trading ..................................................................................................... 11�

Commitments .................................................................................................................... 12�

Comparison assessment ................................................................................................... 12�

Convenience assessment .................................................................................................. 15�

Summary ........................................................................................................................... 17�

4� CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS .................................................................. 19�

Need for additional retail floorspace .................................................................................. 19�

Strategy advice .................................................................................................................. 19�

Monitoring ......................................................................................................................... 23�

APPENDIX 

Appendix 1 – Updated quantitative spreadsheets 

  

Page 11



Page 12



Final Report | March 2012 1 

1 INTRODUCTION 

Terms of reference 

1.1 Roger Tym & Partners were instructed in December 2011 to provide a further update to the 
Gravesham LDF Retail and Commercial Leisure Study (RCLS) (first published in December 
2009 and subsequently updated in July 2010).  Our agreed terms of reference are as 
follows: 

� Consider the current planning policy context (PPS4, draft NPPF, imminent removal of 
South East Plan, Localism Act, emerging Core Strategy) 

� Update the quantitative need forecasts with updated population and expenditure growth 
estimates, rolling forward the outputs to 2031 and test the sensitivity of these outputs 

� Take into account recent committed developments and policy aspirations for growth in 
adjoining local authorities when finalising the quantitative forecasts 

� Revisit the concept of ring-fencing 15% of comparison expenditure for retail 
warehousing floorspace and the implications for the town centre 

� Provide further guidance on increasing the amount of food and grocery floorspace in the 
town centre. 

1.2 In responding to these terms of reference, we agreed with the Council that we would 
update the retail needs assessments within the RCLS and its July 2010 Addendum, using 
the latest forecasts and guidance within PPS4 (as per the second bullet point above).  This 
updated analysis was undertaken in January 2012. 

Context 

1.3 This latest update to the retail needs in Gravesham follows a sequence of previous studies 
for the Council, summarised as follows: 

� Gravesham LDF Retail and Commercial Leisure Study (RCLS), December 2009 

� Addendum to Gravesham LDF Retail and Commercial Leisure Study (RCLSA), July 
2010 

� Health Check Update of Gravesend Town Centre, May 2011 

1.4 Locally, the housing targets for the Borough have recently been consulted upon with 
options that are significantly lower than in the South East Plan.  Importantly, we note that in 
Gravesham itself there are sites where new retail floorspace is committed.  This floorspace 
either benefits from planning permission (or a resolution to grant planning permission) or 
has very recently opened. 

1.5 It is appreciated that the timescale and eventual format of some of the committed schemes 
are uncertain at the time of writing.  Consequently, in agreement with the Council, we have 
divided commitments in Gravesham into two categories.  Category 1 (hard commitments) is 
defined as those commitments that either have already opened since 2007 (the base date 
of this study – see Section 3) or are likely to be built and open within five years.  These are 
as follows: 

Page 13



Final Report | March 2012 2 

� Planning permission (reference GR/2010/0898) for an extension to the existing 
Sainsbury’s superstore at Pepper Hill, Northfleet to deliver an additional 4,573 sqm 
gross of additional floorspace 

� Three small Tesco Express stores that have recently opened within the Borough; 
namely the stores on Perry Street, Valley Drive and Whitehill Road   

1.6 It is understood that Sainsbury’s are discharging the relevant pre-commencement planning 
conditions and expect to commence development shortly.  In respect of the Tesco Express 
stores, we appreciate that they are small individually but cumulatively they do absorb a 
proportion of locally generated ‘top up’ convenience expenditure growth. 

1.7 Category 2 (soft commitments) is defined as those schemes that have been granted 
planning permission (or that the Council have resolved to grant planning permission subject 
to a Section 106 agreement) but the precise scale and/or timing of the proposal is currently 
uncertain.  These are as follows: 

� Resolution to grant planning permission (reference GR/2011/713) for some 2,456 sqm 
of a range of uses including A1 at Canal Basin in Gravesend to deliver a new local 
centre 

� Resolution to grant planning permission (reference GR/2009/238) for up to 850 sqm 
A1/A2/A3/A5 at Northfleet Embankment West; the section 106 agreement remains 
under negotiation  

� Planning permissions in Ebbsfleet for a maximum of 3,750 sqm of A1 floorspace (1,000 
sq.m Springhead, 2,750 sqm Northfleet Rise) in Gravesham Borough   

1.8 In respect of the Ebbsfleet developments mentioned in the final bullet point above, we are 
primarily concerned with the two quarters that are located within Gravesham (Springhead 
and Northfleet Rise).  However, we recognise that there is permission for some 16,750 
sq.m of A1 floorspace in the quarters that are located within Dartford Borough, namely 
Station Quarters North & South.  This should be considered when planning for the longer 
term needs in Gravesham. 

1.9 In Gravesend town centre, we are aware of the Heritage Quarter proposals.  There is no 
planning permission or resolution and thus it cannot be considered a firm commitment.  But 
this is an investment opportunity and there is policy support for growth in the town centre.  
A previous scheme has been refused primarily on design grounds, but it is expected that 
the scheme will be resubmitted at some point in 2012.  At the time of writing, it remains the 
main existing development opportunity for a significant amount of additional floorspace 
within the town centre itself.  However, it is possible other development opportunities could 
arise during the plan period. 

1.10 In surrounding areas (outside the Gravesham boundary), there are a number of retail 
developments (recently opened, permitted and proposed), including: 

� Resolution to grant planning permission for a 10,240 sqm gross Tesco superstore and 
2,550 sqm of other town centre uses in Dartford town centre 

� Planning permission for 9,945 sqm gross redevelopment of existing Tesco store (an 
increase of 5,975 sqm gross) and 1,400 sqm gross A1-A4/D1 floorspace at Cuxton 
Road, Strood 

Page 14



Final Report | March 2012 3 

� Planning permission for A1 retail store and park and ride facility at Medway City Estate, 
Rochester 

� Opening of Westfield Stratford City in 2011 with 175,000 sqm gross retail floorspace 
and is less than 20 minutes on the High Speed 1 route from Gravesend 

� Potential for the expansion of some 5,000 sqm gross of specialist retail use at 
Bluewater, as confirmed in the Dartford Core Strategy 

� Planning application for 37,651 sqm gross of A1 floorspace extending the Lakeside 
Shopping centre in Thurrock 

1.11 These developments outside the Borough will have a varying influence on the shopping 
patterns of Gravesham residents (and those within Gravesend’s wider catchment).  But 
there is no doubt cumulatively the amount of floorspace is significant and cannot be ignored 
when planning the retail needs of Gravesham and the future role and function of Gravesend 
town centre. 

1.12 In respect of the committed developments (both inside and outside Borough), we consider 
what this means for the needs in Gravesham in further detail in Section 3. 

Structure of report 

1.13 Responding to our terms of reference, the remainder of this report is structured as follows: 

� Section 2 (pages 5 to 7) set out the relevant planning policy context 

� Section 3 (pages 9 to 18) provides our updated analysis of quantitative needs in the 
retail sector (to 2031) 

� Section 4 (pages 19 to 24) provides sets out our overall conclusions and 
recommendations to the Council 

Page 15



Page 16



Final Report | March 2012 5 

2 PLANNING POLICY CONTEXT 
2.1 Although only a reasonably short time has elapsed since the publication of the RCLSA in 

July 2010, there have been some significant changes in the national policy context.  This 
includes the Localism Act, which also enacts the (soon-to-be effected) removal of the 
regional level of the development plan - and the emerging NPPF.  Therefore, in this section 
we have reviewed how policy is evolving – both at a national and local level. 

Localism Act 

2.2 The Localism Act was given Royal Assent on 15 November 2011 and gives effect to the 
Government’s intention to abolish regional spatial strategies.  Whilst the South East Plan is 
still technically in place, it will be revoked shortly and this has consequences for the 
housing growth in Gravesham and the sub-regional hierarchy of centres. 

2.3 Importantly, we note that Section 110 of the Localism Act sets out a new ‘duty to co-
operate’. This applies to all local planning authorities, national park authorities and county 
councils in England – and to a number of other public bodies. The new duty: 

� relates to sustainable development or use of land that would have a significant 
impact on at least two local planning areas or on a planning matter that falls within 
the remit of a county council;  

� requires that councils set out planning policies to address such issues;  

� requires councils and public bodies to ‘engage constructively, actively and on an 
ongoing basis’ to develop strategic policies; and  

� requires councils to consider joint approaches to plan making. 

2.4 In respect of plans nearing adoption, the PAS website states that the ‘Government is 
expected to issue further details on transitional arrangements shortly. In the meantime, 
councils could think about summarising how key strategic issues have been addressed in 
the plan-making process to date.’ This includes, for example consideration of the new duty 
to cooperate. 

National planning policy 

PPS4 and PPS12 

2.5 The provisions of PPS4 and PPS12 have not changed from the time the RCLSA was 
prepared and thus we do not rehearse the policies in detail.  However, we do highlight the 
following guidance in PPS4 in respect of plan making: 

� Policy EC1 of PPS4 confirms the requirement to use evidence to plan positively and 
that local planning authorities should 'ensure that the volume and detail of the evidence 
is proportionate to the importance of the issue' (EC1.1b). 

� Policy EC1.3 states that at a local level the evidence should be informed by regional 
assessments and should assess the detailed need for all main town centre uses 
(EC1.3b), identify any deficiencies within the provision of local convenience shopping 

Page 17



Final Report | March 2012 6 

(EC1.3c) and assess the capacity of existing centres to accommodate new town centre 
development (EC1.3e). 

� Policy EC1.4 details what should be considered when assessing the need for retail and 
leisure development at the local level.  The main change from the superseded PPS6 is 
that local authorities should take into account both quantitative and qualitative need for 
additional retail and leisure floorspace (EC1.4a).  There is no weighting in favour of 
either quantitative or qualitative need (as there was in PPS6), but in deprived areas that 
lack a range of services, additional weight can be awarded to meeting such deficiencies 
(EC1.4b).

2.6 As we have done in the RCLS and its Addendum, in this update we cross refer to PPS4 
where necessary and the accompanying Practice Guidance. 

Written Ministerial Statement  

2.7 The Written Ministerial Statement: Planning for Growth, 23 March 2011, was delivered by 
the Minister of State for Decentralisation (Rt Hon Greg Clark MP).  It followed the Plan for 
Growth and states that the Government’s main priority in reforming the planning system is 
to promote sustainable economic growth and employment, and takes a ‘yes’ approach to 
development, unless key sustainable development principles are compromised. 

Draft National Planning Policy Framework 

2.8 The Government published a Draft National Planning Policy Framework in July 2011 setting 
out their reforms to the planning policy framework in order to make it less complex, more 
accessible and to promote sustainable growth. 

2.9 The draft NPPF sets out a number of core planning policies within the context of responding 
positively to opportunities for growth and a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.  In terms of the Local Plan the draft NPPF expects them to: 

� Set out opportunities and strategic policies to deliver development (including retail, 
leisure and commercial development) 

� Provide clear guidance on what will and will not be permitted 

� Be based on up to date and adequate evidence 

2.10 In terms of retail, the evidence base should be used to access the role and function of town 
centres and the relationship between them, including any trends in the performance of 
centres and the capacity of existing centres to accommodate new town centre 
development.  

2.11 The draft NPPF sets out specific policies on business and economic development which 
include promoting the vitality and viability of town centres. It states that one of the 
Government’s objectives to help achieve economic growth is to ‘promote the vitality and 
viability of town centres, and meet the needs of consumers for high quality and accessible 
retail services’.  

2.12 The development management policies for retail uses in the draft NPPF are condensed 
from the PPS4 equivalents.  One notable point is the requirement to assess impact up to 10 
years from when a planning application is made. 

Page 18



Final Report | March 2012 7 

Emerging LDF 

2.13 The local tier of the Development Plan remains the saved policies in the Gravesham Local 
Plan First Review (1994).  Recently, the Council has been preparing development plan 
documents under the Local Development Framework (LDF).  Importantly, we note that the 
draft Core Strategy & Development Management Policies (CSDMP) DPD was subject to a 
six weeks consultation between January and March 2010.

2.14 Paragraphs 3.2.241 to 3.2.266 of the draft CSDMP include the detailed commentary and 
policies on town centres and retailing.  Table 5 includes the potential for additional retail 
floorspace in the Borough to 2026, distinguishing between food, non-food and retail 
warehouse floorspace needs based on three scenarios (taken from the original RLCS).  
Policy 11 prioritises development in Gravesend town centre.  It is also noted that Figure 9 
defines the town centre for Gravesend and recognises the function of the Imperial Retail 
Estate as an edge of centre location.

2.15 In the light of the intended revocation of the regional tier of the Development Plan (in this 
case the South East Plan), the Council has been re-examining their local growth options, 
which is part of the reason for this retail study update.  The Gravesham Growth Scenarios 
and Core Strategy Consultation was from 27th October 2011 to 22nd December 2012, and 
included a range of options for future housing numbers between 4,600 and 9,900 in the 
context of the current economic circumstances, which have impacted on site viability. 

2.16 The consultation document updated the retail policies to emphasise the primacy of 
Gravesend town centre as the location for new retail development, the primary shopping 
area or the Town Centre Commercial Core (Policy 2a).  Edge of centre is defined as sites 
within 300m of the above zones (Policy 11).  The Imperial Retail Park is now defined as an 
appropriate location for large format retail development if there are no suitable sites within 
the primary shopping area, the commercial core, or the edge of centre as defined above. 
The table of projected floorspace requirements (Table 2) was based on the 2010 Retail 
Addendum. 

2.17 Imperial Retail Park is therefore awarded a separate status in the recent consultation 
document that recognises its location near the town centre but only provides it with 
conditional support for additional large format retail or leisure floorspace.  In essence, the 
conditions are a requirement to assess sequential alternatives and to assess retail impact.   
This appears to be a sensible approach balances to investment requirements of a nearby 
retail park and the need to encourage investment in the town centre. 

Conclusions 

2.18 This further update to the retail needs for Gravesham is undertaken within a period of 
continuing policy changes, both nationally and locally.  It is therefore important that this 
further update reflects national policy (as it exists at the time of writing), whilst also 
recognising the range of population scenarios being tested at local policy.  It is within this 
context that we write this further update to the RCLS and its Addendum. 

Page 19



Page 20



Final Report | March 2012 9 

3 UPDATED QUANTITATIVE RETAIL NEEDS ASSESSMENT 

Methodology 

3.1 In updating the quantitative retail need assessment, we use an identical methodology as 
used in the RCLS and its Addendum, namely the widely respected step by step 
methodology, which is consistent with CLG’s practice guidance.  The methodology is not 
rehearsed in detail, since this can be found within the original RCLS.  We use the same 
household survey data as used in 2007 to undertake this update since there have not been 
any significant change in shopping provision that will have permanently changed shopping 
patterns.  However, at the margin, consumer preferences may have changed and thus the 
outputs from the survey should be treated with a degree of caution. 

3.2 The study area that we have used is identical to that in the RCLS and our quantitative 
spreadsheets are attached at Appendix 1.  The study area extends beyond the Borough 
boundary and is reflective of the fact that shopping catchments do not align with 
administrative boundaries.  Since we are using the market share of destinations within 
Gravesham only, we are ring fencing the money available to support growth in the 
Gravesham itself and thus there is no claim on expenditure growth by nearby centres under 
a constant market share.

Updated inputs since July 2010 

3.3 The data on existing and future spending uses up-to-date inputs, which have moved 
forward since the RCLS was published.  To assist in subsequent analyses of the reasons 
for changes to quantitative outputs, Table 3.1 outlines the different data sources used in 
this update compared to the RCLSA and includes a comment column explaining the 
reasons for any changes.  

3.4 Since our base year remains at 2007, we should allow for commitments to additional 
floorspace since 2007 to understand the total additional floorspace required.  Whilst it is 
appreciated large commitments can change market shares, we are not aware of any 
commitments of a sufficient scale within the Borough that will have permanently changed its 
market share since 2007.  Therefore, we have not made any adjustments to market share 
due to commitments.

3.5 However, there are a number of significant commitments outside the Borough that will put 
pressure on its market share see para 1.10.  This influences the scope for Gravesham to 
either maintain its market share or improve its market share and we discuss this issue 
under both the comparison and convenience sectors below.

Page 21



Final Report | March 2012 10 

Table 3.1 Changes in inputs since July 2010 

Input 2010  RCLSA 2012 Update Comment 

Base and 
forecast 
years 

2007, 2011, 2016, 2021 and 2026 2007, 2012, 2016, 2021, 2026 and 2031 Outputs are 
included to 2031  

Population  
base data 
and 
projections 

Council supplied population projections Council supplied population projections 
with sensitivity options of growth cut by 
75% and 50% 

Different scenarios 
necessary to reflect 
uncertainty over 
housing deliver 
rates 

Expenditure 
data and 
price base 

MapInfo expenditure data in 2007 from 
2007 prices 

PBBI/OE from 2009 in 2009 prices, 
back dated to the 2007 base year using 
observed growth rates (2009 prices 
remain) 

This data is used to 
provide the most 
up-to-date position 

Retail 
expenditure 
growth rate  

Mid point of MapInfo and Experian 
forecasts 

Comparison goods (% per annum): 
2.3% - 2007-2016 
3.2% - 2016-2021 
2.8% - 2021-2026 

Convenience goods: (% per annum) 
0.5% - 2007-2016 
0.8% - 2016-2021 
0.9% - 2021-2026 

Mid point of MapInfo and Experian 
forecasts 

Comparison goods (% per annum): 
2.6% - 2007-2008 (observed) 
-2.5% - 2008-2009 (observed) 
2.6% - 2009-2010 (observed) 
0.4% - 2010-2011 
3.6% - 2011-2016 
3.6% - 2016-2021 
3.0% - 2021-2026 
3.0% - 2026-2026 

Convenience goods: (% per annum) 
-3.6% - 2007-2008 (observed) 
-4.5% - 2008-2009 (observed) 
-0.9% - 2009-2010 (observed) 
-0.1% - 2010-2011 
0.5% - 2011-2016 
0.5% - 2016-2021 
0.6% - 2021-2026 
0.6% - 2026-2026 

Approach is 
considered robust 
and defendable 

Sales density 
growth 

Comparison goods (% per annum) : 
0.9% - 2007-2016 
1.2% - 2016-2021 
1.1% - 2021-2026 

Convenience goods (% per annum) : 
0.5% - 2007-2016 
0.8% - 2016-2021 
0.9% - 2021-2026 

Comparison goods (% per annum) : 
0% - 2007-2011 
1.7% - 2011-2016 
1.8% - 2016-2031 

Convenience goods (% per annum) : 
0% - 2007-2011 
0.1% - 2011-2016 
0.3% - 2016-2021 
0.2% - 2021-2031 

Derived from our 
forecast expenditure 
growth rate 

Special forms 
of trading 

Comparison goods (%) 
11.0% - 2007 
13.7% - 2016 
13.4% - 2021 
13.0% - 2026 

Convenience goods (%) 
2.9% - 2007 
7.6% - 2016 
7.9% - 2021 
8.3% - 2026 

Comparison goods (%) 
8.5% - 2007 (75% of hhld survey figure) 
10.0% - 2011 
12.4% - 2016 
12.7% - 2021 
12.1% - 2026 
12.0% - 2031 

Convenience goods (%) 
1.5% - 2007 (50% of hhld survey figure) 
4.2% - 2011 
5.9% - 2016 
6.3% - 2021 
6.8% - 2026 
7.0% - 2031 

Base year figure 
derived from 
household survey. 
Latest adjusted 
Experian forecasts 
from 2011 onwards 
(Retail Planner Note 
9) 

Source: RTP analysis of TRS and RTP assumptions outlined above 

Page 22



Final Report | March 2012 11 

Population growth 

3.6 In Tables 1a-c (Appendix 1), we present three scenarios of population growth – using data 
supplied by the Council, that look at 100%, 75% and 50% of planned population growth in 
the study area adopted; the latter two scenarios reflect a slow down of population growth 
and is linked to non-delivery of new housing.  This data has been collected for Gravesham 
and surrounding local authorities and represents a robust estimate of the likely population 
outcomes for the study area.  The Gravesham population data is based on 5,200 dwellings 
by 2031 (equivalent to 4,600 by 2028).  The scale and phasing of the Dartford and Medway 
data is consistent with the assumptions adopted by these two local authorities. 

Special forms of trading 

3.7 Expenditure devoted to special forms of trading (SFT) warrants particular attention in this 
update primarily due to the growth of e-tailing within the retail sector.  This is widely 
reported and there is clear evidence of significant growth in the sector – and this is 
expected to continue.  But when forecasting special forms of trading, we need to bear in 
mind the following (as found in Experian Retail Planner Note 9): 

� A number of operators source online sales from regular stores such as warehouses – 
whilst click and collect further blurs the line between traditional and on-line shopping 

� Some online shopping is driving the need for traditional floorspace, i.e. as a show room 
for products, a service location and a collection/drop off point for orders 

� Research indicates that a fifth of online purchases are researched in a store before 
hand, driving a reassessment of store portfolios and a requirement for a multi-channel 
strategy 

� There is some evidence that there is a frustration with online shopping, such as 
deliveries arriving when customers are not at home 

3.8 The future of e-tailing remains unclear.  But to take into account the likelihood of store 
generated SFT, we have used the adjusted figures in Experian Retail Planner Note 9 that 
takes 50% of the convenience forecasts and 75% of the comparison forecasts to take into 
account sales from stores.  To ensure consistency with the projections, we also discount 
the survey derived base year SFT allowance in our quantitative assessment by the same 
proportions. 

3.9 Whilst we think our allowance for SFT is a sensible and robust assumption and informs 
realistic.  However, it is appreciated that town centre stores could potentially compete for 
this spending and there is no reason that it should be ring fenced indefinitely.  Therefore, as 
we explain elsewhere, the quantitative need forecasts are intended to be a guide only. 

3.10 One further point that will be evident from the comparison forecasts is that the percentage 
of SFT reduces from 2021 onwards from 12.7% in 2021 to 12.1% in 2031.  These figures 
are consistent with the Experian forecasts, albeit since the Experian forecasts do not 
extend to 2031, we have assumed the 2028 figure remains constant to 2031.  Whilst the 
percentage reduces, the total monetary value of SFT will increase (due to expenditure and 
population growth during this timeframe).  

Page 23



Final Report | March 2012 12 

3.11 It is appreciated that a reducing amount of SFT post 2021 is counter intuitive compared to 
significant e-tailing growth forecasts.  When undertaking such assessments, we base our 
forecasts on published projections and these are derived directly from Experian.  In 
essence this means that after 2021, growth via SFT begins to plateau and spending in 
traditional shops starts to increase its share once again.  Clearly these are only forecasts 
and consequently this highlights the importance of monitoring and the lack of weight we 
attach to the longer term forecasts. 

Commitments 

3.12 As explained in Section 1 and in agreement with the Council, we have divided 
commitments into two categories.  In our quantitative assessment, we only take into 
account the turnover of Category 1 commitments.  The Category 2 commitments are not 
taking into account within this quantitative assessment due to the uncertainty over the scale 
and timing.  However, once this becomes clear, it will be necessary to take them into 
account when considering planning applications and formulating planning policy to meet the 
identified needs in this update.   

Comparison assessment 

3.13 The comparison quantitative need outputs are found at Tables 2-8 (Appendix 1).  Adopting 
the step by step methodology, the main outputs can be summarised as follows: 

� Table 2 sets out the per capita expenditure for comparison goods in 2007 (in 2009 
prices) projected to 2011, 2016, 2021, 2026 and 2031 using the per capita growth rates 
in Table 3.1 above 

� Tables 3a-c calculate the total pot of comparison goods expenditure in the study area, 
making an allowance for special forms of trading, with growth presented under the three 
population scenarios tested 

� Table 4a presents comparison goods market shares by destination, by zone, in 2007 as 
used in the RCLSA; Table 4b presents an improved set of market shares by 2021 as 
also tested in the RCLSA 

� Table 5a presents the spending pattern in 2007 across the study area, Table 5b 
presents the spending patterns for Gravesend only in 2007 and all the forecasts years 
under a constant market share and under the three population scenarios whilst Table 5c 
presents the same exercise based on an increased market share from 2021 

� Table 6 presents the turnover of commitments to additional comparison commitments in 
2016, which is the date when the developments are assumed to be open with a settled 
trading pattern 

3.14 Tables 7a-c and 8a-c (Appendix 1) set out the main quantitative need outputs under the 
various scenarios and we explore the market share and the key outputs in further detail 
below. 

Market share 

3.15 One of the influencing factors when assessing comparison goods quantitative need is the 
market share we assume when forecasting growth.  In this assessment, we consider a 

Page 24



Final Report | March 2012 13 

policy neutral constant market share (i.e. Gravesend Town Centre maintains its share of 
spending vis-à-vis competing destinations) and secondly an increase in market share 
(where Gravesend Town Centre effectively ‘claws back’ spending from competing 
destinations).  We have not tested a decreasing market share because we consider this 
does not reflect the principles of town centre investment and sustainability, but potentially in 
a ‘do nothing’ scenario, a decrease in market share might occur with consequential decline 
in Gravesend’s functions. 

3.16 Gravesend’s market share of the comparison goods expenditure in study area, according to 
the 2007 household survey is 28%.  In the second row of Tables 7a-c, this is shown as 
constant – albeit because per capita expenditure varies across the study area and 
population growth is not distributed evenly, the study area the market share decreases 
slightly to 27% from 2021 onwards.  Under the increase in market share, we assume an 
increase of 5-6 percentage points (the variance due to the difference in market shares due 
to uneven total expenditure growth rates across the study area). 

3.17 Gravesend town centre – as a comparison goods destination – faces considerable 
competition (as summarised in Section 1).  The competition from Bluewater will already 
have been experienced at the time of the 2007 survey and thus shopping patterns will 
already have been adjusted.  However, the impact from Westfield Stratford City will not 
have been experienced, whilst there will be further competition during the Plan period from 
new floorspace in Dartford and Medway, and potentially growth in Lakeside and Bluewater 
itself. 

3.18 Although much of the competition is coming from higher order centres, destinations such as 
Westfield Stratford City and Lakeside do provide more of the mid-range and budget 
operators that will compete directly with Gravesend.   Bluewater has a more mid to high 
value fashion offer, but as explained above we expect the impact on market share will 
already have been taken into account.   

3.19 We consider the ability for Gravesend to maintain its market share throughout the plan 
period as a starting point will be challenging and is likely to require new development 
coming forward hand in hand with qualitative improvements  in order to encourage local 
shoppers to continue to use the centre and in order to attract new retailers.  In light of the 
levels of competition faced, we expect that the increased market share is likely to be 
unrealistic should all the competition planned materialise.   However, should any major 
development open in Gravesend, this will have the effect of increasing the town’s market 
share in the short term and then in the longer term it will be eroded as competition comes 
on stream. 

3.20 In respect of the qualitative improvements necessary to maintain a market share, we 
consider that this surrounds a need to improve the overall profile of the centre.  For 
example, it will be necessary to maintain and improve the physical environmental quality 
and reduce long term vacancies.  In respect of retail choice, a critical mass of development 
is required to attract consumers on a regular basis.  This means seeking to ensure that the 
centre is not dominated by certain types of occupiers (for example budget retailers), but 
there is a balance between the sectors – i.e. including national mid market or budget 

Page 25



Final Report | March 2012 14 

multiples in modern units and a healthy independent local offer in areas such as Windmill 
Street and the High Street.   

3.21 In summary, consistent with previous advice in the RCLSA, we consider the initial target in 
policy documents should be to deliver the quantitative need forecasts based on a constant 
market share.  

Core comparison and retail warehouse outputs 

3.22 A minor difference from the RCLSA in respect of the presentation of outputs is that we have 
presented an initial scenario testing quantitative need based on 100% of expenditure 
growth – alongside the core comparison and retail warehouse outputs as per the RCLSA 
outputs.  We explore the appropriateness of the different approaches in more detail in 
Section 4. 

3.23 In Tables 7a-c and 8a-c we set out our calculations of quantitative need under a constant 
and increased market share.  As explained above, this is based on Gravesham generated 
expenditure only.  We allow for inflow expenditure of 5% (maintained as a constant 
proportion of total turnover).  We also allow for claims on expenditure growth, which is an 
allowance for existing floorspace to improve its turnover year on year, and an allowance for 
the turnover of commitments from 2016.  The residual expenditure is then converted to a 
quantitative need on the following basis: 

� Tables 7a and 8a converts 100% of the expenditure growth to a net floorspace 
requirement using a sales density of £4,538 per sqm net in 2007 increasing in the 
forecast years using our sales density growth assumptions; net floorspace is converted 
to gross using a 75% ratio 

� Tables 7b and 8b converts 85% of the expenditure growth to a net floorspace 
requirement using a sales density of £4,538 per sqm net in 2007 increasing in the 
forecast years using our sales density growth assumptions; net floorspace is converted 
to gross using a 75% ratio 

� Tables 7c and 8c converts 15% of the expenditure growth to a net floorspace 
requirement using a sales density of £3,000 per sqm net in 2007 increasing in the 
forecast years using our sales density growth assumptions; net floorspace is converted 
to gross using a 85% ratio 

3.24 The first of the above two bullet points effectively assume that the expenditure growth 
forecast will be converted to ‘high street’ format floorspace and the sales density reflects 
this format of development.  The third bullet point is based on retail warehouse floorspace, 
which typically achieves a much lower turnover per sqm.   

Key comparison goods quantitative need forecasts 

3.25 Under all approaches, we have presented quantitative need outputs based on three 
population growth scenarios.  The floorspace outputs are all presented individually in the 
appendices.  Given our conclusions on the ability of the Gravesend to improve its market 
share, we consider it most appropriate to focus on the constant market share scenario and 
present the ‘net’ outputs to ensure consistency with the RCLSA.  The need forecasts based 
on 100% of population growth are set out in Table 3.2. 

Page 26



Final Report | March 2012 15 

Table 3.2 Quantitative need (net sqm) for comparison floorspace based on constant 
market using 100% of population growth 

 2016 2021 2026 2031

100% of growth – high 
street format 

4,433 12,590 18,142 24,155

85% of growth – high 
street format 

3,768 10,702 15,421 20,532

15% of growth – retail 
warehouse format 

1,549 3,400 4,659 6,024

Source: Tables 7a-c, Appendix 1 

3.26 It should be noted that the quantitative need outputs for the 85% of growth and 15% growth 
outputs do not sum to the 100% output due to the different sales density assumption 
adopted for the 15% output (retail warehouses) to convert residual expenditure to a 
floorspace output. 

Convenience assessment 

3.27 The convenience quantitative need outputs are found at Tables 9-15 (Appendix 1).  
Adopting the step by step methodology, the main outputs can be summarised as follows: 

� Table 9 sets out the per capita expenditure for convenience goods in 2007 (in 2009 
prices) projected to 2011, 2016, 2021, 2026 and 2031 using the per capita growth rates 
in Table 3.1 above 

� Tables 10a-c calculate the total pot of convenience goods expenditure in the study 
area, making an allowance for special forms of trading, with growth presented under the 
three population scenarios tested 

� Table 11 presents convenience goods market shares by destination, by zone, in 2007 
as used in the RCLSA 

� Table 12a presents the spending pattern in 2007 across the study area based on 70% 
of expenditure, Table 12b presents the spending patterns for Gravesham destinations 
only in 2007 and all the forecasts years under a constant market share and under the 
three population scenarios 

� Table 13 presents the benchmark turnover of the four main stores in Gravesham and 
comparing this with the survey derived turnover of the stores (based on 70% of 
expenditure) – the difference between the figures the level of ‘overtrading’ expenditure 

� Table 14 presents the turnover of commitments to additional convenience commitments 
in 2016, which is the date when the developments are assumed to be open with a 
settled trading pattern 

3.28 Table 15 (Appendix 1) set out the main quantitative need outputs under the three 
population scenarios.  We explore the market share, expenditure breakdown and the key 
outputs in further detail below. 

Page 27



Final Report | March 2012 16 

Market share 

3.29 As with the comparison assessment, we consider a policy neutral constant market share 
(i.e. Gravesend maintains its share of spending vis-à-vis competing destinations).  
Consistent with the RCLSA, we have not presented a scenario where Gravesham could 
increase its market share.  That said, we think that the ability for Gravesham destinations to 
improve their market share (in aggregate) warrants further consideration. 

3.30 The Gravesham destinations market share of the convenience goods expenditure in study 
area, according to the 2007 household survey is 47%.  In the second row of Tables 15, this 
is shown as constant – albeit because per capita expenditure varies across the study area 
and population growth is not distributed evenly, the market share decreases slightly to 45% 
from 2021 and 44% from 2026 onwards.  

3.31 The question must be whether the market share achieve by Gravesham destinations is 
sustainable, given the wider study area adopted.  Convenience spending patterns are 
typically localised and is unlikely to draw spending from the outer zones in the study area 
we have used.  Zones 31, 32 and 33 encompass Gravesend and Northfleet and 
destinations in Gravesham retain some 93.7% of convenience spending.  This is a high 
market share and effectively means that 93.7 pence in every pound generated in these 
three zones is also spent locally in these zones.  Therefore we see no opportunity to 
significantly improve this market share on a Borough wide basis. 

Overtrading and breakdown of expenditure 

3.32 The quantitative need outputs generated by expenditure growth can be translated to 
quantitative need for all convenience goods floorspace (from superstores to small 
convenience outlets).  However, a further source of convenience goods quantitative need is 
overtrading capacity (i.e. the amount of turnover above company’s benchmark averages).  
As explained in paragraphs 4.16 to 4.21 of the RCLS, it was considered necessary to 
adjust the turnover of the four main foodstores to account a likely overestimate in the 
turnover of the larger superstores due to the wording of the household survey questionnaire 
(we take 70% of the total).  The total amount of ‘overtrading’ allowed for in this assessment 
is £33.9 million in 2007, maintained as constant throughout the study timeframe. 

3.33 This approach means that the quantitative assessment effectively only accounts for 70% of 
survey derived overtrading.  However, we consider that this is a robust approach since it 
reflects the likelihood that the survey overestimated the turnover of the superstores and 
supermarkets vis-à-vis smaller stores and independents.  That said, we recommend a more 
detailed assessment of trading performance of existing outlets – including a qualitative 
appraisal of the main foodstores – is undertaken in the next retail update for Gravesham 
(see monitoring at Section 4). 

3.34 In Tables 15 we set out our calculations of quantitative need under a constant and 
increased market share.  A slight change from the RCLSA is that we allow for inflow 
expenditure of 5% (maintained as a constant proportion of total turnover).  We also allow 
for claims on expenditure growth, which is an allowance for existing floorspace to improve 
its turnover year on year, and an allowance for the turnover of commitments from 2016.  
The residual expenditure is then converted to a quantitative need based on a sales density 

Page 28



Final Report | March 2012 17 

of £11,000 per sqm net in 2007, increasing in the forecast years using our sales density 
growth assumptions; net floorspace is converted to gross using a 65% ratio 

Key convenience goods quantitative need forecasts 

3.35 Due to the combined effect of a sharp contraction in per capita spending since 2007 (and 
very slow growth after 2011, an increase in special forms of trading and the influence of a 
number of small commitments (which amounts to £24.0 million in total) means that there is 
very limited quantitative need for additional convenience floorspace in the early years of the 
plan timeframe.  The need forecasts based on 100% of population growth are set out in 
Table 3.3. 

Table 3.3 Quantitative need (net sqm) for convenience floorspace based on constant 
market using 100% of population growth 

 2016 2021 2026 2031

100% of growth -562 532 1,273 2,145
Source: Table 15, Appendix 1 

3.36 The quantitative need outputs show a small deficit by 2016 and means commitments and 
other claims on expenditure absorb all the need by this date.  After 2016, there is a gradual 
increase in needs with a requirement for a small store being generated at the end of the 
plan period in 2031.  These outputs are based on a blanket constant market share for all 
destinations in the Borough and does not take into account any localised needs that might 
exist now or in the future 

3.37 It should be noted that the sales densities applied are averages applied to all available 
expenditure.  Should a trading format be promoted that achieves a different typical 
turnover, then the floorspace outputs should be adjusted accordingly. This is particularly 
relevant for smaller foodstore operators and deep discounters that have far lower sales 
densities.  Furthermore, these needs convenience floorspace only and thus cannot be 
directly translated into needs for a foodstore, since most retailers will devote a proportion of 
comparison floorspace and thus this would be additional to the needs specified above. 

Summary 

3.38 In this section, we have updated the quantitative need assessments of quantitative need.  
This incorporates updated forecasts of population growth, expenditure growth, sales 
density growth and special forms of trading.  Due to the uncertainty over longer term 
forecasts, it is advised that the Council pay closest attention initially to the 2016 outputs 
(due to the PPS4 requirement for local authorities to allocate sites to meet the first five 
years of need) and secondly to the outputs to 2021 (since many complex town centres 
require a critical mass of development to be delivered that can take up to 10 years to come 
forward).  It is also noted that the draft NPPF states in paragraph 76 that ‘[i]t is important 
that retail and leisure needs are met in full and are not compromised by limited site 
availability’.   

3.39 The main headlines from our quantitative need update are as follows: 

Page 29



Final Report | March 2012 18 

� Need for 4,433 sqm net of comparison goods floorspace by 2016, increasing to 12,590 
sqm net by 2021, to 18,142 sqm net by 2026 and 24,155 sqm net by 2031 (based on 
100% of expenditure growth and 100% of population growth) 

� Oversupply of 562 sqm net of convenience goods floorspace by 2016, changing to a 
need for 532 sqm net by 2021, increasing to 1,273 sqm net by 2026 and 2,145 sqm net 
by 2031 

3.40 The assessment of quantitative need is based on data and forecasts available in January 
2012, with shopping patterns informed by survey data from 2007.  It is likely that such data 
and forecasts will change thought the plan period, influencing the outputs.  Therefore, the 
outputs in our assessment should be treated as guides only and should be considered 
alongside qualitative needs when formulating policy.  They should not be treated as a limit 
in policy documents. 

Page 30



Final Report | March 2012 19 

4 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

Need for additional retail floorspace 

4.1 In Section 3, we explain the approach to updating the quantitative need outputs.  Table 16 
(Appendix 1) provides the rounded need outputs (to the nearest 100 sqm).  This includes 
the variations to our outputs.  It is our advice that the Council should focus primarily on the 
quantitative need outputs based on 100% of expenditure (as we explain in more detail 
below in our strategy advice).  In other words, this means that the comparison floorspace 
need is based on a ‘high street’ format only.  We have summarised the quantitative need 
outputs in Table 4.1 on this basis and assuming that 100% of population growth 
materialises.  

Table 4.1 Summary of quantitative need based on 100% of population growth 

2016 2021 2026 2031

Comparison goods – net sqm 4,400 12,600 18,100 24,200

Comparison goods – gross sqm 5,900 16,800 24,200 32,200

Convenience goods – net sqm -600 500 1,300 2,100

Convenience goods – gross sqm -700 700 1,700 2,900

Total – net sqm - 13,100 19,400 26,300

Total – gross sqm - 17,500 25,900 35,100
Source: Table 16, Appendix 1 (total for 2016 excluded due to the negative convenience figure) 

4.2 As we have explained previously, we consider the Council should primarily focus on 
meeting the needs to 2016 and secondly to 2021 in order to deliver longer term 
developments.  This exercise reveals that there is a need for 17,000 sqm of A1 floorspace 
by 2021.  It should be noted that this need excludes A1 service floorspace (such as 
hairdressers, travel agents etc…).   We consider that this should be met primarily in 
Gravesend town centre, with a small allowance to meet localised needs elsewhere in the 
Borough.  It should be noted that commitments at Ebbsfleet, Northfleet Embankment West 
and Canal Basin have not been taken into account because of uncertainty of scale and 
timing of delivery. 

Strategy advice 

4.3 Our advice on strategy is set out in the RCLS and the RCLSA and we do not rehearse this 
advice in this latest update.   In respect of emerging policy, there is no indication that the 
town centre first approach will be diluted and the Government’s response to the Portas 
Review is awaited.  Therefore, our firm advice is that the Council should continue to 
prioritise meetings its actual floorspace requirements in town centre locations – namely 
primarily within Gravesend town centre.   However, we have been asked to re-appraise and 
clarify our advice on three issues: 

� The need for large modern retail units vis-à-vis smaller shops in Gravesend town centre 

� Distinguishing a quantitative need for retail warehouse floorspace 

Page 31



Final Report | March 2012 20 

� Guidance on convenience floorspace in Gravesend town centre 

4.4 We address each point in turn. 

Format of development 

4.5 This issue is primarily a qualitative one – although it is linked to the quantitative need for 
additional floorspace and the need to maintain a market share.   To inform our 
consideration, we briefly explore the concept of ‘polarisation’ and the role of smaller stores 
in the UK before we clarify our advice. 

Polarisation 

4.6 A significant and long term trend is the continuing polarisation by retailers towards larger 
stores in larger centres. Retailers recognise that greater efficiency can be achieved by 
having a strategic network of large stores offering a full range, rather than having a large 
network of smaller stores, and are therefore increasingly seeking to serve larger population 
catchments from larger stores. This trend is also driven by consumers who are becoming 
more discerning and are increasingly prepared to travel further. We are therefore 
witnessing a growing concentration of comparison goods expenditure in a smaller number 
of larger centres. 

4.7 This concentration of retailing in larger centres is a potential threat to the Gravesend town 
centre.  In a climate whereby retailers are looking to cut costs and increase efficiency, they 
are unlikely to be willing to accept constrained or deficient units for the sake of gaining 
representation, and some retailers might therefore choose to consolidate their offer in other 
centres where they can serve a similar catchment while operating from larger and more 
efficient units. 

4.8 However, it is also worth bearing in mind that the economic downturn might, in the longer 
term, result in a departure from this trend.  It is likely that developers will no longer be 
willing to take the risks associated with large scale, complicated town centre schemes. The 
result of this is that we might begin to see smaller, simpler schemes which are more viable 
in rather than the more ambitious projects of the last decade.  In light of these trends and 
the scarcity of investment, it is important that opportunities for appropriate investment within 
the town centres such as Gravesend are encouraged. 

Role of smaller stores 

4.9 The decline of the independent/specialist convenience sector in the UK is well-documented.
The New Economics Foundation (nef) in its work on Clone Town Britain (Re-imagining the 
High Street: Escape from Clone Town Britain (New Economics Foundation, 2010) asserts 
that the loss of traditional stores, caused by the rise of the large superstore operators and 
national multiples, is resulting in the ‘homogenisation of our high streets’. According to the 
nef, during the period 2007 to 2009, larger grocers and their ‘local’ styled outlets expanded
across high streets at the expense of 914 branches of smaller shop multiples in the sectors
of confectionary/tobacco/newsagents, off-licences, tea/coffee and bakers. 

4.10 However, independent retailers continue to play an important role. A healthy independent
sector can contribute significantly to a town’s overall wellbeing. A thriving independent

Page 32



Final Report | March 2012 21 

sector can also be a significant factor in attracting visitors to a town and supporting local
businesses. The nef notes that:

‘...locally rooted, independent retailers relate differently to the communities they serve. 
In economic terms, more of the money spent in them is likely to re-circulate in the local 
area. They are more likely to support other local businesses too, rather than procuring 
the goods and services they need from other remote national and international 
suppliers. In difficult times, locally rooted stores are also more likely to … remain open, 
doing whatever they can to keep trading’. 

4.11 Successful street markets can also play an important part in a town’s independent retail 
sector. The nef comments that ‘street markets keep more money circulating in the local 
economy, … provide twice as many jobs as supermarkets, support retail diversity by 
providing space for a range of independent local traders, and provide a low risk 
environment in which new enterprises can flourish.’

4.12 The Portas Review (December 2011) includes a detailed review of the high street and we 
do not rehearse its contents.  Although the Government’s response is awaited, we note the 
recommendations that seeks to achieve more balanced and successful high streets, 
including ideas such as Town Teams, National Market Day, a requirement for an affordable 
shops quota and the idea larger retailers should support and mentor local businesses and 
independent retailers. 

RTP advice 

4.13 Gravesend town centre faces competition from surrounding higher order centres and it is a 
candidate to suffer from the continuing polarisation trend.   As explained above, national 
retailers are more discerning in seeking appropriate floorspace that meets their commercial 
needs.  Additionally, national retailers are a crucial element of successful town centres in 
order to attract footfall and linked trips spending with other shops and services in the town 
centre.  If the town does not deliver an adequate supply of floorspace to meet the needs of 
retailers, then such retailers will look either to other centres that are expanding – or 
consider out of centre sites.  

4.14 Whilst we have no doubt that it is necessary for centres to have a sufficient supply of 
modern floorspace, the role and function of smaller stores and independents should not be 
ignored.  Gravesend already has a significant number of independent retailers represented 
in secondary frontages. They can contribute to the vitality and viability of centres and 
provide an important attraction factor.  A healthy independent offer can help a town to 
distinguish itself from its competitors.   

4.15 We would not expect Gravesend town centre to compete directly for spending within 
destinations such as Bluewater, Lakeside or Westfield Stratford City as these will remain 
higher order destinations attractive to shoppers.  However, for sustainability and social 
inclusion reasons, Gravesend town centre it should meet the shopping needs of its 
catchment in order to fulfil its role in the community.   To do this, Gravesend will need a 
range of shops and services that mean residents do not necessarily have to travel long 
distances to undertake their shopping and leisure activities, which will have knock on 
sustainability and economic benefits. 

Page 33



Final Report | March 2012 22 

4.16 Therefore, in our view, the requirement for modern larger floorplate units (say between 250 
and 500 sqm) in Gravesend remains crucial and the delivery of new floorspace to meet 
such needs will enable the town to maintain its market share.  Our health check update in 
2011 revealed ‘gradual decline’ due to the lack of investment in the town for over 20 years 
and if left unchecked, Gravesend could suffer from competition from larger centres – and 
the impact of increased e-tailing.  However, floorspace alone is not always the solution and 
we consider the Council should carefully consider how it balances the requirement to 
deliver an enhanced retail offer in larger units, with PPS4 policy requirements for vital and 
viable town centres that include a full range of shops to provide competition and choice - 
including a healthy independent offer.   

4.17 The solution to the above question in Gravesend town centre could be to either allow for a 
proportion of new developments to be occupied by smaller independent retailers.  
Alternatively, as new developments come forward, independent retailers could be directed 
to secondary frontages - hand in hand with qualitative improvements to these elements of 
the town centre.  Additionally, this should be combined with an enhanced leisure and 
cultural offer taking advantage of heritage attractions and its riverside location – 
contributing an overall town entre experience that is not offered by its competition.   The 
Council will need to carefully consider the mechanisms to deliver such a strategy.  

Retail warehouse needs 

4.18 In the RCLS and its Update, the study ‘ring fences’ 15% of expenditure growth to be 
converted to retail warehouse needs.  Historically, this has been an appropriate approach 
to quantitative needs taking into account the formats required to sell ‘bulky goods’.  In this 
update, we have continued with the approach to look at needs based on 85% of 
expenditure for core comparison goods needs and 15% for the retail warehouse needs.  
However, as a starting point, we have also looked at a scenario where we convert all 
expenditure growth to a ‘high street’ format. 

4.19 In our view, 15% remains an appropriate proportion for bulky goods since it takes into 
account core bulky items such as DIY, furniture and white goods and there are some goods 
where it is simply not practical to sell from traditional high street locations.  However, 
typically retail warehouses will sell a much wider range of goods – such as hard and soft 
furnishings, homewares and some electrical goods are often sold from retail warehouses, 
but are not necessarily items that cannot be sold in the town centre. 

4.20 In respect of Gravesend itself, we note that the Imperial Retail Estate is located in close 
proximity to the town centre – but in turnover terms, we expect it is captured within the 
Gravesend market share.  The Imperial Retail Estate includes a range of retailers that sell 
bulky and non-bulky items.   Therefore, to some extent, Gravesend is already well provided 
for by retail warehouses – which have the added advantage of being located within a short 
walk of the town centre itself.  

4.21 From a policy perspective, PPS4 is primarily concerned with the class of goods when 
planning for needs (i.e. comparison goods and convenience goods needs).  Therefore, we 
see no policy requirement to distinguish a need for retail warehouse floorspace from 
comparison goods needs.   Therefore, it is our recommendation that policy documents 

Page 34



Final Report | March 2012 23 

focus on the comparison needs (in aggregate) with any applications to meet a pure bulky 
need are treated on their individual merits in light of the guidance in PPS4. 

Convenience floorspace in Gravesend town centre 

4.22 The convenience goods needs in Gravesham in total are relatively modest for the whole of 
the study timeframe.  Indeed, we consider the modest needs could be achieved within the 
proposed Heritage Quarter development site in the town centre.  However, we have been 
asked by the Council whether there is scope for a higher amount of floorspace within the 
town centre. 

4.23 We have already taken into account overtrading and we have concluded there is no clear 
requirement to plan to increase the market share of Gravesham destinations to meet a gap 
in provision.  Since there is no clear need in the short term, the Council has no duty to find 
sites to meet a significant uplift in convenience floorspace within its Plan.  That said, PPS4 
encourages investment in town centres and therefore an increased level of convenience 
floorspace in the town centre could be justified on the following basis: 

� Diverting expenditure growth from out of centre stores – such as Sainsbury’s and 
Morrisons 

� Increasing Gravesend’s convenience goods market share from outer zones and thus 
drawing more of the rural hinterland spending into the town centre 

� Relying on a qualitative case to justify an improvement to the convenience retail offer in 
the town centre – such as improved consumer choice, or improved retail facilities. 

4.24 Due to the marginal quantitative needs case in the Borough, we consider applications that 
prioritise convenience goods floorspace over comparison goods needs in the town should 
be considered carefully – since the priority should be to improve the town’s comparison 
goods offer.  However, we see no reason why the Council cannot support additional 
convenience floorspace over and above the quantitative needs set out in this update should 
the floorspace be located centrally in order to maximise linked trips and contribute to the 
vitality and viability of the town centre.  However, proposals would need to be accompanied 
by an impact assessment to evaluate whether or not there is likely to be a significant 
adverse impact on existing or proposed centres and policy documents should be explicit in 
this requirement. 

Monitoring 

4.25 This report provides a robust indication of the current position.  The recommendations set 
out in this report may need to be adjusted, in the future, due to changing market conditions, 
demographic changes and the impact of developments elsewhere. They may also need to 
be adjusted if standard assumptions, in particular those relating to expenditure growth and 
e-tailing, change.  The role of monitoring is crucial in highlighting changes in the 
assumptions that underpin this study and we recommend regular monitoring to the Council. 

Page 35



Final Report | March 2012 24 

4.26 As highlighted in earlier sections, the key shopping patterns in this study are based on Kent 
CC household survey data collected in 2007 and these data are therefore almost five years 
old.  When reviewing local policy documents and retail needs for the Borough, we 
recommend that the Council invest in fresh survey of shopping patterns in the Borough and 
surrounding area within five years.  This survey should use the latest questioning 
techniques in order to mitigate any bias towards larger centres and foodstores.    

Page 36



Final Report | March 2012 A1

APPENDIX 1 

Updated quantitative spreadsheets 

Page 37



�

Page 38



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012
Table 1a: Population (2007 to 2031) - 100% growth

Zone 16  Zone 17  Zone 20 Zone 21 Zone 22 Zone 31 Zone 32 Zone 33 Zone 34 Zone 35 Zone 42 Zone 70 Zone 82 Zone 88 Zone 89
All Zones 

Total

Population Projections (1)

Population 2007 8,459 14,904 16,112 6,344 12,487 25,478 22,859 29,808 8,056 12,084 23,363 5,539 12,890 29,606 25,780 253,769

Population 2011 9,000 17,500 16,900 7,400 13,500 25,530 24,430 29,270 7,910 11,860 23,500 5,600 13,600 30,100 27,200 263,300

Population 2016 10,100 20,800 16,700 8,300 15,900 26,720 25,120 29,770 7,950 11,810 23,600 5,300 13,900 30,500 30,100 276,570

Population 2021 11,400 22,600 16,700 8,800 20,400 27,320 26,380 30,200 8,270 11,630 23,700 5,400 13,700 32,200 34,600 293,300

Population 2026 12,900 24,900 17,800 9,000 20,600 27,480 27,250 30,060 8,730 11,500 23,800 5,600 13,600 33,300 39,400 305,920

Population 2031 14,482 24,900 17,800 9,000 25,538 28,650 26,880 29,660 8,660 11,350 23,800 5,600 13,500 33,000 40,100 312,920

Numeric change 2007-2011 541 2,596 788 1,056 1,013 52 1,571 -538 -146 -224 137 61 710 494 1,420 9,531

Percentage change 2007-2011 6.4% 17.4% 4.9% 16.6% 8.1% 0.2% 6.9% -1.8% -1.8% -1.9% 0.6% 1.1% 5.5% 1.7% 5.5% 3.8%

Numeric change 2011-2016 1,100 3,300 -200 900 2,400 1,190 690 500 40 -50 100 -300 300 400 2,900 13,270

Percentage change 2011-2016 12.2% 18.9% -1.2% 12.2% 17.8% 4.7% 2.8% 1.7% 0.5% -0.4% 0.4% -5.4% 2.2% 1.3% 10.7% 5.0%

Numeric change 2016-2021 1,300 1,800 0 500 4,500 600 1,260 430 320 -180 100 100 -200 1,700 4,500 19,620

Percentage change 2016-2021 12.9% 8.7% 0.0% 6.0% 28.3% 2.2% 5.0% 1.4% 4.0% -1.5% 0.4% 1.9% -1.4% 5.6% 15.0% 7.1%

Numeric change 2021-2026 1,500 2,300 1,100 200 200 160 870 -140 460 -130 100 200 -100 1,100 4,800 12,620

Percentage change 2021-2026 13.2% 10.2% 6.6% 2.3% 1.0% 0.6% 3.3% -0.5% 5.6% -1.1% 0.4% 3.7% -0.7% 3.4% 13.9% 4.3%

Numeric change 2026-2031 1,582 0 0 0 4,938 1,170 -370 -400 -70 -150 0 0 -100 -300 700 7,000

Percentage change 2026-2031 10.9% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 19.3% 4.1% -1.4% -1.3% -0.8% -1.3% 0.0% 0.0% -0.7% -0.9% 1.7% 2.2%

Numeric change 2007-2021 2,941 7,696 588 2,456 7,913 1,842 3,521 392 214 -454 337 -139 810 2,594 8,820 39,531

Percentage change 2007-2021 34.8% 51.6% 3.6% 38.7% 63.4% 7.2% 15.4% 1.3% 2.7% -3.8% 1.4% -2.5% 6.3% 8.8% 34.2% 15.6%

Numeric change 2007-2031 6,023 9,996 1,688 2,656 13,051 3,172 4,021 -148 604 -734 437 61 610 3,394 14,320 59,151

Percentage change 2007 2031 71 2% 67 1% 10 5% 41 9% 104 5% 12 4% 17 6% 0 5% 7 5% 6 1% 1 9% 1 1% 4 7% 11 5% 55 5% 23 3%Percentage change 2007-2031 71.2% 67.1% 10.5% 41.9% 104.5% 12.4% 17.6% -0.5% 7.5% -6.1% 1.9% 1.1% 4.7% 11.5% 55.5% 23.3%

Notes
(1) Population base data as per Addendum to Gravesham LDF and Commercial Retail Study (July 2010).  Population projections supplied by GBC

P
age 39



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012
Table 1b: Population (2007 to 2031) - 75% growth

Zone 16  Zone 17  Zone 20 Zone 21 Zone 22 Zone 31 Zone 32 Zone 33 Zone 34 Zone 35 Zone 42 Zone 70 Zone 82 Zone 88 Zone 89
All Zones 

Total

Population Projections (1)

Population 2007 8,459 14,904 16,112 6,344 12,487 25,478 22,859 29,808 8,056 12,084 23,363 5,539 12,890 29,606 25,780 253,769

Population 2011 8,850 16,825 16,675 7,125 13,225 25,530 24,430 29,270 7,910 11,860 23,500 5,600 13,600 30,100 27,200 261,700

Population 2016 9,661 19,205 16,527 7,775 14,988 26,423 24,948 29,645 7,940 11,823 23,600 5,300 13,825 30,400 29,375 271,435

Population 2021 10,594 20,451 16,527 8,126 18,170 26,867 25,886 29,966 8,180 11,687 23,700 5,400 13,676 31,671 32,669 283,570

Population 2026 11,639 22,012 17,343 8,265 18,303 26,986 26,526 29,862 8,521 11,589 23,800 5,600 13,601 32,482 36,068 292,597

Population 2031 12,826 22,012 17,343 8,265 22,007 27,847 26,256 29,564 8,470 11,476 23,800 5,600 13,526 32,263 36,548 297,803

Numeric change 2007-2011 391 1,921 563 781 738 52 1,571 -538 -146 -224 137 61 710 494 1,420 7,931

Percentage change 2007-2011 4.6% 12.9% 3.5% 12.3% 5.9% 0.2% 6.9% -1.8% -1.8% -1.9% 0.6% 1.1% 5.5% 1.7% 5.5% 3.1%

Numeric change 2011-2016 811 2,380 -148 650 1,763 893 518 375 30 -37 100 -300 225 300 2,175 9,735

Percentage change 2011-2016 9.2% 14.1% -0.9% 9.1% 13.3% 3.5% 2.1% 1.3% 0.4% -0.3% 0.4% -5.4% 1.7% 1.0% 8.0% 3.7%

Numeric change 2016-2021 933 1,246 0 351 3,182 444 938 321 240 -136 100 100 -149 1,271 3,294 14,233

Percentage change 2016-2021 9.7% 6.5% 0.0% 4.5% 21.2% 1.7% 3.8% 1.1% 3.0% -1.2% 0.4% 1.9% -1.1% 4.2% 11.2% 5.2%

Numeric change 2021-2026 1,045 1,561 816 139 133 119 640 -104 341 -98 100 200 -75 811 3,399 9,027

Percentage change 2021-2026 9.9% 7.6% 4.9% 1.7% 0.7% 0.4% 2.5% -0.3% 4.2% -0.8% 0.4% 3.7% -0.5% 2.6% 10.4% 3.2%

Numeric change 2026-2031 1,187 0 0 0 3,704 861 -270 -298 -51 -113 0 0 -75 -219 480 5,206

Percentage change 2026-2031 9.3% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 16.8% 3.1% -1.0% -1.0% -0.6% -1.0% 0.0% 0.0% -0.6% -0.7% 1.3% 1.7%

Numeric change 2007-2021 2,135 5,547 415 1,782 5,683 1,389 3,027 158 124 -397 337 -139 786 2,065 6,889 29,801

Percentage change 2007-2021 25.2% 37.2% 2.6% 28.1% 45.5% 5.5% 13.2% 0.5% 1.5% -3.3% 1.4% -2.5% 6.1% 7.0% 26.7% 11.7%

Numeric change 2007-2031 4,367 7,108 1,231 1,921 9,520 2,369 3,397 -244 414 -608 437 61 636 2,657 10,768 44,034

Percentage change 2007 2031 51 6% 47 7% 7 6% 30 3% 76 2% 9 3% 14 9% 0 8% 5 1% 5 0% 1 9% 1 1% 4 9% 9 0% 41 8% 17 4%Percentage change 2007-2031 51.6% 47.7% 7.6% 30.3% 76.2% 9.3% 14.9% -0.8% 5.1% -5.0% 1.9% 1.1% 4.9% 9.0% 41.8% 17.4%

Notes
(1) Population base data as per Addendum to Gravesham LDF and Commercial Retail Study (July 2010).  Population projections supplied by GBC

P
age 40



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012
Table 1c: Population (2007 to 2031) - 50% growth

Zone 16  Zone 17  Zone 20 Zone 21 Zone 22 Zone 31 Zone 32 Zone 33 Zone 34 Zone 35 Zone 42 Zone 70 Zone 82 Zone 88 Zone 89
All Zones 

Total

Population Projections (1)

Population 2007 8,459 14,904 16,112 6,344 12,487 25,478 22,859 29,808 8,056 12,084 23,363 5,539 12,890 29,606 25,780 253,769

Population 2011 8,700 16,150 16,450 6,850 12,950 25,530 24,430 29,270 7,910 11,860 23,500 5,600 13,600 30,100 27,200 260,100

Population 2016 9,232 17,673 16,353 7,267 14,101 26,125 24,775 29,520 7,930 11,835 23,600 5,300 13,750 30,300 28,650 266,411

Population 2021 9,826 18,437 16,353 7,485 16,097 26,418 25,396 29,733 8,090 11,745 23,700 5,400 13,651 31,144 30,792 274,267

Population 2026 10,472 19,376 16,891 7,570 16,175 26,496 25,815 29,664 8,315 11,679 23,800 5,600 13,601 31,676 32,927 280,058

Population 2031 11,263 19,376 16,891 7,570 17,275 27,060 25,640 29,467 8,281 11,603 23,800 5,600 13,551 31,526 33,277 282,181

Numeric change 2007-2011 241 1,246 338 506 463 52 1,571 -538 -146 -224 137 61 710 494 1,420 6,331

Percentage change 2007-2011 2.8% 8.4% 2.1% 8.0% 3.7% 0.2% 6.9% -1.8% -1.8% -1.9% 0.6% 1.1% 5.5% 1.7% 5.5% 2.5%

Numeric change 2011-2016 532 1,523 -97 417 1,151 595 345 250 20 -25 100 -300 150 200 1,450 6,311

Percentage change 2011-2016 6.1% 9.4% -0.6% 6.1% 8.9% 2.3% 1.4% 0.9% 0.3% -0.2% 0.4% -5.4% 1.1% 0.7% 5.3% 2.4%

Numeric change 2016-2021 594 764 0 218 1,996 293 621 213 160 -90 100 100 -99 844 2,142 7,913

Percentage change 2016-2021 6.4% 4.3% 0.0% 3.0% 14.2% 1.1% 2.5% 0.7% 2.0% -0.8% 0.4% 1.9% -0.7% 2.8% 7.5% 3.0%

Numeric change 2021-2026 646 939 538 85 78 77 419 -69 225 -66 100 200 -50 532 2,136 5,791

Percentage change 2021-2026 6.6% 5.1% 3.3% 1.1% 0.5% 0.3% 1.6% -0.2% 2.8% -0.6% 0.4% 3.7% -0.4% 1.7% 6.9% 2.1%

Numeric change 2026-2031 791 0 0 0 1,100 564 -175 -197 -33 -76 0 0 -50 -150 350 2,123

Percentage change 2026-2031 7.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 6.4% 2.1% -0.7% -0.7% -0.4% -0.7% 0.0% 0.0% -0.4% -0.5% 1.1% 0.8%

Numeric change 2007-2021 1,367 3,533 241 1,141 3,610 940 2,537 -75 34 -339 337 -139 761 1,538 5,012 20,498

Percentage change 2007-2021 16.2% 23.7% 1.5% 18.0% 28.9% 3.7% 11.1% -0.3% 0.4% -2.8% 1.4% -2.5% 5.9% 5.2% 19.4% 8.1%

Numeric change 2007-2031 2,804 4,472 779 1,226 4,788 1,582 2,781 -341 225 -481 437 61 661 1,920 7,497 28,412

Percentage change 2007 2031 33 1% 30 0% 4 8% 19 3% 38 3% 6 2% 12 2% 1 1% 2 8% 4 0% 1 9% 1 1% 5 1% 6 5% 29 1% 11 2%Percentage change 2007-2031 33.1% 30.0% 4.8% 19.3% 38.3% 6.2% 12.2% -1.1% 2.8% -4.0% 1.9% 1.1% 5.1% 6.5% 29.1% 11.2%

Notes
(1) Population base data as per Addendum to Gravesham LDF and Commercial Retail Study (July 2010).  Population projections supplied by GBC

P
age 41



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012
Table 2: Per capita expenditure on comparison goods (2007 to 2031) (£)

Year Zone 16  Zone 17  Zone 20 Zone 21 Zone 22 Zone 31 Zone 32 Zone 33 Zone 34 Zone 35 Zone 42 Zone 70 Zone 82 Zone 88 Zone 89

2007 3,301 3,080 3,133 3,479 3,041 2,823 2,875 2,817 3,177 3,223 3,533 3,676 3,005 2,993 3,036

2011 3,401 3,173 3,228 3,585 3,133 2,909 2,963 2,903 3,273 3,321 3,641 3,788 3,097 3,084 3,129

2016 4,057 3,785 3,851 4,276 3,737 3,469 3,534 3,463 3,904 3,961 4,343 4,519 3,694 3,678 3,732

2021 4,846 4,522 4,600 5,108 4,464 4,144 4,221 4,136 4,664 4,732 5,188 5,398 4,412 4,394 4,458

2026 5,618 5,242 5,332 5,921 5,175 4,804 4,894 4,795 5,407 5,485 6,014 6,258 5,115 5,094 5,168

2031 6,513 6,077 6,182 6,865 6,000 5,569 5,673 5,559 6,268 6,359 6,972 7,254 5,930 5,905 5,992

Notes:
(1) Per capita expenditure by zone from 2009 is obtained from Pitney Bowes Business Insight/Oxford Economics (PBBI/OE) using our in-house GIS (MapInfo) system.  This is backdated to the base year (2007) and grown to the forecast years using per annum growth rates derived from PBBI/OE and Experian (as explained in Appendix 
2).  These are applied consistently across all zones.

All monetary values held as constant 2009 prices.  

P
age 42



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012
Table 3a: Total Comparison Expenditure (£m) - 100% population growth

Year Zone 16  Zone 17  Zone 20 Zone 21 Zone 22 Zone 31 Zone 32 Zone 33 Zone 34 Zone 35 Zone 42 Zone 70 Zone 82 Zone 88 Zone 89
All Zones

Total

Sub total 2007 27.9 45.9 50.5 22.1 38.0 71.9 65.7 84.0 25.6 38.9 82.5 20.4 38.7 88.6 78.3 779.0

Deduction for SFT at 8.5% 2.4 3.9 4.3 1.9 3.2 6.1 5.6 7.1 2.2 3.3 7.0 1.7 3.3 7.5 6.6 66.0

Total 2007 25.6 42.0 46.2 20.2 34.8 65.8 60.2 76.9 23.4 35.6 75.6 18.6 35.5 81.1 71.6 713.0

Sub total 2011 30.6 55.5 54.6 26.5 42.3 74.3 72.4 85.0 25.9 39.4 85.6 21.2 42.1 92.8 85.1 833.2

Deduction for SFT at 10.0% 3.1 5.6 5.5 2.7 4.2 7.4 7.2 8.5 2.6 3.9 8.6 2.1 4.2 9.3 8.5 36.6

Total 2011 27.6 50.0 49.1 23.9 38.1 66.8 65.1 76.5 23.3 35.4 77.0 19.1 37.9 83.5 76.6 749.9

Sub total 2016 41.0 78.7 64.3 35.5 59.4 92.7 88.8 103.1 31.0 46.8 102.5 23.9 51.3 112.2 112.3 1,043.6

Deduction for SFT at 12.7% 5.2 10.0 8.2 4.5 7.5 11.8 11.3 13.1 3.9 5.9 13.0 3.0 6.5 14.2 14.3 132.5

Total 2016 35.8 68.7 56.1 31.0 51.9 80.9 77.5 90.0 27.1 40.8 89.5 20.9 44.8 97.9 98.1 911.1

Sub total 2021 55.2 102.2 76.8 44.9 91.1 113.2 111.4 124.9 38.6 55.0 123.0 29.1 60.5 141.5 154.3 1,321.7

Deduction for SFT at 12.4% 6.9 12.7 9.5 5.6 11.3 14.0 13.8 15.5 4.8 6.8 15.2 3.6 7.5 17.5 19.1 163.9

Total 2021 48.4 89.5 67.3 39.4 79.8 99.2 97.6 109.4 33.8 48.2 107.7 25.5 53.0 123.9 135.1 1,157.8

Sub total 2026 72.5 130.5 94.9 53.3 106.6 132.0 133.4 144.1 47.2 63.1 143.1 35.0 69.6 169.6 203.6 1,598.6

Deduction for SFT at 12.1% 8.8 15.8 11.5 6.4 12.9 16.0 16.1 17.4 5.7 7.6 17.3 4.2 8.4 20.5 24.6 193.4

Total 2026 63.7 114.7 83.4 46.8 93.7 116.0 117.2 126.7 41.5 55.4 125.8 30.8 61.1 149.1 179.0 1,405.2

Sub total 2031 94.3 151.3 110.0 61.8 153.2 159.6 152.5 164.9 54.3 72.2 165.9 40.6 80.1 194.9 240.3 1,895.8

Deduction for SFT at 12.0% 11.3 18.2 13.2 7.4 18.4 19.1 18.3 19.8 6.5 8.7 19.9 4.9 9.6 23.4 28.8 227.5

Total 2031 83.0 133.1 96.8 54.4 134.8 140.4 134.2 145.1 47.8 63.5 146.0 35.7 70.4 171.5 211.4 1,668.3

Growth in Comparison Expenditure

2007-2011 2.0 8.0 2.9 3.7 3.3 1.0 5.0 -0.4 -0.1 -0.2 1.5 0.5 2.5 2.4 5.0 36.9

2011 2016 8 2 18 7 7 0 7 1 13 8 14 1 12 4 13 5 3 8 5 4 12 5 1 8 6 9 14 4 21 5 161 12011-2016 8.2 18.7 7.0 7.1 13.8 14.1 12.4 13.5 3.8 5.4 12.5 1.8 6.9 14.4 21.5 161.1

2016-2021 12.6 20.8 11.2 8.4 27.9 18.3 20.1 19.4 6.7 7.4 18.2 4.6 8.1 26.0 37.1 246.7

2021-2026 15.3 25.2 16.1 7.5 13.9 16.9 19.7 17.3 7.7 7.2 18.1 5.3 8.2 25.2 43.9 247.4

2026-2031 19.3 18.4 13.4 7.5 41.1 24.4 17.0 18.4 6.3 8.1 20.2 4.9 9.3 22.4 32.4 263.1

2007-2021 22.8 47.5 21.1 19.2 45.0 33.4 37.4 32.6 10.4 12.6 32.2 6.9 17.5 42.8 63.5 444.8

2007-2031 57.4 91.1 50.6 34.2 100.1 74.6 74.0 68.2 24.3 27.9 70.5 17.1 35.0 90.4 139.8 955.3

Notes
(1) The 2007 expenditure and subsequent figures for the forecast years and are the products of multiplying the data presented in Table 1a (population) by Table 2 (per capita comparison goods expenditure).
(2) A decuction is made for a percentage of expenditure for Special Forms of Trading (SFT) (i.e. mail order, TV and internet shopping) from the total expenditure. We have adopted the comparison goods SFT dervived from Kent CC household survey data in 2007, and then adopted the adjusted projections in Appendix 3 of the Experian Retail Planner 
Briefing Note 9 (September 2011) from 2011 onwards

All monetary values are held constant at 2009 prices.

P
age 43



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012
Table 3b: Total Comparison Expenditure (£m) - 75% population growth

Year Zone 16  Zone 17  Zone 20 Zone 21 Zone 22 Zone 31 Zone 32 Zone 33 Zone 34 Zone 35 Zone 42 Zone 70 Zone 82 Zone 88 Zone 89
All Zones

Total

Sub total 2007 27.9 45.9 50.5 22.1 38.0 71.9 65.7 84.0 25.6 38.9 82.5 20.4 38.7 88.6 78.3 779.0

Deduction for SFT at 8.5% 2.4 3.9 4.3 1.9 3.2 6.1 5.6 7.1 2.2 3.3 7.0 1.7 3.3 7.5 6.6 66.0

Total 2007 25.6 42.0 46.2 20.2 34.8 65.8 60.2 76.9 23.4 35.6 75.6 18.6 35.5 81.1 71.6 713.0

Sub total 2011 30.1 53.4 53.8 25.5 41.4 74.3 72.4 85.0 25.9 39.4 85.6 21.2 42.1 92.8 85.1 828.0

Deduction for SFT at 10.0% 3.0 5.3 5.4 2.6 4.1 7.4 7.2 8.5 2.6 3.9 8.6 2.1 4.2 9.3 8.5 36.6

Total 2011 27.1 48.1 48.4 23.0 37.3 66.8 65.1 76.5 23.3 35.4 77.0 19.1 37.9 83.5 76.6 745.2

Sub total 2016 39.2 72.7 63.6 33.2 56.0 91.7 88.2 102.7 31.0 46.8 102.5 23.9 51.1 111.8 109.6 1,024.0

Deduction for SFT at 12.7% 5.0 9.2 8.1 4.2 7.1 11.6 11.2 13.0 3.9 5.9 13.0 3.0 6.5 14.2 13.9 130.1

Total 2016 34.2 63.5 55.6 29.0 48.9 80.0 77.0 89.6 27.1 40.9 89.5 20.9 44.6 97.6 95.7 894.0

Sub total 2021 51.3 92.5 76.0 41.5 81.1 111.3 109.3 124.0 38.2 55.3 123.0 29.1 60.3 139.2 145.6 1,277.7

Deduction for SFT at 12.4% 6.4 11.5 9.4 5.1 10.1 13.8 13.6 15.4 4.7 6.9 15.2 3.6 7.5 17.3 18.1 158.4

Total 2021 45.0 81.0 66.6 36.4 71.1 97.5 95.7 108.6 33.4 48.4 107.7 25.5 52.9 121.9 127.6 1,119.3

Sub total 2026 65.4 115.4 92.5 48.9 94.7 129.6 129.8 143.2 46.1 63.6 143.1 35.0 69.6 165.5 186.4 1,528.8

Deduction for SFT at 12.1% 7.9 14.0 11.2 5.9 11.5 15.7 15.7 17.3 5.6 7.7 17.3 4.2 8.4 20.0 22.6 185.0

Total 2026 57.5 101.4 81.3 43.0 83.3 114.0 114.1 125.9 40.5 55.9 125.8 30.8 61.2 145.4 163.9 1,343.8

Sub total 2031 83.5 133.8 107.2 56.7 132.0 155.1 149.0 164.3 53.1 73.0 165.9 40.6 80.2 190.5 219.0 1,804.0

Deduction for SFT at 12.0% 10.0 16.1 12.9 6.8 15.8 18.6 17.9 19.7 6.4 8.8 19.9 4.9 9.6 22.9 26.3 216.5

Total 2031 73.5 117.7 94.3 49.9 116.2 136.5 131.1 144.6 46.7 64.2 146.0 35.7 70.6 167.7 192.7 1,587.5

Growth in Comparison Expenditure

2007-2011 1.5 6.0 2.2 2.8 2.5 1.0 5.0 -0.4 -0.1 -0.2 1.5 0.5 2.5 2.4 5.0 32.2

2011 2016 7 1 15 4 7 1 6 0 11 6 13 2 11 8 13 1 3 8 5 4 12 5 1 8 6 7 14 1 19 1 148 82011-2016 7.1 15.4 7.1 6.0 11.6 13.2 11.8 13.1 3.8 5.4 12.5 1.8 6.7 14.1 19.1 148.8

2016-2021 10.8 17.5 11.0 7.3 22.2 17.5 18.8 19.0 6.4 7.6 18.2 4.6 8.3 24.3 31.9 225.3

2021-2026 12.5 20.4 14.7 6.7 12.2 16.4 18.4 17.3 7.1 7.4 18.1 5.3 8.3 23.5 36.3 224.6

2026-2031 16.0 16.3 13.1 6.9 32.9 22.5 17.0 18.8 6.2 8.3 20.2 4.9 9.4 22.2 28.8 243.7

2007-2021 19.4 39.0 20.4 16.2 36.3 31.7 35.6 31.7 10.0 12.8 32.2 6.9 17.4 40.8 55.9 406.3

2007-2031 48.0 75.7 48.1 29.7 81.4 70.7 70.9 67.8 23.3 28.6 70.5 17.1 35.1 86.6 121.1 874.5

Notes
(1) The 2007 expenditure and subsequent figures for the forecast years and are the products of multiplying the data presented in Table 1b (population) by Table 2 (per capita comparison goods expenditure).
(2) A decuction is made for a percentage of expenditure for Special Forms of Trading (SFT) (i.e. mail order, TV and internet shopping) from the total expenditure. We have adopted the comparison goods SFT dervived from Kent CC household survey data in 2007, and then adopted the adjusted projections in Appendix 3 of the Experian Retail Planner 
Briefing Note 9 (September 2011) from 2011 onwards

All monetary values are held constant at 2009 prices.

P
age 44



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012
Table 3c: Total Comparison Expenditure (£m) - 50% population growth

Year Zone 16  Zone 17  Zone 20 Zone 21 Zone 22 Zone 31 Zone 32 Zone 33 Zone 34 Zone 35 Zone 42 Zone 70 Zone 82 Zone 88 Zone 89
All Zones

Total

Sub total 2007 27.9 45.9 50.5 22.1 38.0 71.9 65.7 84.0 25.6 38.9 82.5 20.4 38.7 88.6 78.3 779.0

Deduction for SFT at 8.5% 2.4 3.9 4.3 1.9 3.2 6.1 5.6 7.1 2.2 3.3 7.0 1.7 3.3 7.5 6.6 66.0

Total 2007 25.6 42.0 46.2 20.2 34.8 65.8 60.2 76.9 23.4 35.6 75.6 18.6 35.5 81.1 71.6 713.0

Sub total 2011 29.6 51.2 53.1 24.6 40.6 74.3 72.4 85.0 25.9 39.4 85.6 21.2 42.1 92.8 85.1 822.8

Deduction for SFT at 10.0% 3.0 5.1 5.3 2.5 4.1 7.4 7.2 8.5 2.6 3.9 8.6 2.1 4.2 9.3 8.5 36.6

Total 2011 26.6 46.1 47.8 22.1 36.5 66.8 65.1 76.5 23.3 35.4 77.0 19.1 37.9 83.5 76.6 740.5

Sub total 2016 37.5 66.9 63.0 31.1 52.7 90.6 87.5 102.2 31.0 46.9 102.5 23.9 50.8 111.5 106.9 1,004.9

Deduction for SFT at 12.7% 4.8 8.5 8.0 3.9 6.7 11.5 11.1 13.0 3.9 6.0 13.0 3.0 6.5 14.2 13.6 127.6

Total 2016 32.7 58.4 55.0 27.1 46.0 79.1 76.4 89.2 27.0 40.9 89.5 20.9 44.3 97.3 93.3 877.3

Sub total 2021 47.6 83.4 75.2 38.2 71.9 109.5 107.2 123.0 37.7 55.6 123.0 29.1 60.2 136.8 137.3 1,235.7

Deduction for SFT at 12.4% 5.9 10.3 9.3 4.7 8.9 13.6 13.3 15.3 4.7 6.9 15.2 3.6 7.5 17.0 17.0 153.2

Total 2021 41.7 73.0 65.9 33.5 63.0 95.9 93.9 107.7 33.1 48.7 107.7 25.5 52.8 119.9 120.3 1,082.5

Sub total 2026 58.8 101.6 90.1 44.8 83.7 127.3 126.3 142.2 45.0 64.1 143.1 35.0 69.6 161.4 170.2 1,463.2

Deduction for SFT at 12.1% 7.1 12.3 10.9 5.4 10.1 15.4 15.3 17.2 5.4 7.8 17.3 4.2 8.4 19.5 20.6 177.0

Total 2026 51.7 89.3 79.2 39.4 73.6 111.9 111.0 125.0 39.5 56.3 125.8 30.8 61.2 141.8 149.6 1,286.1

Sub total 2031 73.4 117.7 104.4 52.0 103.6 150.7 145.5 163.8 51.9 73.8 165.9 40.6 80.4 186.2 199.4 1,709.3

Deduction for SFT at 12.0% 8.8 14.1 12.5 6.2 12.4 18.1 17.5 19.7 6.2 8.9 19.9 4.9 9.6 22.3 23.9 205.1

Total 2031 64.6 103.6 91.9 45.7 91.2 132.6 128.0 144.1 45.7 64.9 146.0 35.7 70.7 163.8 175.5 1,504.1

Growth in Comparison Expenditure

2007-2011 1.1 4.1 1.6 1.9 1.8 1.0 5.0 -0.4 -0.1 -0.2 1.5 0.5 2.5 2.4 5.0 27.5

2011 2016 6 1 12 3 7 2 5 0 9 5 12 3 11 3 12 8 3 7 5 5 12 5 1 8 6 4 13 8 16 7 136 82011-2016 6.1 12.3 7.2 5.0 9.5 12.3 11.3 12.8 3.7 5.5 12.5 1.8 6.4 13.8 16.7 136.8

2016-2021 9.0 14.6 10.9 6.4 16.9 16.8 17.5 18.5 6.0 7.8 18.2 4.6 8.4 22.6 26.9 205.2

2021-2026 10.0 16.2 13.3 5.9 10.6 16.0 17.1 17.3 6.5 7.6 18.1 5.3 8.4 22.0 29.3 203.6

2026-2031 12.8 14.3 12.7 6.3 17.6 20.7 17.0 19.1 6.2 8.6 20.2 4.9 9.6 22.0 25.9 218.0

2007-2021 16.2 31.0 19.7 13.3 28.2 30.1 33.8 30.9 9.6 13.0 32.2 6.9 17.3 38.8 48.6 369.5

2007-2031 39.0 61.6 45.7 25.5 56.5 66.8 67.9 67.3 22.3 29.3 70.5 17.1 35.3 82.7 103.8 791.2

Notes
(1) The 2007 expenditure and subsequent figures for the forecast years and are the products of multiplying the data presented in Table 1a (population) by Table 2 (per capita comparison goods expenditure).
(2) A decuction is made for a percentage of expenditure for Special Forms of Trading (SFT) (i.e. mail order, TV and internet shopping) from the total expenditure. We have adopted the comparison goods SFT dervived from Kent CC household survey data in 2007, and then adopted the adjusted projections in Appendix 3 of the Experian Retail Planner 
Briefing Note 9 (September 2011) from 2011 onwards

All monetary values are held constant at 2009 prices.

P
age 45



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012

Destination (1) Zone 16  Zone 17  Zone 20 Zone 21 Zone 22 Zone 31 Zone 32 Zone 33 Zone 34 Zone 35 Zone 42 Zone 70 Zone 82 Zone 88 Zone 89

Gravesend 15.1% 6.3% 6.3% 30.6% 30.4% 62.0% 53.4% 59.7% 37.7% 37.9% 17.6% 6.3% 13.4% 9.1% 10.1%

Bexley Heath 3.2% 9.0% 6.2% 3.0% 2.1% 0.0% 0.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 4.5% 0.0% 0.0% 0.9% 0.4%

Chatham 1.0% 0.3% 0.0% 0.4% 0.1% 0.4% 2.0% 1.4% 5.1% 1.4% 0.0% 0.2% 25.2% 24.7% 23.3%

Bluewater 51.0% 23.2% 48.2% 45.3% 27.6% 24.3% 30.9% 24.8% 33.4% 39.0% 45.7% 26.2% 26.0% 19.1% 27.2%

Dartford 16.6% 42.6% 23.0% 8.1% 19.3% 1.9% 1.7% 2.8% 0.4% 1.9% 9.8% 0.4% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Lakeside 7.0% 7.6% 7.4% 4.3% 8.1% 5.0% 5.8% 3.6% 3.5% 5.6% 6.6% 2.2% 3.3% 1.8% 5.6%

Maidstone 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.2% 0.1% 0.4% 0.9% 0.7% 3.7% 3.5% 0.7% 22.6% 5.2% 15.1% 4.1%

Sevenoaks 0.0% 0.0% 0.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.6% 0.9% 9.7% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Strood 1.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.0% 0.4% 0.1% 0.0% 2.3% 0.4% 0.0% 0.0% 4.6% 7.6% 11.6%

West Malling 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.4% 0.0% 0.0% 7.4% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Other 5.3% 11.1% 8.6% 8.2% 12.4% 5.7% 4.9% 7.1% 13.5% 9.6% 14.1% 24.9% 22.3% 21.8% 17.8%

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Table 4a: Comparison goods market shares in 2007 

Notes
(1)  Market shares dervied from the Kent CC household survey in 2007, as reproduced in the Addendum to Gravesham LDF and Commercial Leisure Study 

P
age 46



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012

Destination (1) Zone 16  Zone 17  Zone 20 Zone 21 Zone 22 Zone 31 Zone 32 Zone 33 Zone 34 Zone 35 Zone 42 Zone 70 Zone 82 Zone 88 Zone 89

Gravesend 21.4% 9.2% 10.6% 42.1% 38.2% 69.1% 61.9% 66.0% 45.5% 48.6% 29.1% 10.0% 15.9% 9.8% 13.9%

Bexley Heath 3.2% 9.2% 6.4% 3.0% 2.1% 0.0% 0.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 4.7% 0.0% 0.0% 0.9% 0.4%

Chatham 1.1% 0.3% 0.0% 0.5% 0.1% 0.4% 2.2% 1.6% 5.7% 1.5% 0.0% 0.2% 28.6% 27.9% 26.4%

Bluewater 38.5% 17.6% 36.8% 34.4% 21.0% 18.3% 23.6% 18.9% 25.4% 29.4% 35.0% 20.2% 19.9% 14.5% 20.7%

Dartford 24.5% 47.0% 31.8% 8.3% 19.9% 2.0% 1.8% 2.9% 0.4% 1.9% 10.2% 0.4% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Lakeside 5.0% 5.4% 5.4% 3.1% 5.9% 3.6% 4.2% 2.6% 2.5% 4.0% 4.8% 1.6% 2.4% 1.3% 4.1%

Maidstone 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.2% 0.1% 0.4% 1.0% 0.7% 3.8% 3.6% 0.7% 23.6% 5.3% 15.5% 4.3%

Sevenoaks 0.0% 0.0% 0.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.6% 1.0% 10.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Strood 1.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.0% 0.4% 0.1% 0.0% 2.3% 0.4% 0.0% 0.0% 4.8% 7.8% 11.9%

West Malling 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.4% 0.0% 0.0% 7.8% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Other 5.4% 11.3% 8.8% 8.4% 12.7% 5.8% 5.0% 7.3% 13.9% 9.8% 14.6% 26.0% 23.1% 22.4% 18.3%

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Table 4b: Adjusted comparison goods market shares in 2021 

Notes
(1)  Adjusted market shares for 2021, as derived from the Addendum to Gravesham LDF and Commercial Leisure Study 

P
age 47



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012

Destination Zone 16  Zone 17  Zone 20 Zone 21 Zone 22 Zone 31 Zone 32 Zone 33 Zone 34 Zone 35 Zone 42 Zone 70 Zone 82 Zone 88 Zone 89 Total

Gravesend 3.9 2.6 2.9 6.2 10.6 40.8 32.1 45.9 8.8 13.5 13.3 1.2 4.7 7.4 7.2 201.0

Bexley Heath 0.8 3.8 2.9 0.6 0.7 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.4 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.3 13.3

Chatham 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.2 1.2 1.1 1.2 0.5 0.0 0.0 8.9 20.0 16.7 50.3

Bluewater 13.0 9.8 22.3 9.1 9.6 16.0 18.6 19.0 7.8 13.9 34.6 4.9 9.2 15.5 19.5 222.7

Dartford 4.2 17.9 10.6 1.6 6.7 1.3 1.1 2.2 0.1 0.7 7.4 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 53.9

Lakeside 1.8 3.2 3.4 0.9 2.8 3.3 3.5 2.7 0.8 2.0 5.0 0.4 1.2 1.5 4.0 36.5

Maidstone 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.6 0.5 0.9 1.3 0.5 4.2 1.8 12.2 3.0 25.4

Sevenoaks 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.7 1.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.8

Strood 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.5 0.2 0.0 0.0 1.6 6.1 8.3 17.4

West Malling 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 1.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.5

Other 1.4 4.6 4.0 1.7 4.3 3.8 2.9 5.4 3.2 3.4 10.6 4.7 7.9 17.7 12.7 88.2

Total 25.6 42.0 46.2 20.2 34.8 65.8 60.2 76.9 23.4 35.6 75.6 18.6 35.5 81.1 71.6 713.0

Table 5a: Comparison Goods Turnover in 2007 - All destinations (£m)

Notes
(1) Turnover by zone by destination is the product of 2007 total expenditure (Table 3) and the market share by destination by zone (Table 4)

All monetary values are held constant at 2009 prices.

P
age 48



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012

Destination Zone 16  Zone 17  Zone 20 Zone 21 Zone 22 Zone 31 Zone 32 Zone 33 Zone 34 Zone 35 Zone 42 Zone 70 Zone 82 Zone 88 Zone 89 Total

2007 3.9 2.6 2.9 6.2 10.6 40.8 32.1 45.9 8.8 13.5 13.3 1.2 4.7 7.4 7.2 201.0

2011 - 100% population growth 4.2 3.1 3.1 7.3 11.6 41.4 34.8 45.6 8.8 13.5 13.5 1.2 5.1 7.6 7.7 208.4

2011 - 75% population growth 4.1 3.0 3.1 7.0 11.3 41.4 34.8 45.6 8.8 13.5 13.5 1.2 5.1 7.6 7.7 207.7

2011 - 50% population growth 4.0 2.9 3.0 6.8 11.1 41.4 34.8 45.6 8.8 13.5 13.5 1.2 5.1 7.6 7.7 207.0

2016 - 100% population growth 5.4 4.3 3.6 9.5 15.8 50.1 41.4 53.7 10.2 15.5 15.7 1.3 6.0 8.9 9.9 251.2

2016 - 75% population growth 5.2 4.0 3.5 8.9 14.9 49.6 41.1 53.5 10.2 15.5 15.7 1.3 6.0 8.9 9.6 247.8

2016 - 50% population growth 4.9 3.7 3.5 8.3 14.0 49.0 40.8 53.3 10.2 15.5 15.7 1.3 5.9 8.8 9.4 244.3

2021  - 100% population growth 7.3 5.6 4.3 12.0 24.2 61.5 52.1 65.3 12.7 18.3 18.9 1.6 7.1 11.2 13.6 315.8

2021 - 75% population growth 6.8 5.1 4.2 11.1 21.6 60.4 51.1 64.8 12.6 18.4 18.9 1.6 7.1 11.1 12.8 307.6

2021 - 50% population growth 6.3 4.6 4.2 10.2 19.1 59.4 50.2 64.3 12.5 18.5 18.9 1.6 7.1 10.9 12.1 299.8

2026 - 100% population growth 9.6 7.2 5.3 14.3 28.5 71.9 62.6 75.6 15.7 21.0 22.1 1.9 8.2 13.5 18.0 375.4

2026 - 75% population growth 8.7 6.4 5.2 13.1 25.3 70.6 61.0 75.1 15.3 21.2 22.1 1.9 8.2 13.2 16.5 363.7

2026 - 50% population growth 7.8 5.6 5.0 12.0 22.4 69.3 59.3 74.6 14.9 21.4 22.1 1.9 8.2 12.9 15.0 352.5

2031 - 100% population growth 12.5 8.4 6.1 16.6 41.0 87.0 71.7 86.6 18.0 24.1 25.6 2.2 9.4 15.5 21.3 446.1

2031 - 75% population growth 11.1 7.4 6.0 15.3 35.3 84.6 70.0 86.3 17.6 24.4 25.6 2.2 9.5 15.2 19.4 429.8

2031 - 50% population growth 9.8 6.5 5.8 14.0 27.7 82.2 68.4 86.0 17.2 24.6 25.6 2.2 9.5 14.9 17.6 412.1

Table 5b: Comparison Goods Turnover in 2007-2031 - Gravesend only - CONSTANT MARKET SHARE (£m)

Notes
(1) Turnover by zone by destination is the product of  total expenditure (Table 3a-b) for the three population scenarios and the  Gravesend market share (Table 4a) maintained as constant

All monetary values are held constant at 2009 prices.

P
age 49



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012

Destination Zone 16  Zone 17  Zone 20 Zone 21 Zone 22 Zone 31 Zone 32 Zone 33 Zone 34 Zone 35 Zone 42 Zone 70 Zone 82 Zone 88 Zone 89 Total

2007 5.4 4.3 3.6 9.5 15.8 50.1 41.4 53.7 10.2 15.5 15.7 1.3 6.0 8.9 9.9 251.2

2011 - 100% population growth 4.2 3.1 3.1 7.3 11.6 41.4 34.8 45.6 8.8 13.5 13.5 1.2 5.1 7.6 7.7 208.4

2011 - 75% population growth 4.1 3.0 3.1 7.0 11.3 41.4 34.8 45.6 8.8 13.5 13.5 1.2 5.1 7.6 7.7 207.7

2011 - 50% population growth 4.0 2.9 3.0 6.8 11.1 41.4 34.8 45.6 8.8 13.5 13.5 1.2 5.1 7.6 7.7 207.0

2016 - 100% population growth 5.4 4.3 3.6 9.5 15.8 50.1 41.4 53.7 10.2 15.5 15.7 1.3 6.0 8.9 9.9 251.2

2016 - 75% population growth 5.2 4.0 3.5 8.9 14.9 49.6 41.1 53.5 10.2 15.5 15.7 1.3 6.0 8.9 9.6 247.8

2016 - 50% population growth 4.9 3.7 3.5 8.3 14.0 49.0 40.8 53.3 10.2 15.5 15.7 1.3 5.9 8.8 9.4 244.3

2021  - 100% population growth 10.4 8.2 7.2 16.6 30.5 68.5 60.4 72.2 15.4 23.4 31.4 2.5 8.4 12.1 18.8 385.9

2021 - 75% population growth 9.6 7.4 7.1 15.3 27.1 67.4 59.2 71.6 15.2 23.5 31.4 2.5 8.4 11.9 17.8 375.5

2021 - 50% population growth 8.9 6.7 7.0 14.1 24.0 66.3 58.1 71.1 15.0 23.6 31.4 2.5 8.4 11.7 16.8 365.7

2026 - 100% population growth 13.6 10.5 8.9 19.7 35.8 80.2 72.5 83.6 18.9 26.9 36.6 3.1 9.7 14.5 25.0 459.6

2026 - 75% population growth 12.3 9.3 8.6 18.1 31.8 78.7 70.6 83.0 18.4 27.1 36.6 3.1 9.7 14.2 22.8 444.5

2026 - 50% population growth 11.1 8.2 8.4 16.6 28.1 77.3 68.7 82.5 18.0 27.4 36.6 3.1 9.7 13.8 20.9 430.3

2031 - 100% population growth 17.8 12.2 10.3 22.9 51.5 97.0 83.1 95.7 21.7 30.8 42.5 3.6 11.2 16.7 29.5 546.5

2031 - 75% population growth 15.7 10.8 10.0 21.0 44.4 94.3 81.1 95.4 21.3 31.2 42.5 3.6 11.2 16.4 26.9 525.7

2031 - 50% population growth 13.8 9.5 9.8 19.3 34.8 91.6 79.2 95.1 20.8 31.5 42.5 3.6 11.2 16.0 24.5 503.2

Table 5c: Comparison Goods Turnover in 2007-2031 - Gravesend only - INCREASED MARKET SHARE (£m)

Notes
(1) Turnover by zone by destination is the product of  total expenditure (Table 3a-b) for the three population scenarios and the  increased Gravesend market share from 2021 (Table 4b)

All monetary values are held constant at 2009 prices.

P
age 50



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012
Table 6: Commitments to comparison floorspace in 2016

Gross 
floorspace 

gain (sqm) (1)

Net to gross 
floorspace 
ratio (%) (2)

Sales 
floorspace 
gain (sqm)

% 
comparison 

floorspace 

Net comp 
floorspace 

(sqm)  (3)

Sales density 
(£ per sqm 

net) (4)

Total 
turnover (£m) 

(5)

Sainsbury's extension, Pepper Hill, Northfleet 4,573 75% 3,421 46% 1,559 7,594 11.8

TOTAL 4,573 3,421 1,559 11.8

Notes:
(1) The floorspace data has been sourced from Gravesham Borough Council - Planning Department.
(2) Where no exact figures are available, the sales floorspace has been derived by applying a net to gross floorspace ratio - RTP estimate.
(3) The net comparison sales area has been calculated through applying the percentage of comparison goods floorspace in each development to the sales floorspace gain. Where no exact figures are available an RTP estimate is used. 
(4) This is the turnover per sqm that we assume each development will trade at in 2016. 
(5) This is the total turnover that the development achieves in 2016

All monetary values are held constant at 2009 prices. 

P
age 51



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012
Table 7a: Quantitative Need - CONSTANT MARKET SHARES - 100% COMPARISON GOODS EXPENDITURE GROWTH - HIGH STREET FORMAT

2007 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 2007 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 2007 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031

Available expenditure (1) 

A Total study area expenditure (£m) 713.0 749.9 911.1 1,157.8 1,405.2 1,668.3 713.0 745.2 894.0 1,119.3 1,343.8 1,587.5 713.0 740.5 877.3 1,082.5 1,286.1 1,504.1

B Market share (%) 28% 28% 28% 27% 27% 27% 28% 28% 28% 27% 27% 27% 28% 28% 28% 28% 27% 27%

C Retained expenditure (£m) (= row A*B) 201.0 208.4 251.2 315.8 375.4 446.1 201.0 207.7 247.8 307.6 363.7 429.8 201.0 207.0 244.3 299.8 352.5 412.1

D Total turnover, including inflow at 5% (£m) 211.6 219.4 264.4 332.4 395.2 469.6 211.6 218.6 260.8 323.8 382.8 452.4 211.6 217.8 257.2 315.6 371.0 433.7

Claims on expenditure growth (2)

E Turnover of existing floorspace (£m) (= row D) 211.6 211.6 230.7 251.6 274.4 299.2 211.6 211.6 230.7 251.6 274.4 299.2 211.6 211.6 230.7 251.6 274.4 299.2

F Turnover from commitments (£m) 0.0 0.0 11.8 12.9 14.1 15.4 0.0 0.0 11.8 12.9 14.1 15.4 0.0 0.0 11.8 12.9 14.1 15.4

Residual expenditure and quantitative need (3)

G 100% of residual expenditure (£m) (= rows D-E-F) 0.0 7.8 21.9 67.9 106.7 155.0 0.0 7.0 18.3 59.3 94.4 137.8 0.0 6.2 14.7 51.1 82.6 119.1

H Assumed sales density for new floorspace (£/sqm) 4,538 4,538 4,947 5,395 5,884 6,417 4,538 4,538 4,947 5,395 5,884 6,417 4,538 4,538 4,947 5,395 5,884 6,417

I Net requirement (sqm net) (=rows G/H) 0 1,715 4,433 12,590 18,142 24,155 0 1,543 3,696 10,996 16,036 21,481 0 1,372 2,970 9,466 14,033 18,566

J Gross requirement (sqm) (= row I/75%) 0 2,286 5,911 16,787 24,189 32,207 0 2,058 4,928 14,661 21,381 28,641 0 1,830 3,961 12,622 18,711 24,754

100% Population 75% Population 50% Population

Notes:
(1) Derived from Tables 3a-c, 4 and 5; inflow estimated at 5% of total turnover
(2) No increase between 2007 and 2011, then 1.7% to 2016 and 1.8% to 2031; commitments dervied from Table 6
(3) Residual expenditure, then sales density used consistent with Addendum to LDF Retail and Commercial Leisure Study (July 2010) and grown to forecast years using rates at (2)

All monetary values are held constant at 2009 prices. 

P
age 52



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012
Table 7b: Quantitative Need - CONSTANT MARKET SHARES - 85% COMPARISON GOODS EXPENDITURE GROWTH - HIGH STREET FORMAT

2007 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 2007 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 2007 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031

Available expenditure (1) 

A Total study area expenditure (£m) 713.0 749.9 911.1 1,157.8 1,405.2 1,668.3 713.0 745.2 894.0 1,119.3 1,343.8 1,587.5 713.0 740.5 877.3 1,082.5 1,286.1 1,504.1

B Market share (%) 28% 28% 28% 27% 27% 27% 28% 28% 28% 27% 27% 27% 28% 28% 28% 28% 27% 27%

C Retained expenditure (£m) (= row A*B) 201.0 208.4 251.2 315.8 375.4 446.1 201.0 207.7 247.8 307.6 363.7 429.8 201.0 207.0 244.3 299.8 352.5 412.1

D Total turnover, including inflow at 5% (£m) 211.6 219.4 264.4 332.4 395.2 469.6 211.6 218.6 260.8 323.8 382.8 452.4 211.6 217.8 257.2 315.6 371.0 433.7

Claims on expenditure growth (2) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

E Turnover of existing floorspace (£m) (= row D) 211.6 211.6 230.7 251.6 274.4 299.2 211.6 211.6 230.7 251.6 274.4 299.2 211.6 211.6 230.7 251.6 274.4 299.2

F Turnover from commitments (£m) 0.0 0.0 11.8 12.9 14.1 15.4 0.0 0.0 11.8 12.9 14.1 15.4 0.0 0.0 11.8 12.9 14.1 15.4

Residual expenditure and quantitative need (3)

G 85% of residual expenditure (£m) (= rows D-E-F) 0.0 6.6 18.6 57.7 90.7 131.8 0.0 6.0 15.5 50.4 80.2 117.2 0.0 5.3 12.5 43.4 70.2 101.3

H Assumed sales density for new floorspace (£/sqm) 4,538 4,538 4,947 5,395 5,884 6,417 4,538 4,538 4,947 5,395 5,884 6,417 4,538 4,538 4,947 5,395 5,884 6,417

I Net requirement (sqm net) (=rows G/H) 0 1,458 3,768 10,702 15,421 20,532 0 1,312 3,141 9,346 13,630 18,259 0 1,166 2,525 8,046 11,928 15,781

J Gross requirement (sqm) (= row I/75%) 0 1,943 5,024 14,269 20,561 27,376 0 1,749 4,189 12,462 18,174 24,345 0 1,555 3,366 10,728 15,904 21,041

100% Population 75% Population 50% Population

Notes:
(1) Derived from Tables 3a-c, 4 and 5; inflow estimated at 5% of total turnover
(2) No increase between 2007 and 2011, then 1.7% to 2016 and 1.8% to 2031; commitments dervied from Table 6
(3) Residual expenditure, then sales density used consistent with Addendum to LDF Retail and Commercial Leisure Study (July 2010) and grown to forecast years using rates at (2)

All monetary values are held constant at 2009 prices. 

P
age 53



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012
Table 7c: Quantitative Need - CONSTANT MARKET SHARES - 15% COMPARISON GOODS EXPENDITURE GROWTH - RETAIL WAREHOUSE FORMAT

2007 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 2007 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 2007 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031

Available expenditure (1) 

A Total study area expenditure (£m) 713.0 749.9 911.1 1,157.8 1,405.2 1,668.3 713.0 745.2 894.0 1,119.3 1,343.8 1,587.5 713.0 740.5 877.3 1,082.5 1,286.1 1,504.1

B Market share (%) 28% 28% 28% 27% 27% 27% 28% 28% 28% 27% 27% 27% 28% 28% 28% 28% 27% 27%

C Retained expenditure (£m) (= row A*B) 201.0 208.4 251.2 315.8 375.4 446.1 201.0 207.7 247.8 307.6 363.7 429.8 201.0 207.0 244.3 299.8 352.5 412.1

D Total turnover, including inflow at 5% (£m) 211.6 219.4 264.4 332.4 395.2 469.6 211.6 218.6 260.8 323.8 382.8 452.4 211.6 217.8 257.2 315.6 371.0 433.7

Claims on expenditure growth (2) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

E Turnover of existing floorspace (£m) (= row D) 211.6 211.6 230.7 251.6 274.4 299.2 211.6 211.6 230.7 251.6 274.4 299.2 211.6 211.6 230.7 251.6 274.4 299.2

F Turnover from commitments (£m) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Residual expenditure and quantitative need (3)

G 15% of residual expenditure (£m) (= rows D-E-F) 0.0 1.2 5.1 12.1 18.1 25.6 0.0 1.1 4.5 10.8 16.3 23.0 0.0 0.9 4.0 9.6 14.5 20.2

H Assumed sales density for new floorspace (£/sqm) 3,000 3,000 3,270 3,567 3,890 4,242 4,538 4,538 4,947 5,395 5,884 6,417 4,538 4,538 4,947 5,395 5,884 6,417

I Net requirement (sqm net) (=rows G/H) 0 389 1,549 3,400 4,659 6,024 0 232 913 2,008 2,764 3,581 0 206 805 1,779 2,464 3,144

J Gross requirement (sqm) (=row I/85%) 0 458 1,822 4,000 5,482 7,087 0 272 1,075 2,363 3,252 4,213 0 242 947 2,093 2,899 3,699

100% Population 75% Population 50% Population

Notes:
(1) Derived from Tables 3a-c, 4 and 5; inflow estimated at 5% of total turnover
(2) No increase between 2007 and 2011, then 1.7% to 2016 and 1.8% to 2031; commitments dervied from Table 6
(3) Residual expenditure, then sales density used consistent with Addendum to LDF Retail and Commercial Leisure Study (July 2010) and grown to forecast years using rates at (2)

All monetary values are held constant at 2009 prices. 

P
age 54



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012
Table 8a: Quantitative Need - INCREASED MARKET SHARES - 100% COMPARISON GOODS EXPENDITURE GROWTH - HIGH STREET FORMAT

2007 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 2007 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 2007 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031

Available expenditure (1) 

A Total study area expenditure (£m) 713.0 749.9 911.1 1,157.8 1,405.2 1,668.3 713.0 745.2 894.0 1,119.3 1,343.8 1,587.5 713.0 740.5 877.3 1,082.5 1,286.1 1,504.1

B Market share (%) 28% 28% 28% 33% 33% 33% 28% 28% 28% 34% 33% 33% 28% 28% 28% 34% 33% 33%

C Retained expenditure (£m) (= row A*B) 201.0 208.4 251.2 385.9 459.6 546.5 201.0 207.7 247.8 375.5 444.5 525.7 201.0 207.0 244.3 365.7 430.3 503.2

D Total turnover, including inflow at 5% (£m) 211.6 219.4 264.4 406.2 483.7 575.2 211.6 218.6 260.8 395.3 467.9 553.4 211.6 217.8 257.2 384.9 453.0 529.7

Claims on expenditure growth (2)

E Turnover of existing floorspace (£m) (= row D) 211.6 211.6 230.7 251.6 274.4 299.2 211.6 211.6 230.7 251.6 274.4 299.2 211.6 211.6 230.7 251.6 274.4 299.2

F Turnover from commitments (£m) 0.0 0.0 11.8 12.9 14.1 15.4 0.0 0.0 11.8 12.9 14.1 15.4 0.0 0.0 11.8 12.9 14.1 15.4

Residual expenditure and quantitative need (3)

G 100% of residual expenditure (£m) (= rows D-E-F) 0.0 7.8 21.9 141.7 195.3 260.6 0.0 7.0 18.3 130.8 179.5 238.8 0.0 6.2 14.7 120.4 164.5 215.1

H Assumed sales density for new floorspace (£/sqm) 4,538 4,538 4,947 5,395 5,884 6,417 4,538 4,538 4,947 5,395 5,884 6,417 4,538 4,538 4,947 5,395 5,884 6,417

I Net requirement (sqm net) (=rows G/H) 0 1,715 4,433 26,264 33,189 40,617 0 1,543 3,696 24,248 30,504 37,212 0 1,372 2,970 22,318 27,957 33,514

J Gross requirement (sqm) (= row I/75%) 0 2,286 5,911 35,018 44,253 54,156 0 2,058 4,928 32,331 40,672 49,617 0 1,830 3,961 29,757 37,275 44,685

100% Population 75% Population 50% Population

Notes:
(1) Derived from Tables 3a-c, 4 and 5; inflow estimated at 5% of total turnover
(2) No increase between 2007 and 2011, then 1.7% to 2016 and 1.8% to 2031; commitments dervied from Table 6
(3) Residual expenditure, then sales density used consistent with Addendum to LDF Retail and Commercial Leisure Study (July 2010) and grown to forecast years using rates at (2)

All monetary values are held constant at 2009 prices. 

P
age 55



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012
Table 8b: Quantitative Need - INCREASED MARKET SHARES - 85% COMPARISON GOODS EXPENDITURE GROWTH - HIGH STREET FORMAT

2007 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 2007 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 2007 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031

Available expenditure (1) 

A Total study area expenditure (£m) 713.0 749.9 911.1 1,157.8 1,405.2 1,668.3 713.0 745.2 894.0 1,119.3 1,343.8 1,587.5 713.0 740.5 877.3 1,082.5 1,286.1 1,504.1

B Market share (%) 28% 28% 28% 33% 33% 33% 28% 28% 28% 34% 33% 33% 28% 28% 28% 34% 33% 33%

C Retained expenditure (£m) (= row A*B) 201.0 208.4 251.2 385.9 459.6 546.5 201.0 207.7 247.8 375.5 444.5 525.7 201.0 207.0 244.3 365.7 430.3 503.2

D Total turnover, including inflow at 5% (£m) 211.6 219.4 264.4 406.2 483.7 575.2 211.6 218.6 260.8 395.3 467.9 553.4 211.6 217.8 257.2 384.9 453.0 529.7

Claims on expenditure growth (2) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

E Turnover of existing floorspace (£m) (= row D) 211.6 211.6 230.7 251.6 274.4 299.2 211.6 211.6 230.7 251.6 274.4 299.2 211.6 211.6 230.7 251.6 274.4 299.2

F Turnover from commitments (£m) 0.0 0.0 11.8 12.9 14.1 15.4 0.0 0.0 11.8 12.9 14.1 15.4 0.0 0.0 11.8 12.9 14.1 15.4

Residual expenditure and quantitative need (3)

G 85% of residual expenditure (£m) (= rows D-E-F) 0.0 6.6 18.6 120.4 166.0 221.5 0.0 6.0 15.5 111.2 152.6 203.0 0.0 5.3 12.5 102.3 139.8 182.8

H Assumed sales density for new floorspace (£/sqm) 4,538 4,538 4,947 5,395 5,884 6,417 4,538 4,538 4,947 5,395 5,884 6,417 4,538 4,538 4,947 5,395 5,884 6,417

I Net requirement (sqm net) (=rows G/H) 0 1,458 3,768 22,324 28,211 34,524 0 1,312 3,141 20,611 25,928 31,631 0 1,166 2,525 18,970 23,763 28,487

J Gross requirement (sqm) (= row I/75%) 0 1,943 5,024 29,766 37,615 46,032 0 1,749 4,189 27,481 34,571 42,174 0 1,555 3,366 25,293 31,684 37,983

100% Population 75% Population 50% Population

Notes:
(1) Derived from Tables 3a-c, 4 and 5; inflow estimated at 5% of total turnover
(2) No increase between 2007 and 2011, then 1.7% to 2016 and 1.8% to 2031; commitments dervied from Table 6
(3) Residual expenditure, then sales density used consistent with Addendum to LDF Retail and Commercial Leisure Study (July 2010) and grown to forecast years using rates at (2)

All monetary values are held constant at 2009 prices. 

P
age 56



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012
Table 8c: Quantitative Need - INCREASED MARKET SHARES - 15% COMPARISON GOODS EXPENDITURE GROWTH - RETAIL WAREHOUSE FORMAT

2007 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 2007 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 2007 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031

Available expenditure (1) 

A Total study area expenditure (£m) 713.0 749.9 911.1 1,157.8 1,405.2 1,668.3 713.0 745.2 894.0 1,119.3 1,343.8 1,587.5 713.0 740.5 877.3 1,082.5 1,286.1 1,504.1

B Market share (%) 28% 28% 28% 33% 33% 33% 28% 28% 28% 34% 33% 33% 28% 28% 28% 34% 33% 33%

C Retained expenditure (£m) (= row A*B) 201.0 208.4 251.2 385.9 459.6 546.5 201.0 207.7 247.8 375.5 444.5 525.7 201.0 207.0 244.3 365.7 430.3 503.2

D Total turnover, including inflow at 5% (£m) 211.6 219.4 264.4 406.2 483.7 575.2 211.6 218.6 260.8 395.3 467.9 553.4 211.6 217.8 257.2 384.9 453.0 529.7

Claims on expenditure growth (2) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

E Turnover of existing floorspace (£m) (= row D) 211.6 211.6 230.7 251.6 274.4 299.2 211.6 211.6 230.7 251.6 274.4 299.2 211.6 211.6 230.7 251.6 274.4 299.2

F Turnover from commitments (£m) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Residual expenditure and quantitative need (3)

G 15% of residual expenditure (£m) (= rows D-E-F) 0.0 1.2 5.1 23.2 31.4 41.4 0.0 1.1 4.5 21.6 29.0 38.1 0.0 0.9 4.0 20.0 26.8 34.6

H Assumed sales density for new floorspace (£/sqm) 3,000 3,000 3,270 3,567 3,890 4,242 4,538 4,538 4,947 5,395 5,884 6,417 4,538 4,538 4,947 5,395 5,884 6,417

I Net requirement (sqm net) (=rows G/H) 0 389 1,549 6,502 8,074 9,759 0 232 913 3,996 4,935 5,941 0 206 805 3,707 4,552 5,386

J Gross requirement (sqm) (=row I/85%) 0 458 1,822 7,650 9,498 11,481 0 272 1,075 4,701 5,805 6,989 0 242 947 4,361 5,356 6,337

100% Population 75% Population 50% Population

Notes:
(1) Derived from Tables 3a-c, 4 and 5; inflow estimated at 5% of total turnover
(2) No increase between 2007 and 2011, then 1.7% to 2016 and 1.8% to 2031; commitments dervied from Table 6
(3) Residual expenditure, then sales density used consistent with Addendum to LDF Retail and Commercial Leisure Study (July 2010) and grown to forecast years using rates at (2)

All monetary values are held constant at 2009 prices. 

P
age 57



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012
Table 9: Per Capita Convenience Expenditure Estimates (2007-2031) (£)

Year Zone 16  Zone 17  Zone 20 Zone 21 Zone 22 Zone 31 Zone 32 Zone 33 Zone 34 Zone 35 Zone 42 Zone 70 Zone 82 Zone 88 Zone 89

2007 2,283 2,166 2,166 2,309 2,140 2,069 2,075 2,037 2,202 2,199 2,331 2,396 2,142 2,112 2,115

2011 2,080 1,973 1,973 2,103 1,950 1,884 1,890 1,856 2,006 2,003 2,124 2,183 1,951 1,924 1,927

2016 2,130 2,021 2,021 2,154 1,997 1,930 1,936 1,901 2,055 2,051 2,175 2,236 1,998 1,970 1,974

2021 2,179 2,068 2,068 2,204 2,043 1,975 1,980 1,945 2,103 2,099 2,226 2,287 2,045 2,016 2,019

2026 2,246 2,131 2,131 2,271 2,105 2,035 2,041 2,004 2,166 2,163 2,293 2,357 2,107 2,077 2,081

2031 2,314 2,195 2,196 2,340 2,169 2,097 2,103 2,065 2,232 2,228 2,363 2,428 2,171 2,140 2,144

Notes:
(1) Per capita expenditure by zone from 2009 is obtained from Pitney Bowes Business Insight/Oxford Economics (PBBI/OE) using our in-house GIS (MapInfo) system.  This is back dated to the base year (2007) and grown the forecast years using per annum growth rates derived from PBBI/OE and Experian (as explained in Appendix 2).  
These are applied consistently across all zones.

All monetary values held as constant 2009 prices.  

P
age 58



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012
Table 10a: Total Convenience Expenditure (£m) - 100% population growth

Year Zone 16  Zone 17  Zone 20 Zone 21 Zone 22 Zone 31 Zone 32 Zone 33 Zone 34 Zone 35 Zone 42 Zone 70 Zone 82 Zone 88 Zone 89
All Zones

Total

Sub total 2007 19.3 32.3 34.9 14.6 26.7 52.7 47.4 60.7 17.7 26.6 54.5 13.3 27.6 62.5 54.5 545.4

Deduction for SFT at 1.45% 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.3 0.4 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.1 0.2 0.5 0.4 4.0

Total 2007 19.2 32.0 34.7 14.5 26.5 52.3 47.1 60.3 17.6 26.4 54.1 13.2 27.4 62.1 54.1 541.5

Sub total 2011 18.7 34.5 33.4 15.6 26.3 48.1 46.2 54.3 15.9 23.8 49.9 12.2 26.5 57.9 52.4 515.7

Deduction for SFT at 4.2% 0.8 1.5 1.4 0.7 1.1 2.0 1.9 2.3 0.7 1.0 2.1 0.5 1.1 2.4 2.2 9.4

Total 2011 17.9 33.1 31.9 14.9 25.2 46.1 44.2 52.0 15.2 22.8 47.8 11.7 25.4 55.5 50.2 494.0

Sub total 2016 21.5 42.0 33.8 17.9 31.7 51.6 48.6 56.6 16.3 24.2 51.3 11.8 27.8 60.1 59.4 554.7

Deduction for SFT at 5.9% 1.3 2.5 2.0 1.1 1.9 3.0 2.9 3.3 1.0 1.4 3.0 0.7 1.6 3.5 3.5 32.7

Total 2016 20.2 39.6 31.8 16.8 29.9 48.5 45.8 53.2 15.4 22.8 48.3 11.1 26.1 56.5 55.9 522.0

Sub total 2021 24.8 46.7 34.5 19.4 41.7 54.0 52.2 58.7 17.4 24.4 52.7 12.4 28.0 64.9 69.9 601.8

Deduction for SFT at 6.3% 1.6 2.9 2.2 1.2 2.6 3.4 3.3 3.7 1.1 1.5 3.3 0.8 1.8 4.1 4.4 37.9

Total 2021 23.3 43.8 32.4 18.2 39.1 50.6 49.0 55.0 16.3 22.9 49.4 11.6 26.2 60.8 65.5 563.9

Sub total 2026 29.0 53.1 37.9 20.4 43.4 55.9 55.6 60.2 18.9 24.9 54.6 13.2 28.7 69.2 82.0 646.9

Deduction for SFT at 6.8% 2.0 3.6 2.6 1.4 2.9 3.8 3.8 4.1 1.3 1.7 3.7 0.9 1.9 4.7 5.6 44.0

Total 2026 27.0 49.4 35.4 19.0 40.4 52.1 51.8 56.1 17.6 23.2 50.9 12.3 26.7 64.5 76.4 602.9

Sub total 2031 33.5 54.7 39.1 21.1 55.4 60.1 56.5 61.2 19.3 25.3 56.2 13.6 29.3 70.6 86.0 681.9

Deduction for SFT at 7.0% 2.3 3.8 2.7 1.5 3.9 4.2 4.0 4.3 1.4 1.8 3.9 1.0 2.1 4.9 6.0 47.7

Total 2031 31.2 50.8 36.3 19.6 51.5 55.9 52.6 57.0 18.0 23.5 52.3 12.6 27.3 65.7 80.0 634.2

Growth in Convenience Expenditure

2007-2011 -1.2 1.0 -2.7 0.4 -1.3 -6.2 -2.8 -8.2 -2.4 -3.6 -6.3 -1.5 -2.0 -6.6 -3.9 -47.4

2011 2016 2 3 6 5 0 2 1 9 4 7 2 4 1 5 1 2 0 2 0 0 0 5 0 6 0 7 1 1 5 7 28 02011-2016 2.3 6.5 -0.2 1.9 4.7 2.4 1.5 1.2 0.2 0.0 0.5 -0.6 0.7 1.1 5.7 28.0

2016-2021 3.0 4.2 0.6 1.3 9.2 2.0 3.2 1.8 0.9 0.1 1.1 0.4 0.1 4.3 9.6 41.9

2021-2026 3.7 5.7 3.0 0.9 1.4 1.6 2.9 1.1 1.3 0.3 1.4 0.7 0.5 3.6 10.9 39.0

2026-2031 4.2 1.4 1.0 0.5 11.1 3.7 0.7 0.8 0.4 0.3 1.4 0.3 0.5 1.2 3.5 31.3

2007-2021 4.1 11.7 -2.3 3.6 12.5 -1.8 1.9 -5.3 -1.3 -3.5 -4.6 -1.6 -1.2 -1.2 11.3 22.4

2007-2031 12.0 18.8 1.7 5.0 25.0 3.5 5.5 -3.3 0.4 -2.9 -1.8 -0.5 -0.2 3.6 25.8 92.7

Notes
(1) The 2007 expenditure and subsequent figures for the forecast years and are the products of multiplying the data presented in Table 1a (population) by Table 9 (per capita convenience goods expenditure).
(2) A decuction is made for a percentage of expenditure for Special Forms of Trading (SFT) (i.e. mail order, TV and internet shopping) from the total expenditure. We have adopted the convenience goods SFT dervived from Kent CC household survey data in 2007, and then adopted the adjusted projections in Appendix 3 of the Experian Retail Planner 
Briefing Note 9 (September 2011) from 2011 onwards

All monetary values are held constant at 2009 prices.

P
age 59



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012
Table 10b: Total Convenience Expenditure (£m) - 75% population growth

Year Zone 16  Zone 17  Zone 20 Zone 21 Zone 22 Zone 31 Zone 32 Zone 33 Zone 34 Zone 35 Zone 42 Zone 70 Zone 82 Zone 88 Zone 89
All Zones

Total

Sub total 2007 19.3 32.3 34.9 14.6 26.7 52.7 47.4 60.7 17.7 26.6 54.5 13.3 27.6 62.5 54.5 545.4

Deduction for SFT at 1.45% 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.3 0.4 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.1 0.2 0.5 0.4 4.0

Total 2007 19.2 32.0 34.7 14.5 26.5 52.3 47.1 60.3 17.6 26.4 54.1 13.2 27.4 62.1 54.1 541.5

Sub total 2011 18.4 33.2 32.9 15.0 25.8 48.1 46.2 54.3 15.9 23.8 49.9 12.2 26.5 57.9 52.4 512.5

Deduction for SFT at 4.2% 0.8 1.4 1.4 0.6 1.1 2.0 1.9 2.3 0.7 1.0 2.1 0.5 1.1 2.4 2.2 9.4

Total 2011 17.6 31.8 31.5 14.4 24.7 46.1 44.2 52.0 15.2 22.8 47.8 11.7 25.4 55.5 50.2 491.0

Sub total 2016 20.6 38.8 33.4 16.7 29.9 51.0 48.3 56.3 16.3 24.3 51.3 11.8 27.6 59.9 58.0 544.3

Deduction for SFT at 5.9% 1.2 2.3 2.0 1.0 1.8 3.0 2.8 3.3 1.0 1.4 3.0 0.7 1.6 3.5 3.4 32.1

Total 2016 19.4 36.5 31.4 15.8 28.2 48.0 45.4 53.0 15.4 22.8 48.3 11.1 26.0 56.4 54.6 512.2

Sub total 2021 23.1 42.3 34.2 17.9 37.1 53.1 51.3 58.3 17.2 24.5 52.7 12.4 28.0 63.8 66.0 581.8

Deduction for SFT at 6.3% 1.5 2.7 2.2 1.1 2.3 3.3 3.2 3.7 1.1 1.5 3.3 0.8 1.8 4.0 4.2 36.7

Total 2021 21.6 39.6 32.0 16.8 34.8 49.7 48.0 54.6 16.1 23.0 49.4 11.6 26.2 59.8 61.8 545.1

Sub total 2026 26.1 46.9 37.0 18.8 38.5 54.9 54.1 59.8 18.5 25.1 54.6 13.2 28.7 67.5 75.0 618.6

Deduction for SFT at 6.8% 1.8 3.2 2.5 1.3 2.6 3.7 3.7 4.1 1.3 1.7 3.7 0.9 1.9 4.6 5.1 42.1

Total 2026 24.4 43.7 34.4 17.5 35.9 51.2 50.4 55.8 17.2 23.4 50.9 12.3 26.7 62.9 69.9 576.6

Sub total 2031 29.7 48.3 38.1 19.3 47.7 58.4 55.2 61.0 18.9 25.6 56.2 13.6 29.4 69.1 78.4 648.9

Deduction for SFT at 7.0% 2.1 3.4 2.7 1.4 3.3 4.1 3.9 4.3 1.3 1.8 3.9 1.0 2.1 4.8 5.5 45.4

Total 2031 27.6 44.9 35.4 18.0 44.4 54.3 51.3 56.8 17.6 23.8 52.3 12.6 27.3 64.2 72.9 603.4

Growth in Convenience Expenditure

2007-2011 -1.5 -0.2 -3.1 -0.2 -1.8 -6.2 -2.8 -8.2 -2.4 -3.6 -6.3 -1.5 -2.0 -6.6 -3.9 -50.5

2011 2016 1 7 4 7 0 1 1 4 3 5 1 9 1 2 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 5 0 6 0 6 0 9 4 3 21 32011-2016 1.7 4.7 -0.1 1.4 3.5 1.9 1.2 1.0 0.1 0.1 0.5 -0.6 0.6 0.9 4.3 21.3

2016-2021 2.3 3.1 0.6 1.0 6.6 1.7 2.6 1.6 0.8 0.2 1.1 0.4 0.2 3.5 7.3 32.9

2021-2026 2.7 4.1 2.4 0.7 1.1 1.5 2.4 1.2 1.1 0.4 1.4 0.7 0.5 3.1 8.1 31.4

2026-2031 3.2 1.2 1.0 0.5 8.5 3.1 0.9 1.0 0.4 0.4 1.4 0.3 0.6 1.3 2.9 26.9

2007-2021 2.5 7.6 -2.6 2.2 8.3 -2.6 1.0 -5.7 -1.5 -3.4 -4.6 -1.6 -1.2 -2.2 7.7 3.7

2007-2031 8.4 12.9 0.8 3.4 17.9 2.0 4.3 -3.5 0.0 -2.6 -1.8 -0.5 -0.1 2.2 18.7 62.0

Notes
(1) The 2007 expenditure and subsequent figures for the forecast years and are the products of multiplying the data presented in Table 1b (population) by Table 9 (per capita convenience goods expenditure).
(2) A decuction is made for a percentage of expenditure for Special Forms of Trading (SFT) (i.e. mail order, TV and internet shopping) from the total expenditure. We have adopted the convenience goods SFT dervived from Kent CC household survey data in 2007, and then adopted the adjusted projections in Appendix 3 of the Experian Retail Planner 
Briefing Note 9 (September 2011) from 2011 onwards

All monetary values are held constant at 2009 prices.

P
age 60



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012
Table 3c: Total Comparison Expenditure (£m) - 50% population growth

Year Zone 16  Zone 17  Zone 20 Zone 21 Zone 22 Zone 31 Zone 32 Zone 33 Zone 34 Zone 35 Zone 42 Zone 70 Zone 82 Zone 88 Zone 89
All Zones

Total

Sub total 2007 19.3 32.3 34.9 14.6 26.7 52.7 47.4 60.7 17.7 26.6 54.5 13.3 27.6 62.5 54.5 545.4

Deduction for SFT at 1.45% 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.3 0.4 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.1 0.2 0.5 0.4 4.0

Total 2007 19.2 32.0 34.7 14.5 26.5 52.3 47.1 60.3 17.6 26.4 54.1 13.2 27.4 62.1 54.1 541.5

Sub total 2011 18.1 31.9 32.5 14.4 25.2 48.1 46.2 54.3 15.9 23.8 49.9 12.2 26.5 57.9 52.4 509.3

Deduction for SFT at 4.2% 0.8 1.3 1.4 0.6 1.1 2.0 1.9 2.3 0.7 1.0 2.1 0.5 1.1 2.4 2.2 9.4

Total 2011 17.3 30.5 31.1 13.8 24.2 46.1 44.2 52.0 15.2 22.8 47.8 11.7 25.4 55.5 50.2 487.9

Sub total 2016 19.7 35.7 33.1 15.7 28.2 50.4 48.0 56.1 16.3 24.3 51.3 11.8 27.5 59.7 56.5 534.2

Deduction for SFT at 5.9% 1.2 2.1 2.0 0.9 1.7 3.0 2.8 3.3 1.0 1.4 3.0 0.7 1.6 3.5 3.3 31.5

Total 2016 18.5 33.6 31.1 14.7 26.5 47.4 45.1 52.8 15.3 22.8 48.3 11.1 25.9 56.2 53.2 502.7

Sub total 2021 21.4 38.1 33.8 16.5 32.9 52.2 50.3 57.8 17.0 24.7 52.7 12.4 27.9 62.8 62.2 562.7

Deduction for SFT at 6.3% 1.3 2.4 2.1 1.0 2.1 3.3 3.2 3.6 1.1 1.6 3.3 0.8 1.8 4.0 3.9 35.4

Total 2021 20.1 35.7 31.7 15.5 30.8 48.9 47.1 54.2 15.9 23.1 49.4 11.6 26.2 58.8 58.3 527.2

Sub total 2026 23.5 41.3 36.0 17.2 34.1 53.9 52.7 59.4 18.0 25.3 54.6 13.2 28.7 65.8 68.5 592.1

Deduction for SFT at 6.8% 1.6 2.8 2.4 1.2 2.3 3.7 3.6 4.0 1.2 1.7 3.7 0.9 1.9 4.5 4.7 40.3

Total 2026 21.9 38.5 33.5 16.0 31.7 50.2 49.1 55.4 16.8 23.5 50.9 12.3 26.7 61.3 63.9 551.8

Sub total 2031 26.1 42.5 37.1 17.7 37.5 56.7 53.9 60.8 18.5 25.9 56.2 13.6 29.4 67.5 71.3 614.8

Deduction for SFT at 7.0% 1.8 3.0 2.6 1.2 2.6 4.0 3.8 4.3 1.3 1.8 3.9 1.0 2.1 4.7 5.0 43.0

Total 2031 24.2 39.6 34.5 16.5 34.8 52.8 50.1 56.6 17.2 24.0 52.3 12.6 27.4 62.8 66.4 571.7

Growth in Convenience Expenditure

2007-2011 -1.8 -1.5 -3.6 -0.7 -2.3 -6.2 -2.8 -8.2 -2.4 -3.6 -6.3 -1.5 -2.0 -6.6 -3.9 -53.6

2011 2016 1 2 3 1 0 0 0 9 2 3 1 4 0 9 0 8 0 1 0 1 0 5 0 6 0 4 0 7 3 0 14 82011-2016 1.2 3.1 0.0 0.9 2.3 1.4 0.9 0.8 0.1 0.1 0.5 -0.6 0.4 0.7 3.0 14.8

2016-2021 1.6 2.1 0.6 0.7 4.3 1.4 2.0 1.4 0.6 0.3 1.1 0.4 0.3 2.7 5.1 24.5

2021-2026 1.9 2.8 1.9 0.6 0.9 1.4 2.0 1.2 0.9 0.4 1.4 0.7 0.6 2.5 5.6 24.6

2026-2031 2.3 1.1 0.9 0.5 3.1 2.5 1.0 1.2 0.4 0.5 1.4 0.3 0.7 1.4 2.5 19.9

2007-2021 0.9 3.7 -3.0 0.9 4.3 -3.4 0.1 -6.1 -1.7 -3.3 -4.6 -1.6 -1.3 -3.2 4.1 -14.2

2007-2031 5.1 7.5 -0.2 1.9 8.3 0.4 3.1 -3.7 -0.4 -2.3 -1.8 -0.5 -0.1 0.7 12.2 30.3

Notes
(1) The 2007 expenditure and subsequent figures for the forecast years and are the products of multiplying the data presented in Table 1c (population) by Table 2 (per capita convenience goods expenditure).
(2) A decuction is made for a percentage of expenditure for Special Forms of Trading (SFT) (i.e. mail order, TV and internet shopping) from the total expenditure. We have adopted the convenience goods SFT dervived from Kent CC household survey data in 2007, and then adopted the adjusted projections in Appendix 3 of the Experian Retail Planner 
Briefing Note 9 (September 2011) from 2011 onwards

All monetary values are held constant at 2009 prices.

P
age 61



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012

Destination (1) Zone 16  Zone 17  Zone 20 Zone 21 Zone 22 Zone 31 Zone 32 Zone 33 Zone 34 Zone 35 Zone 42 Zone 70 Zone 82 Zone 88 Zone 89

Asda, Thames Way, Gravesend 6.4% 3.5% 2.3% 13.0% 20.8% 27.2% 20.3% 40.5% 19.5% 13.7% 11.1% 2.3% 9.0% 4.2% 5.5%

Tesco, 72 New Road, Gravesend 0.2% 0.0% 0.0% 1.6% 3.3% 12.7% 21.6% 11.3% 7.8% 3.2% 1.6% 0.0% 0.3% 1.4% 0.0%

Other stores, Gravesend 2.2% 2.7% 0.0% 1.7% 3.5% 6.0% 4.6% 9.6% 6.7% 3.9% 0.9% 0.0% 1.6% 0.5% 1.1%

Morrisons, Coldharbour Road, Northfleet 0.9% 1.4% 0.0% 7.4% 4.2% 16.6% 15.7% 18.5% 10.2% 36.3% 1.8% 0.0% 6.0% 0.4% 2.5%

Sainsbury's, Wingfield Bank, Northfleet 6.8% 4.2% 5.5% 38.3% 14.8% 32.4% 27.2% 14.3% 23.6% 23.1% 20.2% 0.0% 3.4% 0.4% 5.8%

Other stores, Northfleet 1.0% 0.9% 0.0% 0.4% 0.0% 0.5% 0.8% 0.6% 0.6% 0.6% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.1% 0.0%

Greenhithe (All stores) 55.4% 24.4% 23.1% 0.5% 39.8% 1.4% 1.0% 0.2% 1.0% 0.6% 2.7% 0.0% 0.4% 1.0% 0.4%

Dartford (All stores) 22.8% 49.3% 40.1% 4.6% 5.3% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.9% 0.0% 6.2% 1.4% 0.0% 0.3% 0.0%

All other stores 4.3% 13.5% 29.0% 32.4% 8.2% 3.2% 8.7% 4.9% 28.6% 18.7% 55.4% 96.4% 79.1% 91.7% 84.7%

TOTAL 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Table 11: Convenience Goods Market Shares 2007 (%)

Notes
(1)  Market shares dervied from the Kent CC household survey in 2007, as reproduced in the Addendum to Gravesham LDF and Commercial Leisure Study 

P
age 62



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012

Zone 16  Zone 17  Zone 20 Zone 21 Zone 22 Zone 31 Zone 32 Zone 33 Zone 34 Zone 35 Zone 42 Zone 70 Zone 82 Zone 88 Zone 89 Total

Asda, Thames Way, Gravesend 1.2 1.1 0.8 1.9 5.5 14.2 9.6 24.4 3.4 3.6 6.0 0.3 2.5 2.6 3.0 80.1

Tesco, 72 New Road, Gravesend 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.9 6.6 10.2 6.8 1.4 0.8 0.9 0.0 0.1 0.9 0.0 28.9

Other stores, Gravesend 0.4 0.9 0.0 0.3 0.9 3.1 2.2 5.8 1.2 1.0 0.5 0.0 0.4 0.3 0.6 17.6

Morrisons, Coldharbour Road, Northfleet 0.2 0.5 0.0 1.1 1.1 8.7 7.4 11.2 1.8 9.6 1.0 0.0 1.6 0.3 1.4 45.8

Sainsbury's, Wingfield Bank, Northfleet 1.3 1.4 1.9 5.6 3.9 17.0 12.8 8.6 4.2 6.1 10.9 0.0 0.9 0.3 3.1 77.9

Other stores, Northfleet 0.2 0.3 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.1 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 2.0

Greenhithe (All stores) 10.6 7.8 8.0 0.1 10.6 0.7 0.5 0.1 0.2 0.2 1.5 0.0 0.1 0.6 0.2 41.2

Dartford (All stores) 4.4 15.8 13.9 0.7 1.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 3.3 0.2 0.0 0.2 0.0 40.2

All other stores 0.8 4.3 10.0 4.7 2.2 1.7 4.1 3.0 5.0 4.9 30.0 12.7 21.7 56.9 45.8 207.9

TOTAL 19.2 32.0 34.7 14.5 26.5 52.3 47.1 60.3 17.6 26.4 54.1 13.2 27.4 62.1 54.1 541.5

Table 12a: Convenience Goods Turnover in 2007 (£m)

Notes
(1) Turnover by zone by destination is the product of 2007 total expenditure (Table 9) and the market share by destination by zone (Table 11)

All monetary values are held constant at 2009 prices. P
age 63



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012
Table 12b: Convenience Goods Turnover in 2007-2031 - Gravesham destinations only - CONSTANT MARKET SHARE (£m)

Destination Zone 16  Zone 17  Zone 20 Zone 21 Zone 22 Zone 31 Zone 32 Zone 33 Zone 34 Zone 35 Zone 42 Zone 70 Zone 82 Zone 88 Zone 89 Total

2007 3.3 4.1 2.7 9.1 12.4 49.9 42.5 57.2 12.1 21.3 19.3 0.3 5.6 4.4 8.1 252.2

2011 - 100% population growth 3.1 4.2 2.5 9.3 11.8 44.0 39.9 49.4 10.4 18.4 17.0 0.3 5.2 3.9 7.5 226.9

2011 - 75% population growth 3.1 4.1 2.5 9.0 11.5 44.0 39.9 49.4 10.4 18.4 17.0 0.3 5.2 3.9 7.5 226.1

2011 - 50% population growth 3.0 3.9 2.4 8.6 11.3 44.0 39.9 49.4 10.4 18.4 17.0 0.3 5.2 3.9 7.5 225.3

2016 - 100% population growth 3.5 5.1 2.5 10.5 14.0 46.3 41.3 50.5 10.5 18.4 17.2 0.3 5.3 4.0 8.3 237.7

2016 - 75% population growth 3.4 4.7 2.4 9.8 13.2 45.8 41.0 50.3 10.5 18.4 17.2 0.3 5.3 4.0 8.1 234.5

2016 - 50% population growth 3.2 4.3 2.4 9.2 12.4 45.3 40.7 50.1 10.5 18.4 17.2 0.3 5.3 3.9 7.9 231.2

2021  - 100% population growth 4.1 5.6 2.5 11.4 18.3 48.2 44.2 52.2 11.2 18.5 17.6 0.3 5.4 4.3 9.8 253.4

2021 - 75% population growth 3.8 5.1 2.5 10.5 16.3 47.4 43.4 51.8 11.0 18.6 17.6 0.3 5.4 4.2 9.2 247.0

2021 - 50% population growth 3.5 4.6 2.5 9.7 14.4 46.6 42.6 51.4 10.9 18.6 17.6 0.3 5.4 4.1 8.7 240.8

2026 - 100% population growth 4.7 6.3 2.7 11.9 18.9 49.7 46.8 53.3 12.1 18.7 18.1 0.3 5.5 4.5 11.4 265.0

2026 - 75% population growth 4.2 5.6 2.7 10.9 16.8 48.8 45.6 52.9 11.8 18.9 18.1 0.3 5.5 4.4 10.4 256.9

2026 - 50% population growth 3.8 4.9 2.6 10.0 14.8 47.9 44.3 52.6 11.5 19.0 18.1 0.3 5.5 4.3 9.5 249.3

2031 - 100% population growth 5.4 6.5 2.8 12.2 24.1 53.3 47.5 54.0 12.3 19.0 18.6 0.3 5.6 4.6 11.9 278.2

2031 - 75% population growth 4.8 5.8 2.8 11.2 20.8 51.8 46.4 53.9 12.0 19.2 18.6 0.3 5.6 4.5 10.9 268.5

2031 - 50% population growth 4.2 5.1 2.7 10.3 16.3 50.3 45.3 53.7 11.8 19.4 18.6 0.3 5.6 4.4 9.9 257.9

Notes
(1) Turnover by zone by destination is the product of  total expenditure (Table 3a-b) for the three population scenarios and the  Gravesend market share (Table 12a) maintained as constant

All monetary values are held constant at 2009 prices.

P
age 64



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012

Gross 
Floorspace (1)

Net 
Floorspace

Conv. 
Floorspace 

(%) (2)

Net Conv. 
Floorspace

Average 
Sales Density 

(3)

Benchmark 
Turnover 

(£m)

Survey 
Derived 

Turnover (4)

Under /Over 
Trading (5)

Asda, Thames Way, Gravesend - - - 3,053 14,052 42.9 56.1 13.2

Tesco, 72 New Road, Gravesend 4,781             2,276             - 1,514 12,954 19.6 20.2 0.6

Morrisons, Coldharbour Road, Northfleet - - - 2,124 12,784 27.2 32.0 4.9

Sainsbury's, Wingfield Bank, Northfleet 7,664             3,537             85% 3,006 13,056 39.2 54.5 15.3

Total 128.9 162.8 33.9

Table 13: Convenience turnover of four main foodstores in Gravesham (£m)

Notes:
(1) The floorspace in the four main foodstores in Gravesham is presented (both gross and net).
(2) The proportion of convenience floorspace is informed by company average food/non-food splits in Verdict's 2010 UK Grocery Retailers document.
(3) Average sales densities are goods based sales densities derived from Verdict's 2011 UK Grocery Retailers document for 2011 in 2009 prices.
(4) 70% of total survey derived turnover
(5) A positive figure indicates that the store is overtrading compared to company averages.

All monetary values are held constant at 2009 prices.

P
age 65



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012
Table 14: Commitments to convenience floorspace in 2016

Gross 
floorspace 

gain (sqm) (1)

Net to gross 
floorspace 
ratio (%) (2)

Sales 
floorspace 
gain (sqm) 

% 
convenience 

floorspace 

Net conv. 
floorspace 

(sqm) (3)

Sales density 
(£ per sqm 

net) (4)

Total 
turnover (£m) 

(5)

Sainsbury's extension, Pepper Hill, Northfleet 4,573 75% 3,421 55% 1,872 6,573 12.3

Tesco Express, Perry Street, Gravesend - - 280 95% 266 12,954 3.4

Tesco Express, Valley Drive, Gravesend 347 81% 280 95% 266 12,954 3.4

Tesco, 145 Whitehill Road, Gravesend 440 71% 314 95% 298 12,954 3.9

TOTAL 4,573 3,421 1,872 23.1

Notes:
(1) The floorspace data has been sourced from Gravesham Borough Council - Planning Department.
(2) Where no exact figures are available, the sales floorspace has been derived by applying a net to gross floorspace ratio - RTP estimate.
(3) The net comparison sales area has been calculated through applying the percentage of convenience goods floorspace in each development to the sales floorspace gain. Where no exact figures are available an RTP estimate is used. 
(4) This is the turnover per sqm that we assume each development will trade at in 2016
(5) This is the total turnover that the developments we assume the developments will trade at in 2016

All monetary values are held constant at 2009 prices. 

P
age 66



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012
Table 15: Quantitative Need for Convenience Floorspace - CONSTANT MARKET SHARES

2007 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 2007 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 2007 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031

Available expenditure (1) 

A Total study area expenditure - 70% (£m) 541.5 494.0 522.0 563.9 602.9 634.2 541.5 491.0 512.2 545.1 576.6 603.4 541.5 487.9 502.7 527.2 551.8 571.7

B Market share (%) 47% 46% 46% 45% 44% 44% 47% 46% 46% 45% 45% 44% 47% 46% 46% 46% 45% 45%

C Retained expenditure (£m) (= row A*B) 252.2 226.9 237.7 253.4 265.0 278.2 252.2 226.1 234.5 247.0 256.9 268.5 252.2 225.3 231.2 240.8 249.3 257.9

D Total turnover, including inflow at 5% (£m) 265.5 238.9 250.3 266.7 278.9 292.9 265.5 238.0 246.8 260.0 270.4 282.6 265.5 237.1 243.4 253.5 262.4 271.5

Claims on expenditure growth (2)

E Turnover of existing floorspace (£m) (= row D) 265.5 265.5 267.4 271.3 274.7 278.1 265.5 265.5 267.4 271.3 274.7 278.1 265.5 265.5 267.4 271.3 274.7 278.1

F Turnover from commitments (£m) 0.0 0.0 23.1 23.4 23.7 24.0 0.0 0.0 23.1 23.4 23.7 24.0 0.0 0.0 23.1 23.4 23.7 24.0

Residual expenditure and quantitative need (3)

G Allowance for overtrading (£m) 33.9 33.9 33.9 33.9 33.9 33.9 33.9 33.9 33.9 33.9 33.9 33.9 33.9 33.9 33.9 33.9 33.9 33.9

H Residual expenditure (£m) (= rows D-E-F+G) 33.9 7.3 -6.2 6.0 14.5 24.7 33.9 6.4 -9.7 -0.8 6.0 14.4 33.9 5.5 -13.1 -7.2 -2.0 3.3

I Assumed sales density for new floorspace (£/sqm) 11,000 11,000 11,077 11,238 11,379 11,522 11,000 11,000 11,077 11,238 11,379 11,522 11,000 11,000 11,077 11,238 11,379 11,522

J Net requirement (sqm net) (=rows G/H) 3,085 663 -562 532 1,273 2,145 3,085 583 -874 -67 528 1,253 3,085 503 -1,180 -642 -180 285

K Gross requirement (sqm) (= row I/65%) 4,114 884 -750 710 1,697 2,860 4,114 777 -1,165 -90 704 1,671 4,114 671 -1,574 -856 -240 379

100% Population 75% Population 50% Population

Notes:
(1) Derived from Tables 3a-c, 4 and 5; inflow estimated at 5% of total turnover
(2) No increase between 2007 and 2011, then 0.1% to 2016, 0.3% to 2021 and 0.2% to 2031; commitments dervied from Table 14
(3) Residual expenditure, then sales density used consistent with Addendum to LDF Retail and Commercial Leisure Study (July 2010) and grown to forecast years using rates at (2).  Overtrading taken from Table 13.

All monetary values are held constant at 2009 prices. 

P
age 67



Gravesham Retail Study Update 2012
Table 16 - Summary of Quantitative Need Outputs

2016 2021 2026 2031 2016 2021 2026 2031 2016 2021 2026 2031

Comparison goods - constant market share

100% of expenditure growth - net sqm 4,400 12,600 18,100 24,200 3,700 11,000 16,000 21,500 3,000 9,500 14,000 18,600

100% of expenditure growth - gross sqm 5,900 16,800 24,200 32,200 4,900 14,700 21,400 28,600 4,000 12,600 18,700 24,800

85% of expenditure growth - CORE - net sqm 3,800 10,700 15,400 20,500 3,100 9,300 13,600 18,300 2,500 8,000 11,900 15,800

85% of expenditure growth - CORE - gross sqm 5,000 14,300 20,600 27,400 4,200 12,500 18,200 24,300 3,400 10,700 15,900 21,000

15% of expenditure growth - RETAIL WAREHOUSE - net sqm 1,500 3,400 4,700 6,000 900 2,000 2,800 3,600 800 1,800 2,500 3,100

15% of expenditure growth - RETAIL WAREHOUSE - gross sqm 1,800 4,000 5,500 7,100 1,100 2,400 3,300 4,200 900 2,100 2,900 3,700

Comparison goods - increased market share

100% of expenditure growth - net sqm 4,400 26,300 33,200 40,600 3,700 24,200 30,500 37,200 3,000 22,300 28,000 33,500

100% of expenditure growth - gross sqm 5,900 35,000 44,300 54,200 4,900 32,300 40,700 49,600 4,000 29,800 37,300 44,700

85% of expenditure growth - CORE - net sqm 3,800 22,300 28,200 34,500 3,100 20,600 25,900 31,600 2,500 19,000 23,800 28,500

85% of expenditure growth - CORE - gross sqm 5,000 29,800 37,600 46,000 4,200 27,500 34,600 42,200 3,400 25,300 31,700 38,000

15% of expenditure growth - RETAIL WAREHOUSE - net sqm 1,500 6,500 8,100 9,800 900 4,000 4,900 5,900 800 3,700 4,600 5,400

15% of expenditure growth - RETAIL WAREHOUSE - gross sqm 1,800 7,600 9,500 11,500 1,100 4,700 5,800 7,000 900 4,400 5,400 6,300

Convenience goods

100% expenditure growth - net sqm -600 500 1,300 2,100 -900 -100 500 1,300 -1,200 -600 -200 300

100% of expenditure growth - gross sqm -700 700 1,700 2,900 -1,200 -100 700 1,700 -1,600 -900 -200 400

2012 Update - 100% Population 2012 Update - 75% Population 2012 - 50% Population

Notes:
All figures rounded to nearest 100 sqm for ease of presentation.  Note that the sum of 85% (Core) and 15% (Retail Warehouse) will not sum to the 100% output due to different sales densities used for the two formats of development.

P
age 68



Gravesend Town Centre and the approach to retail and other main town 
centre type development 

 
 

Contents 
 
 
          Page 
 
Section 1: Introduction to the Report     1 
Section 2: The basis of national policy and its   2 
  Interpretation in the Gravesham context 
Section 3: The Retail Study Update (2012) and the   7 
  Implications for emerging policy 
Section 4: Scale of town centre uses to be accommodated 12 
Section 5: Consideration of options on where development 24 
  Might be accommodated within the town centre  
Section 6: Key representations received as a result of the  36 
  Gravesham Growth Scenarios and Core Strategy – 
  Regulation 25 Update consultation 
Section 7: Consideration of the above representations  44 
Section 8: Conclusions       56 
 
Appendix: Structure of the Ebbsfleet planning permissions  57 
  

Page 69



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

1 
 

 
Section 1 – Introduction to the Report 

 
1.1 The introduction of the National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) 

results in the withdrawal of previous national policy set out in PPS4 on 
Planning for Sustainable Economic Growth (2009) and it is important that 
Gravesham’s emerging policies for the town centre and future retail 
development are reviewed in light of this change. 

 
1.2 In addition, outputs from the Retail Study Update (2012) are now available 

and need to be taken into account in refining policy whilst regard has also to 
be given to representations received as a result of the recent Gravesham 
Growth Scenarios and Core Strategy – Regulation 25 Update consultation 
undertaken between 27th October and 22nd December 2011.1 

 
1.3 This note undertakes this task by:- 
 

• Setting out the basis of national policy and how it was interpreted in 
the Gravesham Growth Scenarios and Core Strategy – Regulation 25 
Update consultation document; 

 
• Presenting the conclusions of the Retail Study Update (2012) and the 

implications for emerging policy; 
 

• Establishing the scale of ‘town centre’ type uses to be accommodated 
over the Local Plan period; 

 
• Considering options on where this development might be 

accommodated within the town centre; 
 

• Reviewing the key representations received on these issues as a 
result of the Gravesham Growth Scenarios and Core Strategy – 
Regulation 25 Update consultation; 

 
• Setting out responses to the above representations; and 

 
• Reaching conclusions in respect of the form of draft policy that will be 

taken forward within the submission version of the Local Plan 
following further targeted consultation.  
 

                                                           
1 The Retail Study Update (2012) should be read in conjunction with the Gravesham LDF Retail and 
Commercial Leisure Study (Dec 2009); Addendum to the Gravesham LDF Retail and Commercial 
Leisure Study (July 2010); Health Check Update of Gravesend Town Centre (May 2011); Gravesend 
Wider Town Centre Baseline Report (Oct 2011) and the Gravesend Town Centre Strategy Review 
(2005). 

Page 70



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

2 
 

 
Section 2 - The basis of national policy and its  

interpretation in the Gravesham context 
 
2.1 National planning policy for town centres is based on facilitating competition 

in the interests of the consumer whilst promoting sustainable patterns and 
forms of development by directing investment in the first instance to the most 
central and accessible locations within a designated network and hierarchy of 
centres.   

 
2.2 The Local Plan should clearly articulate what this network and hierarchy of 

centres is in the local context and set out in broad terms where new 
investment over the plan period will be directed, allocating sites which are 
considered strategic within the Core Strategy document. 

 
2.3 There are clearly cross-boundary issues when it comes to the functional 

relationship of centres across the Dartford and Gravesham area and it is 
important therefore that the policies of the two authorities in particular are 
compatible.  The Dartford LDF Core Strategy has recently been adopted and 
this relies to a large extent on the agreed policy formula set out within the 
South East Plan.  It is accepted that the Gravesham Local Plan should do 
likewise.2 

 
2.4 On this basis, the main network and hierarchy of centres across the two areas 

is deemed to be:- 
 

Centre Status Function 
Bluewater Regional Centre Specialist high level regional 

retail function serving wider 
than immediate local needs. 

Gravesend Town 
Centre 

Traditional Town Centre Secondary Centre within 
regional hierarchy of centres 
to which investment intended 
to service demand within 
local catchment should be 
directed in the first instance. 

Dartford Town Centre Traditional Town Centre Secondary Centre within 
regional hierarchy of centres 
to which investment intended 
to service demand within 
local catchment should be 
directed in the first instance. 

Ebbsfleet Planned New Centre New higher order local 
centre (below traditional 
town centres) designed to 
serve needs arising from 
resident and daytime 
population of new Ebbsfleet 
development.  Scale of 

                                                           
2 The hierarchy of retail centres in Policy TC1 of the South East Plan (2009) shows Chatham as a 
Primary Regional Centre (and as a Centre for Significant Change), with both the traditional town centres 
of Dartford and Gravesend as secondary Regional Centres.  At a sub-regional level, Policy KTG5 
identifies Bluewater as a specialist Regional Shopping Centre with Dartford, Gravesend, Sittingbourne 
and, on a larger scale, Chatham to be developed as major town centres at which new mixed retail, 
leisure and service uses will be concentrated.  Retail and service development at Ebbsfleet is to be 
provided at a scale and character to serve the resident and daytime population.  The new market centre 
at Eastern Quarry is not included within this hierarchy and is therefore presumed to be subservient. 

Page 71



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

3 
 

centre will depend on nature 
of development that finally 
comes forward and will be 
subject to retail impact 
assessment to ensure it has 
no significant adverse impact 
on traditional town centres. 

 
2.5 Below this level of centre, there are a range of other more local centres 

catering for the day-to-day needs of local communities, neighbourhoods and 
villages.  The expansion of these (or creation of new ones on major sites) 
would be permitted where the floorspace is compatible with meeting 
immediate local needs. 

 
2.6 Where proposals come forward for new town centre type uses other than 

those specifically designed to meet local needs in a local centre, the 
expectation is that they would be directed in the first instance to the most 
central location – in this instance, Gravesend Town Centre.   

 
2.7 Where no suitable sites exist within the town centre, development could be 

directed sequentially to edge-of-centre and then out-of-centre locations 
provided such development has no significant adverse impact on existing or 
planned centres. 

 
2.8 What is meant by the term ‘town centre’ using the sequential approach can 

differ according to the type of use being promoted and on this the emerging 
Local Plan follows closely the format that was set out in PPS4 on Planning for 
Sustainable Economic Growth (2009).  The National Planning Policy 
Framework definitions introduce some subtle changes and this aspect is dealt 
with below. 

 
2.9 The practical implication of the typology used in the Gravesham Growth 

Scenarios and Core Strategy – Regulation 25 Update consultation document 
is set out in the table below. 

 
Position within 

Sequential Hierarchy 
Definition Policy Implication 

Primary Shopping 
Area 

Comprised of the town centre 
primary shopping frontage 
and closely related and 
contiguous secondary 
frontages, including built form 
related to those frontages. 

Sequentially preferable 
location for all new retail 
development other than that 
specifically intended to serve 
immediate local needs within 
a local centre. 

Town Centre 
Commercial Core 

Comprised of Primary 
Shopping Area and other 
closely related land parcels 
making up town centre 
commercial/service core. 

Sequentially preferable 
location for all other town 
centre type uses to ensure 
we maintain a compact, vital 
and vibrant town centre. 

Edge-of-Centre (retail) Zone generally within 300 
metres of the Primary 
Shopping Area, taking into 
account accessibility and 
obstacles to pedestrian 
movement. 

Sequentially preferable 
location for all new retail 
development (other than 
local centre development 
above) where no suitable 
sites are available within 
Primary Shopping Area. 

Edge-of-Centre (other 
town centre uses) 

Zone generally within 300 
metres of the Town Centre 

Sequentially preferable 
location for other town centre 

Page 72



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

4 
 

Commercial Core, taking into 
account accessibility and 
obstacles to pedestrian 
movement. 

type uses (other than local 
centre development above) 
where no suitable sites are 
available within Town Centre 
Commercial Core. 

Out-of-Centre Sites lying outside the town 
centre and beyond the edge-
of-centre. 

Least preferable option for 
location of new town centre 
type uses. 

 
2.10 In terms of the application of policy, it is important that the Primary Shopping 

Area and the Town Centre Commercial Core are spatial defined on the Local 
Plan Proposals Map because these are central to the application of the 
sequential approach. 

 
2.11 The October 2011 Gravesham Growth Scenarios and Core Strategy – 

Regulation 25 Update consultation document contains a plan of the town 
centre showing what we consider to be the Primary Shopping Area and Town 
Centre Commercial Core.  The latter equates to the maximum extent of the 
town centre for the purposes of the sequential approach set out in the 
National Planning Policy Framework, although a wider town centre boundary 
is also shown indicating those residential areas and other land uses closely 
related to the town centre. 

 

 
 
2.12 As noted above, some of the definitions used in the National Planning Policy 

Framework differ from those used previously in PPS4 on Planning for 
Sustainable Economic Growth (2009).3 The new definitions of relevance are:- 

                                                           
3  The definitions refer to zones or buffers as to what should be considered edge-of-centre for retail and 
other town centre types uses.  For guideline purposes only, these zones are shown in plan form in the 
appendices. 

Page 73



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

5 
 

 
Town centre: Area defined on the local authority’s proposal map, 
including the primary shopping area and areas predominantly 
occupied by main town centre uses within or adjacent to the primary 
shopping area. References to town centres or centres apply to city 
centres, town centres, district centres and local centres but exclude 
small parades of shops of purely neighbourhood significance. Unless 
they are identified as centres in Local Plans, existing out-of-centre 
developments, comprising or including main town centre uses, do not 
constitute town centres.  

 
Main town centre uses: Retail development (including warehouse 
clubs and factory outlet centres); leisure, entertainment facilities the 
more intensive sport and recreation uses (including cinemas, 
restaurants, drive-through restaurants, bars and pubs, night-clubs, 
casinos, health and fitness centres, indoor bowling centres, and bingo 
halls); offices; and arts, culture and tourism development (including 
theatres, museums, galleries and concert halls, hotels and conference 
facilities).  

 
Primary shopping area: Defined area where retail development is 
concentrated (generally comprising the primary and those secondary 
frontages which are adjoining and closely related to the primary 
shopping frontage). 

Primary and secondary frontages: Primary frontages are likely to 
include a high proportion of retail uses which may include food, drinks, 
clothing and household goods. Secondary frontages provide greater 
opportunities for a diversity of uses such as restaurants, cinemas and 
businesses. 

 
Edge of centre: For retail purposes, a location that is well connected 
and up to 300 metres of the primary shopping area. For all other main 
town centre uses, a location within 300 metres of a town centre 
boundary. For office development, this includes locations outside the 
town centre but within 500 metres of a public transport interchange. In 
determining whether a site falls within the definition of edge of centre, 
account should be taken of local circumstances. 

 
Out of centre: A location which is not in or on the edge of a centre but 
not necessarily outside the urban area. 

Out of town: A location out of centre that is outside the existing urban 
area. 

2.13 Overall, the changes to the definitions are not major and it is suggested that 
they do not lead to a requirement to fundamentally review the town centre 
map shown above.   

 
2.14 However, the following points are made:- 
 

• It is inevitable that what is shown as Primary or Secondary Frontage is 
a matter of interpretation and can be affected at the margins by 
relatively minor changes over time.  The southern end of High Street 

Page 74



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

6 
 

for example is comprised primarily of small independent traders and 
there are a number of empty units but the uses here are mainly A1 
retail so it could be included within the Primary Frontage as far north 
as Jury Street/the Market as per the Gravesham Local Plan First 
Review (1994).  Including this area within the Primary Frontage would 
also assist in reinforcing perceptions of the importance placed on the 
High Street in regeneration terms. 

 
• Showing Gravesend Market as a link between High Street and Queen 

Street on the plan would also be appropriate as this is a distinctive 
feature and the National Planning Policy Framework places emphasis 
on the role markets can play in promoting competitive town centre 
environments. 

 
• The sequential test applies to all main town centre uses, including all 

office developments apart from small scale rural offices.  However, it 
will be noted that the definition of ‘edge of centre’ for offices now 
includes a zone within 500 metres of a public transport interchange.  
Whilst the term ‘public transport interchange’ is not defined within the 
document, for practical purposes in the Gravesham context it would 
mean Gravesend Station/Barrack Row (within the context of the town 
centre) and Ebbsfleet Station (within the context of the already 
permitted Ebbsfleet development).  This will need to be made explicit 
in the text of the emerging Local Plan and their locations shown on the 
Proposals Map and Town Centre Diagram. 

 
• As will be explained below, it is not considered necessary at this stage 

to undertake an assessment of any need to expand the town centre to 
ensure a sufficient supply of suitable sites to accommodate town 
centre type development. 

 

Page 75



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

7 
 

 
Section 3 - The Retail Study Update (2012) and the implications  

for emerging policy 
 
3.1 Further work has been undertaken on both the quantitative and qualitative 

need for additional retail floorspace over the LDF period as this is a key town 
centre use that will have to be taken into consideration in developing our 
spatial strategy. Whilst this work was undertaken before the introduction of 
the National Planning Policy Framework, the basic conclusions reached are 
not affected by this change. 

 
3.2 Key quantitative outputs in terms of need for additional convenience and 

comparison floorspace from the Retail Study Update (2012) are set out in the 
table below:4 

 
Summary of quantitative retail need 2016 2021 2026 2031 
Comparison goods – net sqm 4,400 12,600 18,100 24,200 
Comparison goods – gross sqm 5,900 16,800 24,200 32,200 
Convenience goods – net sq.m -600 500 1,300 2,100 
Convenience goods – gross sqm -700 700 1,700 2,900 
Total – net sq.m - 13,100 19,400 26,300 
Total – gross sq.m - 17,500 25,900 35,100 

 
3.3 In addition to the above, the retail consultants recommend that Gravesend 

town centre should be the focus for new retail development, concentrating 
initially on needs to 2016 then to 2021. 

 
3.4 The Council’s retail consultants were also asked to provide guidance on the 

following issues:- 
 

• Format of development and the need for large modern retail units 
vis-à-vis smaller shops in Gravesend town centre 

• Distinguishing a quantitative need for retail warehouse 
floorspace 

• Guidance on convenience floorspace in Gravesend town centre 
 
3.5 The advice received was as follows. 
 

3.6 In terms of the format of development, the retail consultants are of 
the opinion that the issue is primarily a qualitative one, although it is 
linked to the quantitative need for additional floorspace and the need 
to maintain a market share.   

 

                                                           
4 The quantitative outputs are based on 100% population growth as represented by a Gravesham 
housing target of 5,200 dwellings to 2031 based on the Zero Net Migration scenario set out in the 
Gravesham Growth Scenarios and Core Strategy – Regulation 25 Update consultation document.  On 
the 6th February 2012, Gravesham’s Cabinet agreed that officers should work toward producing a Core 
Strategy based on a zero-net migration requirement to 2028 with a revised target of 4,600 dwellings.  
However, as the housing trajectory and broad spatial distribution remains the same over the period to 
2028, the retail projections set out above remain sufficiently robust for the purposes of this exercise. 
 
Convenience retailing is the provision of everyday essential items, including food, drinks, 
newspapers/magazines and confectionery. 
 
Comparison retailing is the provision of items not obtained on a frequent basis. These include clothing, 
footwear, household and recreational goods. 

Page 76



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

8 
 

3.7 To understand why this is the case, the consultants refer to the 
concept of ‘polarisation’ and examine the role of smaller stores before 
reaching their conclusions. 

 
3.8 The continuing polarisation by retailers towards larger stores in larger 

centres is seen as a significant and long term trend.  Retailers 
recognise that greater efficiency can be achieved by having a strategic 
network of large stores offering a full range.   

 
3.9 Rather than having a large network of smaller stores, they are 

therefore increasingly seeking to serve larger population catchments 
from larger stores. This trend is also driven by consumers who are 
becoming more discerning and are increasingly prepared to travel 
further.  

 
3.10 The retail consultants contend therefore that we are witnessing a 

growing concentration of comparison goods expenditure in a smaller 
number of larger centres and that this concentration of retailing in 
larger centres is a potential threat to Gravesend town centre.  

 
3.11 This is because in a climate whereby retailers are looking to cut costs 

and increase efficiency, they are unlikely to be willing to accept 
constrained or deficient units for the sake of gaining representation - 
some retailers might therefore choose to consolidate their offer in 
other centres where they can serve a similar catchment while 
operating from larger and more efficient units. 

 
3.12 The retail consultants also caution that the economic downturn might, 

in the longer term, result in a departure from this trend whereby 
developers will no longer be willing to take the risks associated with 
large scale, complicated town centre schemes.  

 
3.13 It is suggested therefore that we might therefore begin to see smaller, 

simpler schemes which are more viable in rather than the more 
ambitious projects of the last decade.  In light of these trends and the 
scarcity of investment, the retail consultants advise that it is important 
that opportunities for appropriate investment within town centres such 
as Gravesend are encouraged. 

 
3.14 In terms of the role of smaller stores, the retail consultants contend 

that the decline of the independent/specialist convenience sector in 
the UK is well-documented.  

 
3.15 The New Economics Foundation in its work on Clone Town Britain5 

asserts that the loss of traditional stores, caused by the rise of the 
large superstore operators and national multiples, is resulting in the 
‘homogenisation of our high streets’.  

 
3.16 However, independent retailers continue to play an important role and 

a healthy independent sector can contribute significantly to a town’s 
overall wellbeing.  

 

                                                           
5 New Economics Foundation – Re-imaging the High Street: Escape from Clone Town Britain (2010) 

Page 77



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

9 
 

3.17 A thriving independent sector can also be a significant factor in 
attracting visitors to a town and supporting local businesses whilst 
successful street markets can also play an important part in a town’s 
independent retail sector –  particularly in terms of keeping more 
money circulating in the local economy, providing more jobs in 
comparison to supermarkets, supporting retail diversity, and providing 
a low risk environment where new enterprise can flourish.  

 
3.18 The retail consultants also note the content of the Portas Review 

(December 2011) and the recommendations that seek to achieve 
more balanced High Streets, including ideas such as Town Teams, 
National Market Day, a requirement for an affordable shops quota and 
the idea larger retailers should support and mentor local businesses 
and independent retailers. 

 
3.19 The conclusion reached by the retail consultants in terms of the 

format of development is that Gravesend town centre faces 
competition from surrounding higher order centres and it is a 
candidate to suffer from the continuing polarisation trend.   

 
3.20 They see national retailers as a crucial element of successful town 

centres in order to attract footfall and linked trips spending with other 
shops and services in the town centre and conclude that if the town 
does not deliver an adequate supply of floorspace to meet the needs 
of retailers, then such retailers will look either to other centres that are 
expanding – or consider out of centre sites. 

 
3.21 However, whilst it is necessary to have a sufficient supply of modern 

floorspace, they are also of the opinion that the role and function of 
smaller stores and independents should not be ignored as they can 
contribute to the vitality and viability of centres and provide an 
important attraction factor.   

 
3.22 As a healthy independent offer can help a town to distinguish itself 

from its competitors, they recommend that larger units should not 
therefore be promoted at the expense of smaller units and the 
independent offer in the town. 

 
3.23 The retail consultants do not expect Gravesend town centre to 

compete directly for spending within destinations such as Bluewater, 
Lakeside or Westfield Stratford City as these will remain higher order 
destinations attractive to shoppers.  However, for sustainability and 
social inclusion reasons, they conclude that Gravesend town centre 
should meet the shopping needs of its catchment in order to fulfil its 
role in the community.  

 
3.24 To do this, Gravesend will need a range of shops and services that 

mean residents do not necessarily have to travel long distances to 
undertake their shopping and leisure activities.  The conclusion 
reached therefore is that the requirement for modern larger units (say 
between 250 and 500 sq.m floorspace) in Gravesend remains crucial 
if the town is to maintain its market share. 6 

                                                           
6   It should be noted that the Dartford Retail and Commercial Leisure Study (July 2010) actually 
reaches a similar conclusion at 3.45 – 3.48 where it is stated that the retail structure is now increasingly 

Page 78



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

10 
 

 
3.25 However, they note that floorspace alone is not always the solution 

and consider the Council should carefully consider how it balances the 
requirement to deliver an enhanced retail offer in larger units, with 
other policy requirements for vital and viable town centres that include 
a full range of shops to provide competition and choice - including a 
healthy independent offer. 

 
3.26 The solution to the above question in Gravesend town centre could be 

to either allow for a proportion of new developments to be occupied by 
smaller independent retailers. Alternatively, as new developments 
come forward, independent retailers could be directed to secondary 
frontages - hand in hand with qualitative improvements to these 
elements of the town centre.   

 
3.27 Additionally, the retail consultants recommend this should be 

combined with an enhanced leisure and cultural offer taking 
advantage of heritage attractions and its riverside location – 
contributing an overall town entre experience that is not offered by its 
competition.  

 
3.28 On retail warehouse floorspace, the retail consultants note that 

previous studies ‘ring fence’ 15% of expenditure growth to be 
converted to retail warehouse needs.  In their opinion, this remains an 
appropriate proportion for bulky goods since it takes into account core 
bulky items such as DIY, furniture and white goods because there are 
some goods where it is simply not practical to sell from traditional high 
street locations.  

 
3.29 However, they also note that retail warehouses will typically sell a 

much wider range of goods and these are not necessarily items that 
cannot be sold in the town centre.  

 
3.30 From a policy perspective, because national policy is primarily 

concerned with the class of goods when planning for needs (i.e. 
comparison goods and convenience goods needs) they see no policy 
requirement to distinguish a need for retail warehouse floorspace from 
other comparison goods needs.  

 
3.31 It is their recommendation therefore that the Local Plan focus on 

comparison needs (in aggregate) with any applications to meet a pure 
bulky need being treated on their individual merits – i.e. that policy 
should start from the presumption of ‘town centre first’ with the need 
for floorspace in the retail warehouse format being considered on a 
case-by-case basis. 

 
3.32 In terms of the case for additional convenience goods floorspace in 

Gravesend town centre, the retail consultants note that identified 
needs over the period of the Local Plan are likely to be modest and 

                                                                                                                                                                      
dominated by large companies requiring larger shop units (500 – 2,000 sq.m plus) and a polarisation in 
the retail hierarchy reinforcing the trend toward higher order centres and out-of-centre developments 
increasing in importance.  The Dartford report therefore suggests that larger units might be required 
than is shown in the Gravesham study, although flexibility of layout would need to be maintained to 
adapt to changing market needs in the interests of sustainability. 

Page 79



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

11 
 

that these could be met within the Heritage Quarter development site 
within the town centre. 

 
3.33 However, they do go on to consider whether there is scope for a 

higher amount of convenience floorspace within the town centre after 
taking into account overtrading and reaching the conclusion that there 
is no clear requirement to plan to increase the market share of 
Gravesham destinations to meet a gap in provision. 

 
3.34 As a starting point, the retail consultants point out that the Council has 

no duty to find sites to meet a significant uplift in convenience 
floorspace with its Local Plan as there is no clear need for it in the 
short term.  Having said this, they do note that because national policy 
encourages investment in town centres an increased level of provision 
could be justified on the following basis:- 

 
- That it represents the diversion of expenditure from out 

of centre stores such as Sainsbury’s or Morrisons 
 
- That it represents an increase in Gravesend’s 

convenience goods market share from outer zones and 
thus draws more of the rural hinterland spending into 
the town centre 

 
- That it relies on a qualitative case to justify an 

improvement to the convenience retail offer of the town 
centre providing improved consumer choice or 
improved retail facilities. 

 
3.35 Due to the marginal quantitative needs case in the Borough, the retail 

consultants consider applications that prioritise convenience goods 
floorspace over comparison goods needs in the town should be 
considered carefully – since the priority should be to improve the 
town’s comparison goods offer.  

 
3.36 However, they see no reason why additional convenience floorspace 

over and above the quantitative needs set out in this update cannot be 
supported provided the floorspace is located centrally in order to 
maximise linked trips and contribute to the vitality and viability of the 
town centre.  

 
3.37 This recommendation is subject to the caveat that any such proposals 

would need to be accompanied by an impact assessment to evaluate 
whether a significant adverse impact on existing or proposed centres 
is likely to result and the retail consultants suggest that any policies 
should be explicit in this requirement. 

Page 80



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

12 
 

Section 4 - Scale of town centre uses to be accommodated  
 

4.1 This section considers the scale of town centre type development to be 
accommodated over the Local Plan period, commencing first with the A1 
retail element before moving on to look at commercial leisure, cultural, office 
and other uses. 

 
4.2 Assessment of A1 retail development needs to be accommodated 
 
4.3 The table at paragraph 3.2 above sets out the latest estimates of quantitative 

need for retail floorspace after making allowance for the existing permission 
for Sainsbury’s store at Pepperhill, Northfleet and three small Tesco Express 
stores developed since 2007.7 The retail update 2012 defines these as 
“Category 1 (hard commitments)”. The update also includes Category 2 (soft 
commitments) which are defined as those schemes that have been granted 
planning permission (or that the Council have resolved to grant planning 
permission subject to a Section 106 agreement) but the precise scale and/or 
timing of the proposal is currently uncertain. 

 
4.4 It should be noted that the figures include no allowance for other existing or 

soft commitments within the retail catchment or their phasing, so these figures 
should only be seen as a broad indication of the level of need for retail 
floorspace to be accommodated over the Local Plan period.   

 
4.5 Major retail development would therefore be expected to be supported by up-

to-date retail statements to justify the quantum of floorspace being provided 
and the phasing of delivery at the application stage.   

 
4.6 However, as emerging Local Plan policy also needs to take into account the 

implications of existing commitments and adopted policies within 
neighbouring authorities these commitments are set out in the table below. 

 
Site Nature of Commitment 
Riverview Park 
Garage, Whinfell 
Way, Gravesend. 

Planning permission granted through appeal under 
application reference GR/2011/0762 for Tesco Express and 
additional A1 unit.  514 sq.m net tradable area within use 
class A1 retail. 
 

Gala Bingo, New 
Road, Gravesend 

Resolution to permit mixed-use development under 
application reference GR/2010/0773 in town centre location 
including 5 small  A1/2/3 retail units with total floor area of 
296 sq.m gross internal area. 
 

Gravesend 
Transport 
Quarter, Barrack 
Row Gravesend 

Details pursuant to outline planning permission 
GR/2010/0098 approved under application reference 
GR/2011/0246 for transport interchange building in town 
centre location including two units with combined floorspace 
of 205 sq.m gross internal area to be used in 
A1/A2/A3/A4/B1a use class. 

Former Lord 
Street Car Park 
site, Gravesend 

Extant planning permission under application reference 
GR/2003/0315 allows for 956 sq.m community/commercial 
space in 4 units plus 6 live-work units where under Condition 

                                                           
7   The Tesco Express stores are located outside the town centre at Perry Street, Northfleet (conversion 
of existing A1 retail furniture store and post office to A1 convenience store and A5 KFC outlet); Whitehill 
Road, Gravesend (conversion and extension of existing A4 public house); and Valley Drive, Gravesend 
(new build on site of former garage). 

Page 81



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

13 
 

14 the ground floor may be used in the A1 use class.  Whilst 
technically this permission has been implemented it is 
unlikely to be completed as the developer has withdrawn. 
 

Former 
Gravesend Police 
Station, Windmill 
Street, Gravesend 

GR/2009/0409 - Demolition of police station and erection of 
four buildings, four-six storeys in height to provide a total of 
86 self contained flats, comprising 30 x one bedroom, 48 x 
two bedroom and 8 x three bedroom flats with approximately 
923 sq. metres of commercial floorspace at ground floor 
level in blocks B, C, D; laying out of 98 car parking spaces 
and cycle stores in basement. (3 year permission from date 
of decision 13/8/2009) 

Lafarge Mixed-
Use Development, 
Northfleet. 

Resolution to permit major mixed-use development of former 
Lafarge cement works at Northfleet under application 
reference GR/2009/0238, including an extension to The Hive 
local centre.  Permission for up to 850 sq.m gross internal 
area within use classes A1/A2/A3/A4/A5. 

Albion Quayside, 
Canal Basin, 
Gravesend 

Resolution to permit major mixed-use development of 
industrial area immediately east of Gravesend town centre 
under application reference GR/2011/0713.  Includes up to a 
maximum 3,800 sq.m gross external area in use classes 
A1/A2/A3/A4/A5/B1a.  Correspondence indicates that 
maximum extent of retail will not exceed 2,456.8 sq.m gross 
internal area so retail assessment was not required.  As this 
component will also include A2/A3/A4/A5 uses, actual A1 
retail is likely to be considerably smaller and commensurate 
with creation of local centre serving development and 
immediate environs.  Final mix to be agreed via conditions. 

Sainsbury’s 
Store, Wingfield 
Bank, Northfleet 

Permission for extension to existing out-of-centre store 
granted under application reference GR/2010/0898.  
Increase in floor area – 1872 sq.m net convenience; 1,559 
sq.m net comparison.  Already taken into account in 
calculating retail headroom figures. 

Ebbsfleet Major mixed-use development straddling boundary of 
Gravesham and Dartford Boroughs with outline planning 
permission under GR/1996/0035 and DA/96/00047.  
Permission allows for large centre serving needs of 
development within Station Quarter North (Dartford) and 
smaller local centres serving rest of development.  Whilst the 
total quantum of A1 retail floorspace permitted across the 
whole of the development appears to be limited to 20,500 
sq.m gross, what comes forward over time will depend on 
the final scale and mix of development as retail has to be 
justified upon submission of details pursuant via retail 
assessment.  Further explanation of the structure of the 
Ebbsfleet permission as it relates to retail development is 
contained in an appendix. Assumptions as to phasing of 
delivery within the Dartford LDF Core Strategy and 
associated retail study is set out below below. 

Eastern Quarry Major mixed-use development lying within the Dartford 
Borough Council area granted outline planning permission 
under DA/03/01134/OUT.  Retail is distributed between a 
market centre and a number of local centres, the delivery of 
which would be phased as the scheme is developed out 
from east to west.  Conditions limit the total amount of 
floorspace in the ‘A’ use classes to 26,000 sq.m gross, with 
A1 use class limited to a maximum 16,900 sq.m gross.   
Assumptions as to phasing of delivery within the Dartford 
LDF Core Strategy and associated retail study set out in 
separate section below. 

Page 82



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

14 
 

Northfleet 
West Sub-Station 

Mixed-use development lying between Eastern Quarry and 
Ebbsfleet development sites within the Dartford Borough 
Council area.  Resolution to permit under application 
reference DA/05/00308.  Draft condition 05 limits floorspace 
in A1/A2/A3/A4/A5 use classes to a maximum of 2,500 sq.m 
gross.  Assumptions as to phasing of delivery within the 
Dartford LDF Core Strategy and associated retail study set 
out below. 

 
4.7 The adopted Dartford LDF Core Strategy (2011) does not assume that all of 

the Ebbsfleet or Eastern Quarry will be built-out by 2026, although it is made 
clear that it is down to the market at what rate development will come forward.   

 
4.8 In terms of the retail component, the above document provides the following 

guideline figures on provision of shopping floorspace at the main Dartford 
centres through to 2026.8  

 
 

Floorspace 
sq.m net 

Dartford 
Town 
Centre 

Bluewater Ebbsfleet Eastern 
Quarry 

Longfield 

Convenience Up to 5,000 - 2,200 3,300 - 
Comparison 15,000 to 

19,000 
Approx 
5,000 to 
2016, in 

larger retail 
units which 
support its 
specialist 
role for 

comparison 
goods 

7,600 5,700 - 

Total Up to 
24,000 

Approx 
5,000 to 
2016 

9,800 9,000 - 

 Source: Adopted Dartford LDF Core Strategy (2011) Table 4 page 64. 
 
 
4.9 The above figures on a more detailed breakdown contained in the Dartford 

Retail and Commercial Leisure Study (July 2010).  This breakdown is 
provided in the additional tables below. 

                                                           
8 Allocation to Bluewater to 2016 is based on maintaining existing market share so would not have an 
adverse impact on Gravesend town centre.  Dartford comparison floorspace figures based on 20% uplift 
in market share from immediate catchment.  Gravesend draws majority of its trade from Dartford zones 
9a, 9b, 10a and 10b and the main impact will be from the new centres at Ebbsfleet and Eastern Quarry.  
Dartford Retail and Leisure Study (2010) [see appendix 9b table 4] shows Dartford’s market share in the 
last three of these zones also falling through to 2026.  Dartford’s aspirations in terms of increased 
market share for comparison goods is therefore only likely to have a marginal effect on Gravesend’s 
position.  It should also be noted that whilst the Medway Retail Needs Study (March 2009) also tests an 
increased market share scenario, the Gravesend Zone 8 shown covers a very large area extending 
significantly outside Gravesham Borough and it is likely that any impact on Gravesend town centre 
would therefore be marginal.  In any event, neither the Dartford or Medway positions would preclude 
Gravesend from seeking to maintain its existing market share to support consumer choice.  

Page 83



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

15 
 

 
 

 
Assumed phasing of delivery of convenience retail floorspace  

sq.m gross (sq.m net) 
 

Site 2016 2021 2026 
Station Quarter 
North 
(Ebbsfleet) 

2,500 (1,625) 2,900 (1,885) 3,150 (2,048) 

Station Quarter 
South 
(Ebbsfleet) 

- - 250 (163) 

Eastern Quarry - 250 (163) 4,500 (2,925) 
Northfleet West 
Sub-Station 

- 500 (325) 500 (325) 

 Source:  DBC – Dartford Retail and Leisure Study (2010).  Appendix 5B tables 8, 10 and 12 
 

 
Assumed phasing of delivery of comparison retail floorspace  

sq.m gross (sq.m net) 
 

Site 2016 2021 2026 
Station Quarter 
North 
(Ebbsfleet) 

3,100 (2,170) 6,300 (4,410) 7,250 (5,075) 

Station Quarter 
South 
(Ebbsfleet) 

400 (280) 2,100 (1,470) 3,650 (2,555) 

Eastern Quarry - 200 (140) 6,200 (4,340) 
Northfleet West 
Sub-Station 

- 1,500 (1,050) 2,000 (1,400) 

 Source:  DBC – Dartford Retail and Leisure Study (2010).  Appendix 8B tables 8, 10, and 12 
 
4.10 Whilst it is not certain that the Ebbsfleet and Eastern Quarry developments 

will come forward in precisely the form or phasing as set out above, it is 
possible to use the data provided to determine the compatibility of the 
Gravesham and Dartford policies.    

 
4.9 This is important to ensure that the position of Gravesend town centre is 

maintained within the overall retail hierarchy whilst allowing the new lower 
order centres to come forward at Ebbsfleet and Eastern Quarry to meet the 
needs arising from those developments.  

 
4.10 Because of differences in the areas covered and assumptions made, the 

outputs from the Dartford and Gravesham retail studies are not directly 
comparable.  However, it is possible to draw some broad conclusions that can 
be used to inform our analysis.9 

 
4.11 This is particularly the case because the Dartford Retail and Commercial 

Leisure Study (July 2010) sets out the assumed local catchment of the 
Ebbsfleet and Eastern Quarry centres and provides estimates of both their 
market share and impact on Gravesend town centre. 

                                                           
9  For the purposes of this exercise, the outputs of the Dartford study are taken as a given because they 
have informed the adopted Dartford LDF Core Strategy (2011).  Whilst there are differences between 
the two studies, the outputs in terms of trade draw and turnover of the combined Ebbsfleet/Eastern 
Quarry centres can still be used to inform our analysis.    

Page 84



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

16 
 

4.12 Because the Gravesham Retail Update (2012) has already shown that the 
retail headroom for convenience goods is relatively low over the Local Plan 
period, with any requirement for additional provision likely to be qualitative, 
we concentrate on the comparison goods element only.  The assumed impact 
of the Ebbsfleet and Eastern Quarry centres on Gravesham from the Dartford 
study in terms of comparison goods is therefore shown below. 

 
 Comparison Goods Expenditure for Gravesend - % market share from each Dartford retail 

zone showing estimated impact of retail development at Ebbsfleet/Eastern Quarry 
Retail Zones (As shown on plan below) 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7a 7b 8a 8b 9a 9b 10a 10b 
2009 
market 
share 

0.3 1.9 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.4 0.0 8.7 1.1 18.7 34.0 26.7 53.6 

2016 
market 
share 

0.3 1.9 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.4 0.0 8.7 0.9 18.1 33.4 24.8 53.6 

Reduction 
2009 - 16 

- - - - - - - - - -0.2 -0.6 -0.6 -1.9 - 

2021 
market 
share 

0.3 1.9 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.4 0.0 8.7 0.3 17.9 33.4 22.3 53.4 

Reduction 
2009 - 21 

- - - - - - - - - -0.8 -0.8 -0.6 -4.4 -0.2 

2026 
market 
share 

0.3 1.9 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.4 0.0 8.7 0.2 17.7 32.3 23.2 53.4 

Reduction 
2009 - 26 

- - - - - - - - - -0.9 -1.0 -1.7 -3.5 -0.2 

Source:  DBC – Dartford Retail and Leisure Study (2010).  Appendix 8B tables 4, 14, 16 and 18 
 
4.13 The defined catchment of the Ebbsfleet and Eastern Quarry centres (Dartford 

retail zones 8b/9a/9b/10a/10b) is shown in red on the plan below.
 

 
 Source:  DBC – Dartford Retail and Leisure Study (2010). Plan 1 
 

Page 85



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

17 
 

4.14 The Dartford Retail and Leisure Study (2010) estimates that anticipated 
comparison retail floorspace at the Ebbsfleet and Eastern Quarry centres 
area will divert around £1.91m (1.4%) from Gravesend by 2016 and £8.73m 
(3.5%) by 2026.10 

 
4.15 This is not likely to have a significant adverse impact on comparison retail 

trade in Gravesend because the Gravesham retail update report anticipates 
comparison turnover from its wider catchment will have risen to £251.2 in 
2016 and £375.4m in 2026.11  This means that the impact on total comparison 
turnover as a result of the diversion of trade from Gravesend to the new 
centres would only be around 0.76% in 2016 and 2.35% in 2026.12 

 
4.16 However, it is also important that we consider the potential impact on the new 

centres in Ebbsfleet and Eastern Quarry should Gravesend town centre seek 
to maintain its full existing market share by attempting to accommodate the 
full quantum of comparison goods floorspace shown table at 3.2 above.  

 
4.17 Given this would involve the clawback of £8.73m in comparison trade from 

the new centres at Ebbsfleet and Eastern Quarry by 2026 compared to a total 
estimated comparison turnover of £60.17m (14.5% of total turnover) then it is 
possible a significant adverse impact could result.13 

 
4.18 So how far would the potential comparison retail headroom of Gravesend 

town centre be affected by any need to reduce planned floorspace to avoid a 
significant adverse impact on those centres and to ensure that only 
development of an appropriate scale is accommodated? 

 
4.19 Given the Dartford study assumes that a total impact of 2.35% on Gravesend 

town centre from the new centres at Ebbsfleet and Eastern Quarry is 
acceptable then the reverse must also be true.  However, as the anticipated 
rate of comparison retail spending growth post 2016 set out in the Dartford 
study is 4.7% per annum, it would be reasonable to suggest that a margin of 
this order would be acceptable given any adverse impact could potentially be 
made up in one year.14 

 
4.20 The following table draws on information extrapolated from the Dartford retail 

report for the years 2016, 2021 and 2026 to provide amended comparison 
retail headroom figures for Gravesend town centre after making an allowance 
for the trade draw of the new centres at Ebbsfleet and Eastern Quarry. 

 
4.21 This is shown as a range indicative full impact (i.e. accommodating full trade 

diversion by the new centres of £8.73m by 2026) or a reduced level of impact 
with Gravesend town centre retaining a marginally improved market share 
(i.e. with Gravesend town centre reducing that trade draw by 4.5% to £8.34m 
by 2026) as a measure for sensitivity testing purposes.   

 
                                                           
10  Dartford Retail and Leisure Study (2010). Appendix 8B Table 20. 
11  Gravesham Retail Study Update (2012).Table 5b. 
12  The Dartford Retail and Leisure Study (2010) at Appendix 8B Table 20 estimates a 3.5% impact at 
2026 but this is based on the Dartford retail catchment only.  The 2.35% figure is based on trade lost to 
the new centres at Ebbsfleet and Eastern Quarry when compared against the total comparison turnover 
of Gravesend town centre at 2026 as set out in the Gravesham study (see footnote 6 above). 
13  Turnover figure from Dartford Retail and Leisure Study (2010) Appendix 8B Table 13. includes 20% 
inflow from areas outside defined retail zones. 
14 Dartford Retail and Leisure Study (2010) paragraph 7.20 based on Experian Retail Planner Briefing 
Note 7.0 August 2009.  ‘Ultra Long Term Trend’ for comparison retail growth post 2016. 

Page 86



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

18 
 

4.22 For the purposes of this exercise, the 2026 end-date is deemed sufficient to 
cover the full period of the emerging Gravesham Local Plan which is looking 
to 2028. 

 
  
Year Comparison 

retail need for 
year derived 

from 
Gravesham 
retail update 

(2012) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sq.m net 
 

(A) 

Trade 
diverted from 
Gravesend 
Town Centre 
as a result of 
new centres 
in Ebbsfleet/ 

Eastern 
Quarry 

 
 
 
 

£ million 
 

(B) 

Sales density 
comparison 
floorspace - 
High Street 

format 
From 

Gravesham 
retail update 

(2012) 
 
 
 
 

£/Sq.m net 
 

(C) 

Reduction in 
comparison 

retail 
floorspace 
needed to 

avoid adverse 
impact on  
new centres 
at Ebbsfleet/ 

Eastern 
Quarry 

 
 

Sq.m net 
 

(D) 

Comparison 
retail need  

fully avoiding 
adverse 
impact on  
new centres 
at Ebbsfleet/ 

Eastern 
Quarry 

 
 
 
 

Sqm.net 
 

(A – D) 

Comparison 
retail need for 

year with 
market share 
of Gravesend 
Town Centre 
retaining 

4.5% of trade 
draw from  
new centres 
at Ebbsfleet/ 

Eastern 
Quarry 

 
Sq.m net 

2016 4,333 1.9 4,947 384 3,949 3,660 
2021 12,590 6.94 5,395 1,286 11,304 11,361 
2026 18,142 8.73 5,884 1,484 16,658 16,725 

 
NB. Figure for 2021 in column B is based on reduced market shares for Gravesend town centre shown at 4.12 above 
as a proportion of total comparison goods allocation spend for zones 8b, 9a, 9b,10a and 10b for that year set out in 
Dartford Retail and Leisure Study (2010) Appendix 8B table 17.  Figures for 2016 and 2026 taken direct from 
Appendix 8b table 20 of that report.  Column D figure calculated by dividing Column B by column C.  Final column 
derived by reducing figure in column B by 4.5%. 
 
 
4.23 Based on the above, it is clear that the impact of the planned new centres at 

Ebbsfleet and Eastern Quarry would not constrain the ambition of the Council 
to maintain the retail position of Gravesend town centre within the hierarchy of 
centres set out at paragraph 2.4 above or at a wider North Kent level nor to 
refresh its offer to reflect the changing requirements of the market and the 
needs of the community it serves. 

 
4.24 In terms of other town centre type uses, it is very difficult to establish detailed 

requirements for the scale, form and land-take requirements of development 
to be accommodated over the Local Plan period.  The following analysis is 
based on evidence available, taking into account the implications of extant 
planning permissions. 

 
4.25 Commercial Leisure 
 
4.26 The Gravesham Retail and Commercial Leisure Study (2009) considers 

requirements for town centre type leisure uses using ONS Consumer Trends 
data and a Mosaic Public Sector analysis undertaken by Kent County 
Council.15   

 
4.27 It should be noted that this form of analysis is less well developed than that 

for retail needs and the outputs should therefore be treated as an indicative 
guide only.  It is also important to recognise that the original report was based 
on the South East Plan 9,300 dwelling target rather than the current reduced 

                                                           
15 ONS Consumer Trends, Quarter 2, 2008, No 49 and KCC Research and Intelligence Team for 
Gravesham Borough Council with work based on Experian Mosaic Public Sector – see paragraph 5.11 – 
5.12 of Gravesham Retail and Commercial Leisure Study (2009). 

Page 87



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

19 
 

figure so the level of population growth to support improved provision will also 
be lower.  

 
4.28 Having said this, it will also be recognised that the Council’s retail consultants 

still recommend that we should be attempting to combine retail with an 
enhanced leisure and cultural offer taking advantage of heritage attractions 
and the town centre’s riverside location – contributing an overall town centre 
experience that is not offered by its competition.  

 
4.29 Maintaining an awareness of the scope for new leisure facilities in town centre 

should therefore form an important part of our aspirations, even if we are not 
at present in a position to identify specific sites to accommodate them or 
indicate delivery mechanisms in the absence of current commercial interest. 

 
4.30 In terms of the leisure needs assessment, the Gravesham Retail and 

Commercial Leisure Study (2009) considers requirements for additional 
restaurants, cafes and bars;  facilities catering for games of chance; cultural 
services and hairdressing and personal grooming; and cinema and theatre. 

 
4.31 The conclusion reached is that there is scope for: 
 

• New branded/family restaurants and cafes – it is suggested that large 
modern units, well located and marketed, would help to attract these 
occupiers. 

 
• A new cinema, either a small multiplex or an arthouse/independent 

cinema.16 
 

• New hairdressing/personal grooming outlets. 
 

• A new health and fitness facility such as a gym.17 
  
4.32 However, the ability to attract new commercial leisure facilities into the town 

centre is likely to be constrained by extant planning permissions at Ebbsfleet 
and Eastern Quarry, which include a considerable quantum of D2 commercial 
leisure floorspace as part of the mix. 18   

  
4.33 This is well above the level of need likely to arise locally and will compete 

directly with the traditional town centres and existing leisure floorspace at 
Bluewater should those parts of the permissions be fully implemented. 

 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
16  It should be noted that the Dartford Retail and Commercial Leisure Study (2010) at 8.14 also 
identifies a possible requirement for another multiplex or two smaller cinemas in that catchment (which 
overlaps with Gravesham) by 2026. 
17 Recent applications for gyms at Imperial Business Park and Lion Business Park in out-of-centre 
locations have been justified by an inability to find suitable existing premises in the town centre. 
18 The Dartford Ebbsfleet outline planning permission (DA/96/00047) includes up to 24,750 sq.m gross 
floorspace for leisure and entertainment uses under use class D2 at Station Quarter North, whilst the 
Eastern Quarry II permission (DA/03/01134/OUT) allows for 24,000 sq.m gross in use class D2 subject 
to a condition requiring a Leisure Impact Assessment where the floor area of a single unit exceeds 
3,000 sq.m gross. 

Page 88



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

20 
 

4.34 Other Cultural Facilities 
 
4.35 In addition to the above, the Council commissioned a feasibility study on a 

new museum for Gravesham in 2010.19    
 
4.36 This recommended that the Council should explore the possibility of having a 

new museum serving the whole of Gravesham, located in the town centre and 
of sufficient scale to serve local needs whilst also drawing visitors into the 
area.  A number of alternative sites were considered, including the possibility 
of incorporating a facility in the Heritage Quarter development.   

 
4.37 In terms of scale, it was suggested that a museum incorporating core 

displays, a programme of changing exhibitions, events and learning 
opportunities could be accommodated in a built form building with 1,000 sq.m 
floorspace and could attract between 15 – 20,000 visitors per year. 

 
4.38 Whilst the Council’s Cabinet received the study and supported the 

recommendations, no formal decision has been made to progress the project 
and no site has been identified to accommodate the museum.20  Given this, it 
is not possible through the emerging Local Plan to be more definitive or 
allocate a specific site at this stage. 

 
4.39 It should also be noted that work is on-going at a corporate level to update the 

Council’s Cultural Strategy but this has not yet reached a stage where it can 
inform the emerging Local Plan. 

 
4.40 Town Centre Offices 
 
4.42 The Gravesham Economy and Employment Space Study (2009) provided 

estimates for B1 office space requirements (other than at Ebbsfleet) through 
to 2026 under a range of different scenarios based on the South East Plan 
strategy and a Gravesham housing target of 9,300 dwellings. 

 
4.43 These estimates are as follows:- 
 

 
Development Scenario 

B1 office floorspace requirement 
(excluding Ebbsfleet)* 

 
sq.m 

Baseline – assumes broad continuation of current 
trends with spin-off effects of Thames Gateway related 
housing growth but no major office development at 
Ebbsfleet before 2026. 

5,900 

Slow Ebbsfleet Development – assumes less buoyant 
economic conditions than below with rate of office 
development at Ebbsfleet halved and reduced spin-off 
effects in local economy. 

8,300 

Fast Ebbsfleet Development – assumes in addition to 
baseline that Gravesham part of Ebbsfleet and much of 
Dartford part will be developed by 2026 with spin-off 
effects in local economy. 

13,650 

* Source – Gravesham Economy and Employment Space Study (2009) paragraph 7.45, page 
60 table 7.5.   Figures includes 30% safety margin to allow choice of sites and flexibility.   

 

                                                           
19 Pat Astley Cooper and Val Bott - A Museum for Gravesham?  A Feasibility Study for Gravesham 
Borough Council (October 2010). 
20 See minutes of Cabinet 15th November 2010, item 61 at 
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/democracy/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=149&MID=1272#AI7151  

Page 89



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

21 
 

 
4.44 It is now intended to reduce the dwelling target to 4,600 over the period 2011 

– 28.  In addition, it is also understood that office development at Ebbsfleet 
will be delivered slower than originally thought and both are likely to result in a 
reduced local multiplier effect. 

 
4.45 The Addendum to Gravesham Economy and Employment Space Study 

(August 2011) provides an updated view in this area, taking into account a 
range of different development scenarios and suggests a key factor in 
defining local employment space requirements is likely to be the 
encouragement of diversified  future employment growth and the creation of 
new markets. 

 
4.46 In this context, the consultant’s earlier view that Gravesend, as a relatively 

attractive heritage riverside town with high speed rail connections to London, 
has the potential to form a centre for services, professional offices, designers 
and catering/leisure activities as well as for some cultural/tourism based 
activities is important.   

 
4.47 This is particularly the case as they were of the opinion that there is scope for 

the town to develop in a broadly similar way even without the Ebbsfleet 
development – although this may require other forms of stimulus.21  Set 
against the delayed development of employment floorspace at Ebbsfleet, 
reinvigorating and reinforcing the Gravesend town centre office market is 
therefore likely to be important.   

 
4.48 Current commitments for B1 office space in Gravesham as a whole (excluding 

Ebbsfleet) are set out in the table below:- 
 

Site Commitment 
Gala Bingo, New 
Road, Gravesend 

Resolution to permit under GR/2010/0773 for 780 sq.m B1 office space.  
(Town Centre site) 

Transport 
Quarter, Wrotham 
Road, Gravesend 

Outline planning permission under GR/2010/0098 for small stand alone 
building for up to 234 sq.m B1 office space. 
(Town Centre site) 

Transport 
Quarter, Barrack 
Row, Gravesend 

Details pursuant for interchange building approved under GR/2011/0246 
including 205 sq.m floorspace in use classes A1 - 5 and B1 office space. 
(Town Centre site) 

Land South of 
Coldharbour 
Road, Northfleet. 

Outline planning permission renewed under GR/2010/0764 for small 
business centre comprising up to 5,051 sq.m floorspace that may be used in 
either B1 or B8 use classes.  Planning statement indicates 2,110 sq.m in 
building A (offices/studios); 695 sq.m in building B (studios) with remainder 
workshops. 
(Out of centre site, well located at A2/Wrotham Road junction) 

Albion Quayside, 
Canal Road, 
Gravesend 

Resolution to permit major mixed-use development under GR/2011/0713 
including up to 3,800 sq.m gross internal area in A1-5, B1a, D1 and D2 use 
classes so element of offices is possible.  Also, plans show between 5,127 
and 6,447 sq.m gross internal area B1c light industrial units to north of 
gasholders that may also have an ancillary office element. 
(Out of centre site, located immediately east of town centre) 

Lafarge Mixed-
Use 
Development, 
Northfleet 
Embankment 

Resolution to permit major mixed-use development under GR/2009/0238 
includes a significant employment component.    Mixed-use land budget 
submitted with application shows 3,600 sq.m offices on plot E4 and 2,700 
sq.m offices on plot E5 (total 6,300 sq.m) phased to come forward between 
2014 – 20. 
(Out of centre site, located approx. 2 miles west of town centre) 

 
 
                                                           
21 See Gravesham Economy and Employment Space Study (2009) at paragraph 1.17 

Page 90



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

22 
 

4.49 Hotels 
 
4.50 The Kent Thameside Hotel Futures Report (June 2007) and Gravesend Hotel 

Market Fact File (May 2011) is the main evidence base informing the 
emerging Local Plan, although this was based originally on South East Plan 
growth levels. 

 
4.51 These suggest that developments within the area are likely to generate a 

significant increase in demand for hotel accommodation in Gravesend from 
the corporate market, contractors, and people visiting friends and relatives 
and attending weddings and family parties.  This growth could create 
opportunities for further hotel development over the next 5 – 10 years.22   

 
4.52 There are currently 6 hotels in Gravesham with 278 rooms.  These comprise 

two 3 star hotels (141 rooms), two budget hotels (86 rooms), and two 
independent unclassified hotels (51 rooms). The closest hotel to the town 
centre is Premier Inn budget hotel at Wrotham Road (55 rooms). 

 
4.53 Current commitments for hotel accommodation in Gravesham as a whole 

include:- 
 

Site Commitment 
Cygnet House, Windmill 
Street, Gravesend 

Planning permission granted under application reference 
GR/2008/0087 for conversion of office block to 60 bed hotel 

Clarendon Royal Hotel, 
Royal Pier Road, 
Gravesend 

Planning permission granted at appeal under GR/2010/0293 
Ref for conversion of building to 13 bedroom boutique hotel 
with 20 serviced flats. 

Coldharbour Road, 
Northfleet 

Outline planning permission granted under GR/2011/0398 for 
erection of a budget hotel, along with a detailed permission for 
a pub/restaurant. 

 
4.54 In addition to the above, the outline planning permissions for the Ebbsfleet 

development allow for the construction of hotel space as part of the mix.  The 
former Tollgate Motel site on the A2 is also on the market, although it is 
unclear whether it will return to hotel use following temporary use as 
construction site offices for the A2 widening scheme. 

 
4.55 It will also be noted that whilst the Heritage Quarter proposals submitted 

under application reference GR/2008/0696 were refused by the Regulatory 
Board, the scheme included a 51 bedroom hotel in the Eastern Quarter.  The 
potential for a similar scaled hotel unit to be incorporated in a revised scheme 
remains a possibility and would add to the offer of the town centre as a visitor 
centre. 

 
4.56 Car Parking and Public Transport 
 
4.57 Whilst not specifically identified within the National Planning Policy 

Framework as a town centre use, public car parking is an important 
component provided in support of other functions.  Similarly, high quality 

                                                           
22  This view was based on the South East Plan strategy approach which allowed for 9,300 dwellings 
over the period 2006 – 26 and anticipated substantial delivery of the Ebbsfleet business district and a 
major mixed use development on Northfleet Embankment East.  Demand is likely to be reduced due to 
proposed changes to the Local Plan strategy but location close to the A2/M25 and Ebbsfleet station 
together with the heritage riverside quality of Gravesend town centre, high speed rail connections to 
London and development of potential attractors such as the new Siri Guru Nanak Darbar Gurdwara are 
likely to remain key drivers. 

Page 91



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

23 
 

public transport facilities are important in providing improved accessibility by 
sustainable transport modes. 

 
4.58 The Local Plan evidence base to accompany the LDF Growth Scenarios and 

Core Strategy consultation in October 2011 included a Transport Position 
Statement and Car Parking Review which provide background information in 
these areas.  Further work is being commissioned both on transport and town 
centre car parking that will inform our strategic approach in due course.23 

 

                                                           
23  See Transport Position Statement (Oct 2011) at 
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/media/pdf/r/g/Transport_Position_Statement_October_2011.pdf and Car 
Parking Review (Sept 2011) at 
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/media/pdf/r/g/Transport_Position_Statement_October_2011.pdf  

Page 92



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

24 
 

Section 5 – Consideration of options on where   
development might be accommodated within  

the town centre 
 

5.1 If our aim in planning the town centre is to ensure it remains compact and 
vibrant but still distinctive, then options for accommodating new development 
on the scale set out above is limited.   

 
5.2 This is particularly the case because much of the town centre is included 

within Conservation Areas.  There are also a range of important Listed 
Buildings and other non-designated heritage assets that in combination 
contribute to Gravesend’s distinctive sense-of-place as an historic riverside 
town.  A range of Conservation Area Appraisals and a Town Centre 
Conservation Areas Management Plan was produced in 2009 which gives 
further detail on these areas.24 

 
5.3 The plan below shows those areas within the Wider Town Centre Boundary 

covered by Conservation Areas and the distribution of key heritage assets. 
 

  
 

5.4 In considering options on where development might be accommodated, it is 
important to consider how the town has changed over time and how this 
might inform ways in which sense of place could be reinforced. 

 
5.5 Despite large parts of the town having been destroyed by fire in 1728, the 

later development of the historic town centre retained much of its medieval 
form with development focused on the riverfront at West Street and East 

                                                           
24 See Gravesend Conservation Area Appraisals and associated Town Centre Conservation Area 
Management Plan (2009) at http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/index.jsp?articleid=3673 
  

Page 93



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

25 
 

Street, with the High Street forming a north-south axis linking the Town Quay 
to King Street.   

 
5.6 Originally the main road through the town entered via what is now Clifton 

Road (the Old Main) before progressing along West Street, up the High 
Street, and along King Street. 

 
5.7 During this period, the boundaries to the historic centre were largely defined 

by Church Street, Princes Street (Gravesend Back-side) and Queen Street 
(Milton Back-side).  St George’s, which became the parish church in 1544, 
was rebuilt in the 1730s following the major fire mentioned earlier.   

 
5.8 To the east of the town centre, Milton Blockhouse was been built as a key 

part of Henry VIII’s defence of the river approaches to London in 1539.  
These defences were later enhanced so that the military complex extended 
along to the New Tavern Fort, itself originally built in 1779 -80.  To the south 
of these, James Leigh Joynes developed a speculative housing development 
on The Terrace from 1791 onwards, which linked the historic town centre 
core with the Milton Chantry area. 

 
5.9 The form of the town and its environs in the late 1780s is shown on the plan 

below. 
 

 
 Source:  Gravesend Library. Map dated 1785. 
 
 
5.10 In 1800/1 a major road improvement took place with the building of The 

Overcliffe and New Road, providing a direct through route avoiding the then 
narrow and tortuous West Street and High Street.  This allowed the 
development of new shops and businesses in New Road and King Street, 
although High Street, West Street, and East Street maintained their 
respective roles as part of the business district as the town expanded.  By 
the 1820s, further development had also taken place in the vicinity of Milton 
Road, The Terrace and New Tavern Fort. 

Page 94



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

26 
 

5.11 The form of the town in 1826 is shown on the plan below.  
 

 
 Source:  Taken from Caddell’s plan of Gravesend in 1826, Gravesend Library. 
 
 
5.12 Speculative development took place during the C19th resulting in further 

expansion of the town.  This included attempts to create a classical new 
town immediately to the east of the historic town centre core in the 1830s at 
Harmer Street/Berkley Crescent to a design by the Brighton architect Amon 
Henry Wilds.   

 
5.13 Other developments aimed at further raising the profile of Gravesend as a 

resort town and attracting higher class residents included the Clifton Baths 
(demolished ); John Claudius Loudon’s Terrace Gardens (developed for 
housing in the early C20th);  the Old Town Hall (1836 also to a design by 
Amon Henry Wilds); and the Town Pier (1834) and Royal Terrace Pier 
(1844). 

 
5.14 Contemporary with the above, the area north of New Road and west of St 

George’s Church was developed along with residential areas to the south of 
New Road and Milton Road.  The development of the railway in the 1840s 
cut through these new residential areas whilst providing an alternative 
transport focus to the river and the stagecoach route that passed through the 
town centre via New Road and Milton Road. 

 
5.15 By 1909, Gravesend’s days as a resort town were gone and the northern 

part of the town centre had become the densely developed mixed-use urban 
area shown on the plan below.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 95



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

27 
 

 
 Source: From OS Plan of Gravesend in 1909. 
 
 
5.15 Once again, even though large parts of the historic town centre had been 

destroyed by successive fires in the 1840s (West Street in 1844 and 1846, 
High Street in 1845) and 1850s (High Street north of Old Town Hall in 1850) 
the rebuilding took on much of the older medieval form with residential courts 
and alleys mixed with commercial yards and premises set behind higher 
grade retail frontages.   

 
5.16 The exception to this was the area north of New Road around St George’s 

Church where Kempthorne Street, Wakefield Street and Robert Street were 
of a more modern character and comprised primarily of brick-built mid 19th 
century terraced housing together with associated schools, public houses and 
local corner shops. 

 
5.17 Whilst retailing at this time were quite widely spread around the town centre, 

the main focus remained New Road, King Street, High Street and Queen 
Street, with the latter two linked by the charter market behind the Old Town 
Hall.   

 
5.18 The southern side of West Street was also dominated by retail uses, with 

contemporary records showing that there were around 30 shops here.  In 
contrast, the northern side of West Street was more commercial in character, 
with a variety of public houses and trade premises dominating.  This pattern 
continued through into East Street and Crooked Lane, where public houses 
and Common Lodging Houses sat close to Woods Brewery.25 

 
 5.19 By the time of the First World War, much of the development around West 

Street, East Street and Crooked Lane was perceived as being ‘slummy’ – 

                                                           
25  See 1909 Goad Plan of Gravesend Town Centre (Gravesend Library) and Caddell’s Trade 
Directories (1909 – 10). 

Page 96



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

28 
 

albeit even then there was a recognition that a number of buildings were 
ancient and worthy of preservation. 

 
5.20 That having been said, the area was progressively cleared from the 1920s 

onwards, with the Borough Council being granted a Compulsory Purchase 
Order in 1935 for the acquisition of properties in West Street to enable a road 
widening scheme and the building of flats. 

 
5.21 This process continued right through into the 1960s and beyond, with large 

scale demolition of the residential area to the north of New Road and mixed 
uses north of the Borough Market.  Much of this area was then put over to 
open air car parking until the St George’s Shopping Centre was built in the 
1980s; the town centre one-way system built; and the open air car parks on 
West Street/Market Square and Horn Yard improved. 

 
5.22 A consequence of this has been that Gravesend town centre has moved 

away from and become increasingly detached from the River Thames and its 
character as a heritage riverside town has been severely eroded.   In seeking 
to reinforce its historic character and distinctiveness, it is arguable therefore 
that priority should be given to reinstating a vibrant mix of uses to those areas 
identified above. 

 
5.23 Whilst the above conclusion is reached from an historical perspective, it does 

concur with the view reached within the Gravesham Town Centre Strategy 
Review (January 2005) that the Heritage Quarter remains a fundamental 
driver of regeneration in the town centre because sympathetic mixed-use 
development here would serve to draw the core of the town centre back 
closer toward the Thames.26 

 
5.24 It is also pertinent to note that whilst the Town Centre Strategy Review 

restates the benefits of mixed-use development in the context of regenerating 
the area, the importance of maintaining and enhancing the retail role of the 
centre as one of its primary functions is also stressed. 

 
5.25 On this basis, it is possible to consider the range of sites in and around the 

town centre that could feasibly accommodate the required scale of 
development over the Local Plan period and draw some conclusions on which 
might be preferable for which uses.  These sites are shown on the following 
plan and evaluated in the accompanying table.  

 
5.26 In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, the starting point 

shall be that the most central locations are to be preferred (unless material 
planning considerations dictate otherwise) in order to deliver a sustainable 
pattern and form of development.  The sites are therefore presented in 
sequential order based on A1 retail use. 

                                                           
26 The Town Centre Strategy Review (Jan 2005) examined the key themes and approach set out in the 
original Gravesend Town Centre Strategy for Action (Jan 1998) and Strategy for the Heritage Riverside 
(1998) and found that the basic principles remain sound – although they were deemed  to lack ambition 
when the good record of withstanding the external pressure of out-of-centre development at Lakeside 
and Bluewater  and the benefits of CTRL high speed domestic rail services were taken into 
consideration.  The Town Centre Strategy Review also concluded that the fundamental position set out 
in the Gravesend Heritage Quarter: A Business Plan for Regeneration (March 2003) was also sound. 

Page 97



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

29 
 

 
 
 

Page 98



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

30 
 

 
 

No Site Location within 
hierarchy of 
centres 

Comments 

1 
 

Former ABC 
Majestic 
Cinema, King 
Street 

Within Primary 
Shopping Area so 
most central for 
retail purposes 

Former cinema site with main auditorium 
destroyed by fire and demolished in last few 
years.  Several applications have been made for 
mixed-use development but none acceptable.  
Could include retail element but limited in scale 
to say maximum 1,000 sq.m on ground floor. 
 

2 
 
 

Former Gala 
Bingo Hall, 
New Road 

Within Primary 
Shopping Area so 
most central for 
retail purposes 

Resolution to permit mixed-use scheme under 
GR/2010/0773 which includes up to 554 sq.m in 
A1/A2/A3 uses in the new build and conversion 
of 84 sq.m to A1/A2 uses at 64 New Road. 
 

3 
 
 

Heritage 
Quarter West, 
rear of St 
George’s 
Centre. 

Mainly Edge of 
Centre site for 
retail purposes but 
within Town 
Centre 
Commercial Core, 
immediately 
adjoining Primary 
Shopping Area. 

Large site mainly comprised of open air car 
parking and highway land but includes existing St 
George’s Church Hall and Rectory building.  
Blockbuster site on West Street within draft 
Primary Shopping Area.  Well located adjacent to 
existing Primary Shopping Area and main town 
centre primary retail core at New Road/St 
George’s Centre and could re-activate part of 
historic town if redeveloped, linking to High 
Street and riverside.  Sensitive site given 
proximity to heritage assets.  Whilst previous 
scheme here was refused under GR/2008/0696, 
it would be premature to conclude that site is 
incapable of accommodating substantial mixed-
use development. 
 

4 
 
 

Heritage 
Quarter East, 
Bank Street. 

Edge of Centre 
site for retail 
purposes but 
within Town 
Centre 
Commercial Core, 
immediately 
adjoining Primary 
Shopping Area. 

Large site mainly comprised of open air car 
parking, market square and highway land. Well 
located adjacent to existing Primary Shopping 
Area, secondary retail frontages in High Street 
and Queen Street + covered charter market. 
Could re-activate part of historic town if 
redeveloped, linking to High Street, Queen 
Street, King Street and riverside.  Sensitive site 
given proximity to heritage assets.  Whilst 
previous scheme here was refused under 
GR/2008/0696, it would be premature to 
conclude that site is incapable of accommodating 
substantial mixed-use development. 
 

5 Barrack Row Edge of Centre 
site for retail 
purposes but 
within Town 
Centre 
Commercial Core, 
immediately 
adjoining Primary 
Shopping Area. 

Site currently occupied by station car park, car 
dealership and taxi-office but with planning 
permission under GR/2010/0098 (outline) and 
GR/2011/0246 (details) for multi-storey car park 
and bus station (transport interchange) with two 
units with combined floorspace of 205 sq.m 
gross internal area to be used in 
A1/A2/A3/A4/B1a use class.  Good location close 
to railway and bus station and immediately south 
of Primary Shopping Area.  If transport 
interchange scheme in current form does not 
come to fruition, would be well located site for 
town centre offices with station car park under 
and re-designed bus/rail interchange. 
 

6 
 
 

Former Lord 
Street Car 
Park site 

Edge of Centre 
site for retail 
purposes but 
within Town 

Site currently used for car parking under permit 
scheme.  Extant planning permission under 
application reference GR/2003/0315 allows for 
956 sq.m community/commercial space in 4 units 

Page 99



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

31 
 

Centre 
Commercial Core, 
immediately 
adjoining Primary 
Shopping Area. 

plus 6 live-work units where under Condition 14 
the ground floor may be used in the A1 use 
class.  Whilst technically this permission has 
been implemented it is unlikely to be completed 
as the developer has withdrawn.  Site could be 
used more intensively for car parking as part of 
mixed-use scheme, including retail component 
but extensive retail here would compete with 
Primary Shopping Area and main retail core 
around New Road, drawing town centre focus to 
south and away from the River Thames. 
 

7 
 
 

Rathmore 
Road Car 
Park 

Edge of Centre 
site for retail 
purposes but 
within Town 
Centre 
Commercial Core. 

Currently used for long-stay open air car parking 
associated with Gravesend railway station.  
Forms part of the Transport Quarter 
development, with outline planning permission 
under GR/2010/0098 – this area to be used for 
highway improvements (Rathmore Road link), 
small stand alone office building and residential.  
Whilst within the Town Centre Commercial Core, 
not suited to major retail as physically separated 
from main shopping area to the north by the 
railway.  If residential does not come to fruition, 
would be a well located site to accommodate 
town centre offices.  If Rathmore Road link is not 
built and site developed, Wrotham Road frontage 
facing Community Square could be re-instated 
with small shop/business units to complement 
Listed Buildings to north. 
 

8 
 
 

Parrock Street 
Car Park 

Edge of Centre 
site for retail 
purposes outside 
Town Centre 
Commercial Core. 

Site currently occupied by main town centre open 
air car park, separated from the Town Centre 
Commercial Core by the A226 one-way system.  
Suitable longer-term for substantial mixed-use 
development subject to town centre car parking 
strategy being agreed.  As with Lord Street site, 
extensive retail here would compete with Primary 
Shopping Area and main retail core around New 
Road, drawing town centre focus to south and 
away from the River Thames so impact would 
need to be fully assessed. 
 

9 Former Police 
Station site 
and Cygnet 
House site, 
Windmill 
Street 

Edge of Centre 
site for retail 
purposes outside 
Town Centre 
Commercial Core. 

Former Police Station has planning permission 
under GR/2009/0409 for erection of 86 self-
contained flats and 923 sq.m of commercial 
floorspace at ground floor level. Cygnet House 
has planning permission under application 
reference GR/2008/0087 for conversion of office 
block to 60 bed hotel.  Whilst located close to 
Town Centre Commercial Core, poorly located to 
rear of Civic Centre away from main town centre 
shopping area to accommodate major retail 
component – although small shops and business 
units to complement Windmill Street frontage and 
serve immediate locality may be acceptable.  
Both sites suitable for residential mixed-use, 
town centre hotel or office type uses subject to 
planning issues being addressed. 
 

10 
 
 

M Block site, 
Bath Street 

Edge of Centre 
site for retail 
purposes outside 
Town Centre 
Commercial Core. 

Site forms part of former Gravesend Hospital and 
building has been un-used for several years.  
Whilst an Edge-of-Centre site, it actually relates 
quite poorly to the Primary Shopping Area 
because the St George’s Centre turns it back 
onto Bath Street.  Site is probably best suited to 
higher density residentially led mixed-use 
development to reinforce town centre.  An 

Page 100



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

32 
 

element of employment development in the form 
of small office units would also be appropriate, 
reflecting the mix on the former Russell’s Shrimp 
Brand Brewery site to the north. Design and 
layout should facilitate connectivity between main 
town centre and Imperial Retail Park to the west.  
There may also be a need to facilitate public 
transport corridor to the west, depending on 
further analysis of transport needs. 
 

11 
 
 

Wickes site, 
Stuart Road 

Edge of Centre 
site for retail 
purposes outside 
Town Centre 
Commercial Core. 

Site in existing use as retail builder’s merchant 
outlet with large area of private car parking to 
frontage.  Site is in elevated position, standing 
above Asda and Imperial Retail Park with little 
connectivity. Suitable for residentially led mixed-
use form of development in the longer term given 
adjoining uses and resolution to permit at Clifton 
Slipways/West Street Pier. Design and layout 
should facilitate connectivity between main town 
centre and Imperial Retail Park to the west.  
There may also be a need to facilitate public 
transport corridor to the west, depending on 
further analysis of transport needs. 
 

12 
 
 

Clifton 
Slipways and 
West Street 
Pier 

Edge of Centre 
site for retail 
purposes outside 
Town Centre 
Commercial Core. 

Resolution to permit 145 flats under application 
reference GR/2008/0903 subject to s.106 
agreement.  Scheme includes repair, 
maintenance and public access/use of West 
Street Pier. 

13 
 
 

Asda Edge of Centre 
site for retail 
purposes outside 
Town Centre 
Commercial Core. 

Existing Edge-of-Centre superstore set at lower 
level than historic town centre but made 
accessible via escalator to The Overcliffe.  Store 
complements traditional town centre but extent of 
linked-trips not known.  Expansion here as 
alternative to Primary Shopping Area or better 
connected Edge-of-Centre sites could have 
effect of pulling retail functions to the west and 
have adverse impact on traditional town centre – 
impact would therefore need to be carefully 
considered. 

14 
 

Imperial Retail 
Park 

Existing retail 
park, 
complementing 
town centre 
functions but 
marginally outside 
of centre. 

Existing retail park is more than 300 metres 
walking distance from Primary Shopping Area – 
greater when measured from public entrances to 
retail units so should be classed as out-of-centre.  
Recognised though that bulky goods retail in this 
area complements traditional town centre 
although extent of linked trips is not known.   
Expansion here as alternative to Primary 
Shopping Area or better connected Edge-of-
Centre sites could have effect of pulling retail 
functions to the west and have adverse impact 
on traditional town centre – impact would 
therefore need to be carefully considered. 

 
  
5.27 It is evident from a consideration of the scale and form of development to be 

accommodated over the Local Plan period compared to the above list of sites 
that it would not be possible to fit all of the comparison retail floorspace 
required within the existing Primary Shopping Area.  Clearly, there is the 
potential to be more flexible with other town centre type uses but there is a 
need to focus here on the comparison retail component given the expert 
opinion of the Council’s consultant is that it will remain a key determinant of 
the continued health, status and functionality of the centre. 

 

Page 101



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

33 
 

 
 
 
5.28 The only alternative strategies in terms of comparison retail would appear to 

be:- 
 

• Large scale demolition of existing shopping areas on the Primary 
and Secondary Retail Frontages and rebuilding at higher density – 
i.e. by adding second or third floors.  This is unlikely to be 
acceptable in areas where there is an identified conservation or 
heritage interest, so we would effectively be restricted to New 
Road.   

 
No commercial interest has been shown in this option and whilst it 
would assist in the concentration of activity within the existing 
Primary Shopping Area, it would not help us re-activate those 
areas to the north of New Road and King Street and re-engage the 
town centre with the River Thames. 

 
• Planned extension of the Primary Shopping Area to accommodate 

new floorspace in a format likely to be attractive to the market – 
i.e. modern larger units to ensure Gravesend town centre can 
address the effects of polarisation and to maintain its position 
within the retail hierarchy of centres.   

 
There is clear market interest in this approach, with Edinburgh 
House Estates Limited promoting the mixed-use extension of St 
George’s Centre to the north and complementary development on 
Market Square/Horn Yard to the north of the charter market.  
Subject to an acceptable scheme being brought forward, both 
would have the effect of re-animating the northern part of the 
historic town centre and re-engaging it with the River Thames. 
 
The only alternative sites available close to the Primary Shopping 
Area of sufficient size to accommodate the scale of development 
required through to say 2021 would be the Lord Street/Parrock 
Street car park sites.   
 
However, these are less well positioned relative to the Primary 
Shopping Frontages in and around New Road, which we would 
want to reinforce to strengthen the appeal of the centre.  Locating 
major retail here would also pull the focus of the town centre to the 
south and not serve to re-animate the northern part of the 
traditional town centre or assist in re-engaging it with the River 
Thames.   
 
The potential to further integrate shopping with cultural/tourist 
activities in and around Heritage Quarter and to reinforce the 
regeneration of High Street/Town Pier area by increasing 
pedestrian circulation would also be reduced. 
 
Further, whilst Heritage Quarter is well located to take advantage 
of sustainable modes of transport given its proximity to bus 
services and the railway station, Lord Street/Parrock Street is 
situated on the southern periphery of the town centre where 

Page 102



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

34 
 

access is most likely to take place by private car.  There is a risk 
therefore that fewer linked trips would occur with major retail being 
located at Lord Street/Parrock Street rather than Heritage Quarter 
and this would lessen the regenerative impact on the town centre. 
 
Notwithstanding this, Lord Street/Parrock Street is recognised as a 
site with longer-term development potential. 

 
• Direct major new comparison retail to alternative edge-of-centre 

(Asda) or out-of-centre (Morrisons/Sainsburys/Imperial Retail 
Park) or new planned centre locations (Ebbsfleet/Eastern Quarry) 
within the Gravesham retail catchment. 

 
However, the expert opinion of the Council’s retail consultant is 
that not seeking to accommodate new comparison retail 
development within the town centre would be detrimental and lead 
to its continued decline.  Directing additional comparison retail to 
competing locations within the catchment that could otherwise be 
accommodated within the town centre could therefore result not 
only in a less sustainable pattern or form of development but one 
that could exacerbate that decline. 

 
5.29 The conclusion reached within this section is therefore that the expert advice 

of the Council’s retail consultant should be followed and that in the first 
instance we should be seeking to accommodate new comparison retail 
floorspace within the Gravesend town centre.  

 
5.30 It is also concluded that the assertion contained within the Town Centre 

Strategy Review (Jan 2005) that the Heritage Quarter should be viewed as a 
fundamental driver of regeneration in the town centre is correct.  Sympathetic 
mixed-use development well integrated with existing uses would serve to 
draw the core of the town centre back closer toward the River Thames whilst 
reinforcing the functionality of the Primary Shopping Area and should be seen 
as a preferred spatial option. 

 
5.31 In terms of other town centre type uses, it would be logical to seek to 

accommodate B1a offices in and around the railway station, taking advantage 
of improved connectivity afforded by the CTRL domestic services and the 
creation of an integrated transport interchange based on Garrick 
Street/Barrack Row.  A number of sites have been identified above which 
could accommodate office development as a component, should market 
demand prove to be sufficient to support it.  This would also integrate well 
with existing local government office functions at Joynes House and the Civic 
Centre as well as smaller private companies working out of existing buildings 
in and around the immediate area.  Opportunities to make better use of the 
upper floors of existing buildings here should also not be overlooked. 

 
5.32 Suggesting possible sites or broad locations to accommodate commercial 

leisure uses in the absence of clear market interest or technical specification 
is very difficult.  Clearly, small health and fitness facilities are capable of being 
incorporated in a wide variety of mixed-use developments and it is not 
necessary to identify individual sites.   

 
5.33 Similarly, whilst the Council’s retail consultant has suggested that a cinema 

might be provided in a town centre location, this could take the form of a small 

Page 103



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

35 
 

multiplex or art house facility.  It would therefore not be prudent to be 
prescriptive as to site until such time as an operator is identified or detailed 
requirements are known.  

 
5.34 Irrespective of this, it must be recognised that improving the commercial 

leisure offer of the town centre is likely to be extremely challenging given 
competition from existing facilities located at Bluewater and the fact that 
extant planning permissions at Ebbsfleet and Eastern Quarry allow for a 
considerable quantum of D2 commercial leisure floorspace (48,750 sq.m 
gross combined) that would compete directly with the traditional town centres. 

 
5.35 The potential for diversifying the town centre food and drink offer has been 

noted by the Council’s retail consultant – in particular the market that might 
exist for branded family restaurants occupying larger modern premises.  It is 
suggested here that these could be accommodated within mixed-use 
developments well connected to the Primary Shopping Area to take 
advantage of footfall as the retail offer is improved.  Once again, the scale of 
such provision is unlikely to require us to be prescriptive as to location, 
although it is logical the any development within the Heritage Quarter area 
could include such units within the mix to help reinforce existing trade within 
the area of the High Street. 

 
5.36 Beyond the possibility of delivering a museum facility within the town centre, 

no other major cultural projects requiring built development have been 
identified.  The scale of such a facility means that there are a range of options 
as to possible form and location, although the consultants have suggested 
that the Heritage Quarter should be looked at given the synergies that exist 
with other historic assets in that area.   

 
5.37 However, until such time as a firm commitment has been given to the project 

(either by the public, private or voluntary sector) and there is a clearer idea of 
intent, it is not possible at this stage to allocate a site within the town centre 
dedicated to its delivery.  Opportunities to consider this further may arise in 
the course of negotiations on proposals for other mixed-use development 
within the town centre or through the subsequent drafting of the Local Plan 
Site Specific Allocations and Development Management Policies document. 

 
 

Page 104



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

36 
 

 
 

 Section 6 - Key representations received as a result of the  
Gravesham Growth Scenarios and Core Strategy –  

Regulation 25 Update consultation 
 
6.1 A number of key representations were received as a result of the Gravesham 

Growth Scenarios and Core Strategy – Regulation 25 Update consultation.  
These raise issues that broadly fall into five different categories:- 

 
• Those which challenge the vision and approach toward the town 

centre and retail provision set out in consultation document preferring 
a different policy direction (Urban Gravesham and Mr J. Clay); 

 
• Those which support the vision and approach for the town centre and 

retail provision set out in the consultation document but wish to see it 
modified to provide specific support for their proposals (Edinburgh 
House Estates Limited); 

 
• Those which question whether the Imperial Retail Estate to the west of 

the town centre should be treated as an edge-of-centre or out-of-
centre location and the priority it should therefore be given in terms of 
future retail development (Orchard Street Investment Management 
LLP); 

 
• Those with an interest in the development or protection of 

existing/planned centres elsewhere in the Council’s area (Lafarge and 
Land Securities and John Lewis Partnership); and 

 
• Those which raise questions regarding the evidence produced to date 

in relation to these policy areas and reserve their position pending its 
production (Dartford Borough Council). 

 
The text that follows provides a synopsis of the above forms of representation 
with appraisals of each position being provided in section 4 below. 
 

 
6.2 Synopsis of Urban Gravesham’s consultation response as it relates to 

town centre and retail policy issues. 
 
6.3 Urban Gravesham question the approach set out within draft policy 2a as not 

being sufficiently focused on the distinctiveness of the town centre as a 
heritage riverside town and being over-reliant on retail regeneration when a 
more holistic approach is required taking into account improved accessibility 
and the need to provide an improved social and cultural offer.  

 
6.4 Whilst understanding a retail policy that seeks to maintain the position of the 

town centre, they believe that the approach should be more rounded given 
continuing retail decentralisation and include greater emphasis on locally 
responsive services and a comprehensive retail, cultural and community offer. 

 
6.5 They are of the opinion that there is tremendous scope for improving the 

cultural offer of town centre providing the refurbished library, the small gallery 
opened at Civic Centre and re-opened Old Town Hall as examples.  They 

Page 105



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

37 
 

believe the market and Market Square offer similar scope for rejuvenation and 
support proposals for a museum whilst contending that the Core Strategy is 
not being ambitious enough in this respect.  

 
6.6 Conversely, they note that there is uncertainty over future retail demand, 

question the ability of the town centre to compete with alternative outlets and 
the internet, and suggest that large scale retail would be damaging to the 
town centre in terms of urban design and sense of place.   

 
6.7 In this respect, they believe that over-scaled modern retail units could have a 

detrimental impact on the character of the town centre and deter trade, 
particularly if not well integrated with surrounding street pattern.  To avoid 
this, they contend that a specific town centre development plan document or 
site specific briefs are necessary to avoid detrimental schemes. 

 
6.8 They do not agree with statements made on demand for modern retail units of 

a larger size to meet the needs of multiple retailers and believe the Council 
should concentrate on the town centre remaining a provider of convenience 
goods and providing a different and unique offer based on its historic 
environment and riverside setting. 

 
6.9 They note that the High Street, Queen Street, New Road and Windmill Street 

are marked as secondary frontages on the town centre diagram and question 
this as it is based on the present situation and shows no real intention to 
improve the viability of the east of the town centre.  They believe there should 
be a greater emphasis on this area rather than the modern shopping centres 
to the west, suggesting that a sympathetic anchor development based on the 
Woolworth’s building/former cinema and Horn Yard could counter the current 
pull.   

 
6.10 However, they support the current Primary Shopping Area indicated on the 

town centre diagram as it does not extend over the West Street car park site.  
They are of the opinion that extending retail over this area would be a 
mistake, believing that the Core Strategy should include a specific 
designation for expansion of green space around St George’s Church. 

 
6.11 They believe there is a need to focus new high quality employment and 

encourage business start-ups within the town centre taking advantage of 
improved accessibility and that this should be include a specific target based 
policy. 

 
6.12 In terms of transportation issues, they note that the consultation document 

made no mention of HS1 and the economic benefits that could accrue from 
greater connectivity.  They also note that the document does not explain why 
commuter parking is being provided in the town within the Transport Quarter 
proposals and assume that the forthcoming parking review will take a more 
sensible and strategic view on the issue. 

 
6.13 Synopsis of Mr J. Clay’s consultation response as it relates to town 

centre and retail policy issues. 
 
6.14 Mr Clay questions the approach set out in the consultation document and 

suggests the development of an alternative strategy based on smaller scale, 
independent outlets focusing on the existing retail area, with a diversification 

Page 106



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

38 
 

of offer tailored to meet local needs, and coupled with high quality urban 
designs appropriate to the heritage riverside character of the area.  

 
6.15 He notes that the town centre enjoys a unique position on the River Thames 

and believes that capitalising on heritage and sense of place, together with 
improving its cultural offer and diversity, should be the key to its regeneration.  
He therefore believes that the approach to town centre should be based on 
repairing existing provision, urban fabric and the local economy. 

 
6.16 He believes that the town centre deserves more than just a chapter in the 

Core Strategy and supports the idea of a Supplementary Planning Document 
and site specific planning briefs to avoid pre-emption and that require high 
quality appropriate developments on key development sites. 

 
6.17 Whilst he does not wish to discourage modern multiple retailers and fashion 

goods, he does not see these as a priority and believes that there is nothing 
in the consultation document to show that such businesses are being 
frustrated by lack of suitable premises.   

 
6.18 He also states that it is unclear what the basis is for the assertion that there is 

demand for retail units of a larger size to meet the requirements of modern 
retailers and notes that the term ‘larger size’ is not defined in the document. 

 
6.19 He believes that relying on improvements to the retail offer to regenerate the 

town centre is the wrong approach given what is available at competing 
centres, rather that there should be a greater concentration on smaller 
specialist retailers whilst animating and diversifying the town centre to meet 
local needs. 

 
6.20 He believes that proposals for new retail development within the Core 

Strategy are profoundly inappropriate as they shift the centre of gravity away 
from the Primary Shopping Area rather than reinforcing it and suggests that 
there is no justification for extending retail development onto land north of the 
St George’s Centre. 

 
6.21 He disagrees with the identified primary and secondary retail frontage shown 

in the consultation document, suggesting that the retail core should be shifted 
eastwards and back to New Road, Windmill Street, and High Street.   

 
6.22 He also objects to extent of town centre Primary Shopping Area shown in the 

consultation document believing that it should be more closely related to the 
primary and secondary frontages. 

 
6.23 He believes the statement that the cultural offer of the town centre is limited is 

an understatement and that the document fails to recognise the potential that 
exists whilst providing no suggestions on how it might be improved.   

 
6.24 He contends that the town would benefit from having a wider range of 

facilities (cinema, theatre, concert hall, art galley, museum given as 
examples) to increase its attractiveness to the local community and visitors. 

 
6.25 He agrees with the position set out in paragraph 19.18 of the consultation 

document that retail warehousing should not be separated out from other 
comparison goods spend in order to comply with the ‘town centre first’ 
approach contained in national policy. 

Page 107



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

39 
 

 
6.26 In terms of transport policy, Mr Clay makes the general point that this does 

not have sufficient regard to the principles of sustainability and that it is not 
related to the Core Strategy as a whole.  Raises concerns that section is not 
placed in the context of the need to promote sustainable development, does 
not set out the principles that would guide transport planning, or how transport 
planning integrates with other policies in the plan. 

 
6.27 He is of the opinion that High Speed 1 (HS1) rail services should be treated 

as a major opportunity with the potential for promoting employment but 
expresses concern that there is no mention of the ferry, travel by water, public 
transport, or other sustainable modes of transport.  

 
6.28 He notes that vast areas of the town centre are blighted by car parking, that 

this has an adverse impact and should be addressed.  
 
 
6.29 Synopsis of Edinburgh House Estates Limited’s (EHEL) consultation 

response as it relates to town centre and retail policy issues. 
 
6.30 Edinburgh House Estates Limited generally support the policy position set out 

in the consultation document but are of the opinion that the town centre 
boundaries should be amended to show the Heritage Quarter as a Primary 
Shopping Area extension as it is strategically important to the future well-
being of the town centre and appropriate for a comprehensive retail and 
mixed-use scheme that could be delivered in phases. 

 
6.31 They support the decision to include a separate policy on the town centre, 

consolidating relevant parts of policy 2 (urban area) and 11 (town centres and 
retailing) and many  aspects of the background text focusing on what makes 
the town centre special and distinctive and believe that the Heritage Quarter 
scheme will enhance those key characteristics. 

 
6.32 They reiterate their support for Table 8 in the January 2010 consultation 

document which sets out objectives for town centre sites as being to enhance 
viability and vitality through maximising opportunities for sustainable growth 
through mixed-use development that respect the town centre’s historic setting 
and buildings whilst maximising high quality and distinctive design etc. 

 
6.33 They support and agree with the notion that town centres need to reinvent 

themselves and offer modern retail, services and employment, believing that 
the Heritage Quarter proposals will contribute towards this and improve the 
connection between the town centre and river. They also support the vision 
for the town centre and the notion that regeneration should act as a catalyst 
for the improvement of the town centre’s offer. 

 
6.34 They set out those parts of the policy text they specifically support in relation 

to prioritising retail, leisure and cultural offer in town centre; supporting 
qualitative improvements, its range of offer, expansion and modernisation to 
attract multiple retailers; maintaining and improving public realm; and 
supporting proposals to enhance appropriate access to the River Thames for 
recreational and leisure purposes. 

 
6.35 They reiterate their comments on previous consultations to the effect that 

preservation of heritage assets should be one of a number of key 

Page 108



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

40 
 

considerations in the regeneration of Gravesend Town Centre although equal 
weight should be given to other economic and planning benefits.   

 
6.36 However, they still believe that the strong emphasis on heritage in the 

Gravesend Town Centre vision should be retained, noting that their scheme 
has been developed through detailed consultation with English Heritage, GBC 
Conservation Officers and other key stakeholders. 

 
6.37 They note that the Council is undertaking further work on retail capacity and 

would welcome the opportunity to be consulted on this as it emerges but 
comment that on the basis of figures set out in the document there is a 
quantitative and qualitative case for town centre provision. 

 
6.38 They support the decision to reinforce the primary role of the town centre and 

encourage retail in remaining centres but are concerned at prioritisation of A1 
uses on primary retail frontage with little indication about its relationship with 
other town centre uses.  They contend that paragraph 19.35 should not 
specify only A1 retail as sequentially preferable location in Primary Shopping 
Area as this will limit diversity of uses. 

 
6.39 In relation to comparison goods, they note that the Council is planning on the 

basis of baseline scenario but consider that there is a need to be ‘at the 
game’ and reserve right to make further representations once new figures are 
available.   

 
6.40 They believe that the approach to ‘bulky goods’ is correct and the ‘town 

centre first’ approach being adopted but have concerns regarding approach to 
Imperial Retail Park, as this is ‘out of centre’ and the implications in terms of 
loss of existing employment and how this would be handled.  They therefore 
object to Imperial Retail Park and West Mill having any sequentially 
preferable status. 

 
6.41 They note that both PPS4 and the emerging NPPF reiterate the ‘town centre 

first’ approach and seek clarification as to whether sites within the Primary 
Shopping Centre and Town Centre Commercial Core are considered ‘in-
centre’ for these purposes. 

 
6.42 They believe that even with the lower growth scenario adopted, Gravesend 

town centre should be capable of accommodating new family/branded 
restaurants and a range of commercial leisure facilities.  Whilst clarification is 
requested on the scale and location of new hotel facilities, they still believe 
the focus of delivery should be the town centre. 

 
6.43 They support the decision to ensure that shopping facilities are accessible by 

a range of transport means whilst noting that Heritage Quarter meets these 
criteria.  They also generally support the Council’s approach to car parking in 
relation to commercial and service development in the town centre but believe 
that any need to replace car parking spaces should also take into 
consideration regeneration benefits that accrue from schemes. 

 
6.44 They raise concerns regarding the lowering of housing targets, particularly in 

relation to what the Heritage Quarter might deliver, whilst reiterating the 
benefits of residential in high-density mixed-use development and suggest 
that affordable housing requirements should be linked to site characteristics. 

 

Page 109



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

41 
 

6.45 Because of this believe that the Heritage Quarter is capable of contributing to 
the Council’s initial 5 year housing supply by accommodating 400 residential 
units or more if St Andrews Gardens is included and suggest that the red line 
boundary in the SLAA be amended. 

 
6.46 They also question the assessment of site viability because it is based on the 

worst case scenario.  They believe that values will recover in the next 2 – 3 
years and claim that there is a realistic market for retail and residential 
development at the Heritage Quarter supported by High Speed Rail services 
and projects like the Transport Quarter.   

 
 
6.47 Synopsis of Orchard Street Investment Management LLP consultation 

response. 
 
6.48 Orchard Street Investment Management LLP manage the Imperial Retail Park 

(IRP) and Imperial Business Park (IBP) on behalf of British Railway Pension 
Trustees Co Ltd. 

 
6.49 They note that the IRP is located on the edge of Gravesend town centre and 

complements its offer, making it a more attractive shopping destination and 
assisting in clawing back retail expenditure from competing centres such as 
Bluewater. 

 
6.50 They note that the earlier 2010 LDF Core Strategy and Development 

Management Policies consultation document identified the IRP as ‘edge-of-
centre’. 

 
6.51 Whilst supporting the identification of the IRP as suitable for large format 

retail/commercial leisure development, they object to references within the 
latest consultation document as being ‘out of centre’ as inconsistent with 
previous consultations.  They note that the IRP is located a short walk from 
the town centre along a clear and safe route with pedestrian pathways and 
within 300 metres of the Primary Shopping Area. 

 
6.52 For these reasons, they ask that the policy be re-drafted to say that the IRP is 

an ‘edge of centre’ location and therefore a sequentially preferable location 
for new retail development outside the Primary Shopping Area and Town 
Centre Commercial Core. 

 
6.53 Whilst supporting the possible expansion of the IRP into the adjoining 

business park, they suggest the wording and purpose of the draft policy is 
unclear particularly where it refers to ‘insufficient capacity’.  They also note 
that the draft policy appears to refer to the IRP as a ‘centre’ which is 
inconsistent with the wording of the rest of the draft policy.   

 
 
6.54 Synopsis of Land Securities and Lafarage consultation responses. 
 
6.55 Land Securities and Lafarge Cement, in the form of a joint venture company 

called EIGP, welcome the reference to Ebbsfleet and acknowledgement of 
the extant planning permission for retail floorspace in this location.   

 

Page 110



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

42 
 

6.56 They consider that this should be reflected in the emerging policy and 
suggest that there should be consistency of approach to retail at Ebbsfleet 
with the recently adopted Dartford LDF Core Strategy. 

 
6.57 More general comments are also provided in relation to the delivery of the 

wider Ebbsfleet development, questioning the assumptions made in the 
consultation document regarding timing and phasing of the employment 
component.   

 
6.58 In particular, it is noted that that the exact location of employment 

development within Ebbsfleet will be subject to market preference but that 
they anticipate that this will be close to the station in the first instance if this is 
for offices.   

 
6.59 Whilst this could be either in Dartford or Gravesham they anticipate that there 

is greater potential and likelihood for employment development to commence 
at Northfleet Rise Quarter in Gravesham in the first instance. 

6.60 However, they do caution that there may not be any employment 
development at Ebbsfleet in the period to 2021 and beyond within the 
Gravesham part of Ebbsfleet. 

 
6.61 Lafarge has also made separate comments on paragraph 19.44 of the 

consultation document in relation to their proposed development at Northfleet 
Embankment West, supporting the identification of The Hive as a local centre 
and as a location for new retail and service development of an appropriate 
scale as set out in their mixed-use application (GR/2009/0238). 

 
6.62 Synopsis of representations made on behalf of John Lewis.  
 
6.63 Note that John Lewis is one of the key anchor stores at Bluewater and wishes 

to be reassured that the proposed new policy for Gravesend town centre 
complement’s Bluewater’s role as a specialist comparison shopping centre. 

 
6.64 Generally supports the vision and proposed policies and consider that the 

‘baseline’ comparison scenario forecasts are the most realistic and 
achievable for planning Gravesend town centre and recommends that a 
quantum of comparison retail development is specifically identified in policy 
2a which accords with 

 
- The baseline comparison growth forecast; 
- The heritage constraints and compact character of the existing 

town centre; and 
- The sub-regional and specialist comparison shopping role of 

Bluewater retained. 
 
6.65 John Lewis also support also supports the general approach to retail 

development and the centre hierarchy in policy 11 and its guidance that new 
retail and service development to meet local needs will not be permitted 
beyond the major development sites listed. 

Page 111



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

43 
 

 
6.66 Synopsis of representation made by KCC in relation to town centre and 

retail issues 
 
6.67 KCC supports the regeneration of the town centre and welcomes the focus 

that the new policy provides.  Believe that it is important that any new 
development is carefully designed to ensure that it is in keeping with the scale 
and context of the town centre, particularly in the Heritage Quarter.  KCC 
would also welcome the production of an SPD to provide more detailed 
planning guidance. 

 
6.68 Synopsis of Dartford Borough Council consultation response as it 

relates to town centre and retail policy issues. 
 
6.69 Dartford Borough Council note lack of evidence regarding retail and the 

impact a reduced and more dispersed population pattern may have as a 
result of proposed changes to housing targets.  They contend that this may 
have an impact on planned retail development in Dartford in places such as 
Ebbsfleet and note that these impacts need to be understood.  On this basis, 
they reserve their position until such time as further information is available 
and the extent of any impact becomes clear. 

 

Page 112



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

44 
 

Section 7 – Consideration of the above representations. 
 
 
7.1 The purpose of the Local Plan is to establish the strategic framework by 

which proposals for development are evaluated and decisions made on 
individual applications.  The basis for establishing that framework is the 
evidence before the Council, taking into account views expressed as part of 
the consultation process, placed in the context of higher level policy set out at 
a national level. 

 
7.2 The introduction of the National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) is 

therefore a key material planning consideration in the development of 
emerging Local Plan policy.   

 
7.3 Central to this is the presumption in favour of sustainable development 

which for plan making means that:- 
 

• Local planning authorities should positively seek opportunities to 
meet the development needs of their area; and 
 

• Local Plans should meet objectively assessed needs, with 
sufficient flexibility to adapt to rapid change, unless: 

 
- Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed 
against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole; or 

- Specific policies in the Framework indicate development 
should be restricted. 

 
 
7.4 The above also needs to be read in conjunction with the Written Ministerial 

Statement: Planning for Growth (23rd March 2011) and the subsequent Letter 
to Chief Planning Officers (31st March 2011) which clearly establishes the 
importance placed by Government on economic recovery whereby  

 
“The Government's top priority in reforming the planning system is to 
promote sustainable economic growth and jobs. Government's clear 
expectation is that the answer to development and growth should 
wherever possible be 'yes', except where this would compromise the 
key sustainable development principles set out in national planning 
policy.” 

 
7.5 As set out earlier in this paper, national planning policy for town centres is 

based on facilitating competition in the interests of the consumer whilst 
promoting sustainable patterns and forms of development by directing 
investment in the first instance to the most central and accessible locations 
within a designated network and hierarchy of centres.  

 
7.6 The expectation therefore is that where there is an identified need to 

accommodate town centre type uses in Gravesham, these should generally 
be met in the town centre itself unless other key sustainable development 
principles are compromised. 

 

Page 113



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

45 
 

7.7 The caveat that ‘other key sustainable development principles’ should not be 
compromised means that applying the ‘town centre first’ approach doesn’t 
mean ‘anything goes’ – development is still expected to be of high quality 
design, appropriate to context and take into account potential adverse 
impacts on the historical and natural environment etc. 

 
7.8 However, where it is contended that we cannot meet objectively assessed 

needs within the town centre because other key sustainable development 
principles are compromised, this is not the end of the matter.  We would still 
be expected to meet those needs, with sufficient flexibility to adapt to rapid 
change, unless there are significant adverse impacts that outweigh the 
benefits or other policies within the Framework dictate that development 
should be restricted. 

 
7.9 Because the latter circumstances are unlikely to apply in the Gravesham 

case, this means that if town centre sites are precluded from accommodating 
certain types of development, we would be obliged to identify sites elsewhere 
in less central (and potentially less sustainable) locations. 

 
7.10 Further, because the planning system is not intended to limit competition or 

consumer choice, it is important to recognise that there is nothing to prevent 
developers bringing forward schemes that exceed identified need provided 
the ‘impact test’ requirements set out in section 26 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework are met. 

 
7.11 This requires that proposals for retail, leisure and office developments outside 

of town centres, which are not in accordance with an up-to-date Local Plan, 
and which exceed a 2,500 square metre floorspace threshold (in the absence 
of a locally defined threshold) should include assessment of: 

 
• the impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned 

public and private investment in a centre or centres in the 
catchment area of the proposal; and 

 
• the impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability, 

including local consumer choice and trade in the town centre and 
wider area, up to five years from the time the application is made.  
For major schemes where the full impact will not be realised in five 
years, the impact should also be assessed up to ten years from 
the time the application is made. 

 
Where an application fails to satisfy the sequential test (i.e. it is not located in 
the most central or accessible location that is practicable) or is likely to have a 
significant adverse impact on one or more of the above factors, it should be 
refused. 

 
7.12 The implications of the above factors in terms of drafting Local Plan policy 

are:- 
 

• Unless very convincing evidence can be provided to the contrary, 
the Council will be expected to show how it can accommodate 
town centre uses within the most central and accessible locations 
practicable; 

 

Page 114



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

46 
 

• In identifying where and how such uses might be accommodated, 
the Council will be expected to show sufficient land to 
accommodate the full extent of identified need with flexibility to 
adapt to rapid change; and 

 
• Where there is deviation from the sequential approach to site 

selection and less central or accessible sites are promoted to 
accommodate town centre uses, those suggesting such an 
alternative spatial strategy (either explicitly or implicitly) would 
need to clearly set out the implications in terms of sustainability 
and impact on the town centre. 

 
• Irrespective of whether such an alternative spatial strategy is 

adopted, it also needs to be understood that this would not 
preclude a developer from making a subsequent application for 
land in a more central location and seeking either to overcome 
previously identified constraints or claiming that the benefits 
outweigh any adverse impact to the extent that the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development should apply. 

 
7.13 On the basis of the above, the following responses are provided to comments 

received as a result of the Regulation 25 interim consultation.   
 
7.14 Response made to comments received from Urban Gravesham and Mr 

J. Clay. 
 
7.15 Because of the similarity of comments made by Urban Gravesham and  

Mr Clay, the responses to comments are combined to avoid repetition. 
 
7.16 As noted above, both sets of comments appear to be based on a different 

vision for the future of the town centre than that considered most appropriate 
by the Council and its retail consultant, although there are a number of 
significant areas where it is possible to agree.   

 
7.17 The main areas of disagreement appear to relate to the desirability or need to 

accommodate significant new comparison retail floorspace over the local plan 
period, where development should take place, and the effect of that 
development on the character of the town. 

 
7.18 The Council would counter this by stating that the position adopted by Urban 

Gravesham and Mr Clay does not accord with the requirements of the 
national planning policy because it fails to provide a realistic alternative 
spatial strategy capable of accommodating the level of development identified 
or assess the impact of that alternative or its sustainability relative to a town 
centre option. 

 
7.19 It is also important that we disentangle debate over the ongoing detailed 

discussions on the Heritage Quarter proposals from strategic policy concerns 
regarding the principles of development strategy – the fact that an individual 
proposal is or is not acceptable does not necessarily invalidate a particular 
policy approach. 

 
7.20 The following table contains responses to the main points made by Urban 

Gravesham and Mr Clay. 

Page 115



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

47 
 

  
Comment Response 
Draft policy is not sufficiently focused on 
distinctiveness of Gravesend as a heritage 
riverside town. 

Background text to policy recognises the 
heritage importance of Gravesend town 
centre whilst draft policy at 10.20 clearly 
states that approach to development will 
need to be in the context of preserving and 
enhancing its character as a riverside 
heritage town. 

Strategy should concentrate on provision of 
convenience retail in town centre and 
providing a different and unique offer based 
on historic environment, smaller scale 
independent traders and diversification of 
offer to meet local needs. 

National Planning Policy Framework 
requires that we direct retail development to 
the town centre in first instance and seek to 
accommodate the full extent of identified 
need with flexibility to adapt to rapid change.  
Urban Gravesham and Mr Clay implicitly 
suggest an alternative spatial strategy 
whereby Council would have to identify 
other less central sites to accommodate this 
development without stating where or 
providing an assessment of impact of 
competing locations on town centre or in 
terms of sustainability. Council’s position 
reflects advice of our retail consultants that 
town centre needs both modern retail 
component to serve requirements of 
national multiples and a complementary 
independent sector to add diversity and 
choice – the two are compatible and not 
mutually exclusive. 

Agrees that retail warehousing requirement 
should not be separated out from other 
comparison goods floorspace and ‘town 
centre’ first approach should apply. 

Support for position of Council in line with 
national planning policy is welcomed – 
although it does beg the question as to 
where this would go in the town centre if the 
approach suggested by the respondents 
was adopted. 
 

Approach is over-reliant on retail 
regeneration when there is uncertainty over 
long-term retail needs. 

Retail is and will remain a primary town 
centre function so it is important that the 
Council plans properly to meet such needs 
otherwise the town centre could go into 
decline.  The Council’s assessment of long-
term retail needs is based on expert advice 
provided by independent consultants using 
industry standard projections.  In the 
absence of an alternative credible evidence 
base, the Council is obliged to plan for its 
area on this basis.  Emerging Local Plan 
policy does not seek to compete direct with 
alternative regional centres such as 
Bluewater or Lakeside, rather to maintain 
market share and achieve qualitative 
improvement and a broader retail base. 
 

Whilst not wishing to discourage modern 
multiple retailers, need for larger modern 
retail units is not proven and no evidence 
that business is being frustrated by lack of 
suitable premises.  Size of units required not 
specified. 

Need for larger modern retail units to suit 
needs of multiple retailers is based on 
advice received from Council’s retail 
consultants as set out in evidence base – 
where size of units is clearly specified.  
Similar conclusions have been reached in 
the Dartford retail study.   Fact that 
developer is progressing a revised scheme 
for Heritage Quarter is indicative of market 
interest. 
 

Should be greater emphasis on existing 
Primary Shopping Area and retail frontages 

Both national planning policy and draft local 
policy are based on the sequential approach 

Page 116



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

48 
 

rather than modern shopping centres. whereby retail development is directed in 
the first instance to the Primary Shopping 
Area.  Position of Council is therefore not 
inconsistent with that of Urban Gravesham 
or Mr Clay.  Issue is that there are 
insufficient available sites within Primary 
Shopping Area to accommodate required 
levels of development and there is a need 
therefore to evaluate alternative edge-of-
centre locations in close proximity to it. 
 

Disagrees with identified Primary and 
Secondary frontages and extent of Primary 
Shopping Area. 

As responses to consultation do not identify 
where amendments to Primary or 
Secondary Frontages or Primary Shopping 
Area should be made, it is difficult for the 
Council to comment.  As noted elsewhere in 
this report, southern end of High Street as 
far as the Old Town Hall could be shown as 
Primary Shopping Frontage.  Some areas 
on Princes Street could also be taken out of 
Primary Shopping Area as residential in 
character.  However, practical implications 
in terms of application of sequential testing 
would be minimal as these sites are 
extremely unlikely to come forward for retail 
uses given their established residential use 
within the town centre area. 
 

Believe that Woolworth’s building, former 
cinema site and Horn Yard could provide 
focus for sympathetic anchor development 
that could counter pull of modern shopping 
centres. 

Former Woolworth’s building is already in 
A1 retail use and occupied.  The Council is 
unaware of any commercial interest in 
redeveloping this site.  The former cinema 
site in King Street is available for 
redevelopment and could incorporate a 
retail component but this would be 
insufficient in itself to satisfy identified need 
for retail floorspace over the plan period.  
Horn Yard forms part of Heritage Quarter 
East and would be a sequentially preferable 
edge-of-centre site after consideration of 
sites in the Primary Shopping Area.  
However, Heritage Quarter West is better 
located in relation to existing Primary 
Shopping Frontages and other more modern 
retail units.  
 

Development of larger modern retail units 
would have a detrimental impact on the 
character of the town and deter trade if not 
properly integrated into street pattern. 

Draft policy clearly states that development 
proposals would be considered in the 
context of preserving and enhancing the 
character of Gravesend as a riverside 
heritage town.  Design policies within the 
National Planning Policy Framework 
(paragraphs 56 – 68) and those to be 
included in the emerging Local Plan also 
apply in that they require schemes to be 
responsive to context whilst promoting local 
distinctiveness, inclusive and well integrated 
with their surroundings, and high quality.  It 
would be for a prospective developer to 
show that design requirements are met and 
it is not for the Local Plan to pre-determine 
judgements that are more properly made at 
the development management stage.  
 
 

Opposed to extension to north of St 
George’s Centre on West Street car park. 

The area to the north of St George’s Centre 
(Heritage Quarter West) is an edge-of-

Page 117



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

49 
 

centre site in retail terms and within the 
Town Centre Commercial Core.  It is also 
immediately adjoining areas of Primary 
Shopping Frontage in the St George’s 
Centre itself and New Road and a 
sympathetic form of mixed-use development 
here could serve to re-activate parts of the 
historic town of Gravesend whilst supporting 
increased economic activity with the High 
Street.  As noted earlier, the south side of 
West Street was in the past a shopping 
street so there is historic precedent for retail 
forming part of the mix. Whilst the area is a 
sensitive one given immediately adjoining 
heritage assets, the existing townscape is 
very poor as it is dominated by open air car 
parking and highway land.  It would 
therefore be inappropriate and detrimental 
to the future prospects of the town to 
preclude development here given its pivotal 
location. 
 

Suggest that there should be a specific 
designation for expansion of green space 
around St George’s Church. 

Whilst this suggestion is noted, any 
requirement for open space provision needs 
to be considered in the context of proposed 
development of which it forms part.  It would 
therefore be inappropriate to designate a 
specified area or site at this stage as an 
holistic integrated urban design approach is 
required that is responsive to context and 
makes efficient use of available space.  
Given the historic form of this part of the 
town centre, whether open space provision 
comprises ‘green space’ or has a more 
urban feel would need to be determined at 
the design stage.  
 

Approach should be more holistic and have 
greater regard to delivering social, cultural 
and leisure facilities rather than just retail – 
i.e. cinema/theatre/concert hall/art 
gallery/museum. 

The Vision for Gravesend Town Centre 
states that by the end of the Local Plan 
period, Gravesend town centre will have 
built upon its strengths as a commercial 
centre and riverside heritage town to 
establish itself as a dynamic and desirable 
place to live and work that is relevant to 
people’s needs and to be a focus for 
shopping, leisure, service provision, culture 
and tourism The draft policy also prioritises 
town centre locations leisure, cultural and 
other service provision.  The Council’s retail 
consultant in the Update Report (2012) also 
recommends that the offer of the town 
centre should be more rounded to 
complement its retail function.  However, 
whilst the evidence base suggests that 
provision of a small cinema and museum 
may be possible or desirable, in the 
absence of definitive plans or expressed 
market interest for commercial leisure 
investment it is difficult to be more specific. 
This situation is made more complex given 
the quantum of D2 commercial leisure 
floorspace that has already been permitted 
at Ebbsfleet and Eastern Quarry (48,750 
sq.m gross combined) that is likely to 
compete directly with potential provision in 
the traditional town centres.  However, it is 
suggested that the wording of the policy be 

Page 118



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

50 
 

revisited to make aspirations in this area 
more robust.  
 

Suggests that there is a need for site 
specific design briefs and SPD to achieve 
high quality design sympathetic design on 
key town centre sites + to avoid pre-
emption. 

Need for site specific design briefs 
considered on a case-by-case basis, 
although it should be noted that the design 
sections of the National Planning Policy 
Statement are now more robust than 
previously and assist in the delivery of 
higher quality designs responsive to context. 
 

Believe that strategy should focus high 
quality employment in town centre, 
encourage business start-ups and include a 
specific target based policy on this – links to 
improved accessibility and benefits of HS1 
domestic services. 

It is intended that greater emphasis be 
placed on the delivery of employment within 
the emerging Local Plan given the 
anticipated slower delivery of office 
floorspace at Ebbsfleet.  In this context, it is 
important that potential to deliver jobs within 
the town centre is fully exploited – especially 
as increased activity will generate support 
for other town centre functions.  It will be 
appreciated that at present the market for 
office space in Gravesend is weak and 
requires encouragement to improve levels of 
activity.  Improved accessibility to London 
via HS1 domestic services should assist in 
this respect.  The possibility of amending the 
draft policy to make it more robust and 
targeted will therefore be considered.  
   

Notes that document does not explain why 
commuter parking is being provided in town 
centre within Transport Quarter proposals + 
assume parking review will take a more 
sensible and strategic view on issue. 

Comments noted.  The outputs from the 
additional work on town centre car parking 
will be used to inform strategic approach to 
car parking in due course whilst recognising 
the Transport Quarter scheme has been 
permitted. 

Note adverse impact of open air car parking 
on town centre + that this should be 
addressed. 

Comment noted. 

  
 
7.21 Response made to comments received from Edinburgh House Estates 

Limited. 
 
7.22 Much of the response received from Edinburgh House Estates supports the 

Council’s position as set out in the Regulation 25 interim consultation 
document.  The table that follows concentrates on the Council’s response to a 
number of other points raised. 

  
Comment Response 
Whilst believing that the town centre vision 
should retain a strong emphasis on heritage, 
they are of the opinion that equal weight 
should be given to other economic and 
planning benefits. 

National Planning Policy Framework 
contains a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development and a strong 
emphasis on promoting growth to support 
the economy and employment.  However, 
national planning policy has to be read as a 
whole and those sections on design clearly 
require good design that is appropriate to 
context and has regard to heritage, sense-
of-place and local distinctiveness.  Schemes 
that are not well designed are therefore not 
sustainable and there is no presumption in 
their favour.  Policy should therefore require 
that the right balance is struck, although 
making a judgement on the acceptability or 

Page 119



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

51 
 

otherwise of a particular proposal is 
something for the development 
management stage. 
 

Support decision to reinforce primary role of 
town centre but are concerned at 
prioritisation of A1 retail uses on Primary 
Retail Frontage with little indication of 
relationship to other uses as this will limit 
diversity of uses. 

Primary Retail Frontages are by definition 
where higher value A1 retail uses are 
clustered together and being too flexible 
could result in the offer of the town centre 
being undermined – it is important that we 
retain a critical mass of A1 retail in core 
areas to attract shoppers and to maintain 
the vitality of the centre.  Clearly, we would 
also want to see a degree of diversity to 
maintain interest and to service the needs to 
shoppers who want to eat, drink, go to the 
bank and make linked trips.  However, 
Gravesend town centre is sufficiently 
compact for many of these uses to be 
located in the adjoining Secondary Retail 
Frontage areas.  Consideration will therefore 
be given as to what minimum percentage of 
retail frontage should be retained in A1 retail 
use on the Primary Retail Frontages. 
 

Note Council is planning on basis of the 
‘baseline’ scenario but consider there is a 
need to be ‘at the game’ and reserve right to 
make further representations once new 
figures are available. 

Approach adopted is as recommended by 
the Council’s retail consultant.  There would 
be concerns over adopting figures above 
baseline scenario for the purposes of policy 
because if sufficient levels of demand did 
not materialise then there could be a 
significant adverse impact on planned new 
centres if there was over-provision in the 
town centre.  Sequential approach set out in 
National Planning Policy Framework and 
though emerging Local Plan policy would 
not prevent developers coming forward with 
more ambitious schemes provided they are 
supported by sufficiently robust analyses of 
retail impact for implications to be fully 
understood – it is not the purpose of the 
planning system to inhibit competition that 
may be beneficial to the consumer. 
 

Support approach to ‘bulky goods’ and 
prioritising ‘town centre first’ but have 
concerns regarding Imperial Retail Park as 
this is out-of-centre and therefore it should 
not have a sequentially preferable status.  
Also concerned at loss of employment if 
retail expands into adjoining business park 
and how this would be handled. 

Draft policy does assume ‘town centre’ first 
and any proposal for expansion of Imperial 
Retail Park would have to be fully justified 
through the application of the sequential 
approach and retail impact assessment.  
The Council agrees that this site should be 
considered ‘out-of-centre’ but if there is a 
genuine need for development in a bulky 
goods format it is recognised that the 
Imperial Retail Park is sufficiently close to 
the town centre to complement its operation. 
Loss of employment floorspace would need 
to be considered on a case-by-case basis 
depending on any scheme promoted, 
although it should be recognised that retail 
in itself is capable of creating new job 
opportunities.  Employment policies in Local 
Plan will be sufficiently generous in terms of 
alternative land supply to allow decanting if 
required. 
 

Seek clarification as to whether Primary 
Shopping Centre (Area?) and Town Centre 
Commercial Core are considered to be ‘in-

Definitions set out in table at paragraph 2.9 
above.  Primary Shopping Area considered 
‘in-centre’ for retail purposes; Town Centre 

Page 120



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

52 
 

centre’ for the purposes of the National 
Planning Policy Framework sequential 
approach. 
 

Commercial Core considered ‘in-centre’ for 
all other town centre type uses. 

Whilst generally supporting policy position 
set out in the Regulation 25 interim 
consultation believe that town centre 
boundaries should be amended to show 
Heritage Quarter as a Primary Shopping 
Area extension because it is strategically 
important to the future well-being of the town 
centre and appropriate for a comprehensive 
retail and mixed-use scheme that could be 
delivered in phases. 

Analysis presented previously in this report 
agrees that Heritage Quarter should be 
treated as a preferred location for a new 
retail and mixed-use development so as to 
re-animate the northern part of the town 
centre and re-engage the town with the 
River Thames.  This would be subject to a 
sympathetic design solution being brought 
forward that is responsive to context.  The 
scale of housing provision in Heritage 
Quarter + the importance of the 
development to the future of the town centre 
implies that Heritage Quarter East and West 
should be treated as a strategic allocation 
within the Local Plan Core Strategy.  
  

Believe that even with lower growth scenario 
adopted, Gravesend town centre would still 
be capable of accommodating new 
family/branded restaurants and a range of 
commercial leisure facilities.  Clarification 
required on scale and location of new hotel 
facilities but they still believe focus of 
delivery should be town centre. 

The belief that Gravesend would benefit 
from an improvement in its food and drink 
offer through the inclusion of a range of 
family/branded restaurant outlets is shared 
by the Council’s retail consultant.  However, 
this should be seen in the context of the 
town centre also having an improved 
cultural and leisure offer accompanied by 
high quality public realm to attract visitors 
and potential custom in addition to 
shoppers.  Improvements promoting river 
related activity will also assist. Potential for 
scale of new hotel facilities is set out in the 
Kent Thameside Hotel Futures Report (June 
2007) and Gravesend Hotel Market Fact File 
(May 2011).  Location of new hotels relates 
to functionality and Council anticipates 
requirement at Ebbsfleet and in proximity to 
A2 corridor but with provision also being 
made in and around the town centre to take 
assist in the promotion of Gravesend as a 
visitor destination and to take advantage of 
HS1 links into London. 
 

Support for position that shopping facilities 
should be accessible by a range of transport 
means and Council’s approach to car 
parking but believe that any need to replace 
car parking should also take into 
consideration regeneration benefits that 
accrue from schemes. 

Support for sustainable approach to retail 
provision is noted and that town centre is 
best place to achieve this given ability to 
access a variety of transport modes.  Need 
to replace car parking and level of provision 
required to meet demand arising from new 
schemes will be evaluated on a case-by-
case basis but will have to be informed by a 
strategic over-view of long and short term 
car parking provision in the town centre.  
Aim should be to provide a coherent and 
integrated approach to transport whilst 
meeting legitimate car parking needs across 
the town centre.  This should assist in the 
management of traffic flows resulting in 
improved air quality and reductions in noise 
etc. 
 

Raise concerns regarding lowering of 
housing targets, particularly in relation to 
what Heritage Quarter might deliver.  
Reiterate benefits of high-density mixed-use 
development in town centre and suggest 

The lowering of the housing target at a 
Borough level is in response to 
assessments of housing need taking into 
account constraint imposed by Green Belt 
and views received as a result of public 

Page 121



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

53 
 

that affordable housing requirements should 
be linked to site characteristics. 

consultation.  Number of units that Heritage 
Quarter might ultimately deliver is a matter 
of detailed design taking into consideration 
mix of uses, their distribution, and the 
appropriateness of scale and massing etc.  
Affordable housing requirements will reflect 
the policy in the Core Strategy; 
characteristics of site; the match between 
identified needs and what can be delivered 
on a particular site due to constraints; and 
the viability of any scheme as demonstrated 
by independently assessed financial 
appraisal.  
 

Suggest that Heritage Quarter is capable of 
accommodating 400 residential units and 
more if St Andrews Gardens is included and 
suggest that red-line boundary in SLAA 
should be amended. 

What Heritage Quarter is ultimately capable 
of delivering is a matter for negotiation at the 
detailed design stage.  PPG17 based open 
space work suggests that St Andrews 
Gardens is not surplus to requirements and 
the case has not been made to justify its 
release at this stage.  It is noted that part of 
this site is also now registered as a Village 
Green.  In the absence of an indicative 
scheme and open space report either to 
demonstrate that the open space is surplus 
to requirements and/or that appropriate 
alternative provision is being made and this 
is supported by the local community, it 
would be inappropriate to include this land 
within a SLAA site. 
 

Question assessment of viability used as it 
is based on worst case scenario, believing 
that the market will recover in next 2 – 3 
years.  Claim that there is a realistic market 
for retail and residential development at 
Heritage Quarter, supported by High Speed 
rail services and projects like Transport 
Quarter. 

Comments noted.  Indicators in relation to 
movement of property market are mixed 
with some commentators predicting slower 
recovery to higher values.  Council has 
taken a conservative view in order that 
assessment of housing land supply is more 
robust but accepts that improved situation 
would enhance viability.  Also accept that 
mixed use schemes such as Heritage 
Quarter are more difficult to assess as SLAA 
work is based on residential market only. 
 

 
 
7.23 Response made to comments received from Orchard Street Investment 

Management LLP. 
 
7.24 The comments received from Orchard Street Investment Management LLP 

relate to the draft policy approach to the Imperial Retail Park and its status 
within the retail hierarchy. 

  
Comment Response 
Object to references to Imperial Retail Park 
as being out-of-centre as it is within 300 
metres of Primary Shopping Area along 
clear and safe route with pedestrian 
pathways.  Note that the original Regulation 
25 consultation defined site as edge-of-
centre and current position is inconsistent 
with this. 

Original Regulation 25 consultation treated 
Imperial Retail Park as edge-of-centre but 
consultation responses raised concerns as 
to whether our approach was consistent with 
PPS4 (now National Planning Policy 
Framework) approach and definitions so the 
whole policy was revisited.  Imperial Retail 
Park is not within 300 metres walking 
distance of Primary Shopping Area (see 
plan below) and therefore in sequential 
approach terms must be treated in retail 
terms as an out-of-centre location – 

Page 122



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

54 
 

although it is accepted that bulky goods 
provision and leisure uses (ten pin bowling 
alley) complement traditional town centre 
and add it its offer.  Should be noted though 
that the extent of linked trips has not been 
evaluated through survey. 

 
Plan showing relationship of Imperial Retail Park to Primary Shopping Area 

 
 
Insert Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Support possible expansion of Imperial 
Retail Park into adjoining business park but 
suggest wording of policy is unclear when it 
refers to ‘insufficient capacity’ whilst policy 
should not refer to Imperial Retail Park as a 
‘centre’. 

Comment noted and wording of draft policy 
will be revisited to make it clearer and 
ensure that Imperial Retail Park is not 
treated as a centre but a stand-alone out-of-
centre retail park that complements 
functionality of traditional town centre. 
. 

 
 
7.25 Response made to comments received from Land Securities and 

Lafarge 
 
7.26 The comments received from Land Securities and Lafarge relate to their 

proposals for Ebbsfleet and Northfleet Embankment West, both of which 
include a retail component and other town centre type uses.  

  
Comment Response 
Consider that extant planning permission for 
Ebbsfleet should be recognised in policy 
and there should be consistency of 
approach with the recently adopted Dartford 
LDF Core Strategy (Land Securities/Lafarge 
Cement – EIGP) 

Policy will be revisited to ensure that role of 
retail centres at Ebbsfleet and extant 
planning permission is recognised.  Council 
is of opinion that approach is consistent with 
recently adopted Dartford LDF Core 
Strategy and will seek statement of common 
ground under Duty to Co-operate via 
targeted consultation. 

Support the identification of The Hive, 
Northfleet as a local centre and as a location 
for new retail and service development of an 
appropriate scale as set out in their mixed-
use application (GR/2009/0238) 

Support for policy position noted.  
GR/2009/0238 has resolution to permit 
subject to s.106 agreement. 

 
 

Page 123



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

55 
 

7.27 Response to comments made on behalf of John Lewis Partnership 
 
7.28 The comments made on behalf of John Lewis Partnership relate to the 

relationship between draft policies on the town centre and retail to be included 
in the Local Plan and the relative status of Bluewater as a specialist regional 
shopping centre. 

  
Comment Response 
Support vision and policies set out in 
Regulation 25 interim consultation document 
but consider comparison ‘baseline’ forecast 
to be most appropriate for planning 
purposes; development should take into 
account heritage constraints and compact 
character of the town centre; and specialist 
sub-regional comparison shopping role of 
Bluewater should be retained. 

Draft policies and analysis above assume 
‘baseline’ comparison shopping projections 
for purpose of guiding scale of development 
proposed in Gravesend town centre.  
Development would need as a matter of 
course to be appropriate to setting and take 
into account design/heritage constraints.  
Projections of retail need are based on 
Gravesend town centre maintaining market 
share under ‘baseline’ projections so no 
impact on sub-regional comparison 
shopping role of Bluewater is anticipated. 
  

Support general approach to retail and 
centre hierarchy in draft policy 11 and 
guidance that new retail development to 
meet local needs will not be permitted 
beyond the major development sites listed. 

Support for policy position noted.  Retail 
development within new and existing local 
centres would be expected to meet 
immediate local needs only and not to 
compete with larger centres in hierarchy. 
 

 
7.29 Response made to comments received from Kent County Council. 
 
7.30 Comments received from Kent County Council generally support the policy 

position put forward by the Council. 
  

Comment Response 
Support regeneration of the town centre and 
focus of the policy but believe development 
is carefully designed to ensure it is in 
keeping with scale and context of town 
centre – especially in Heritage Quarter.  
Would also welcome production of town 
centre SPD to provide further guidance. 

Support for policy position is welcomed.  
Development would need as a matter of 
course to be appropriate to setting and take 
into account design/heritage constraints.  
Decision on whether to produce site specific 
or generic SPD covering town centre will be 
taken in due course. 
 

 
7.31 Response made to comments received from Dartford Borough Council 
 
7.32 Dartford Borough Council’s comments relate primarily to evidence base 

issues and impact on new centres within their area. 
  

Comment Response 
Concerned at lack of evidence base 
regarding retail and impact of a reduced and 
more dispersed population as a result of 
reduced housing targets. 

Issue covered fully by Gravesham Retail 
Update document (2012). 

Concerned at possible impact on planned 
retail development in places such as 
Ebbsfleet. 

Impact of development in Gravesham on 
centres at Ebbsfleet and Eastern Quarry 
dealt with in this document using DBC own 
assumptions and adopted LDF Core 
Strategy as part of evidence base.  Council 
will seek statement of common ground from 
Dartford under Duty to Co-operate to show 
compatibility of two policy documents via 
targeted consultation. 

Page 124



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

56 
 

Section 8 - Conclusions 
 
8.1 It is concluded on the basis of the foregoing analysis that the draft policies on 

the town centre and retail set out in the Gravesham Growth Scenarios and 
Core Strategy – Regulation 25 Update consultation document are 
fundamentally sound and are capable of providing the basis for those that will 
be included in the final submission version document. 

 
8.2 In particular it is noted that the policies are capable of relatively minor 

amendment that will ensure that they are:- 
 

• Compliant with the National Planning Policy Framework; 
• Consistent with the Council’s evidence base; 
• Capable of being implemented and monitored; 
• Represent the most sustainable option when considered against 

reasonable alternatives; and 
• Are compatible with policies advocated by adjoining planning 

authorities consistent with the Council’s responsibilities under the 
Duty to Co-operate. 

 
8.3 Areas where it is proposed to amend the draft policies have been set out in 

the above report.  These include:- 
 

• Inclusion of guideline figures for retail (using ‘baseline’ scenario) 
and other floorspace in accordance with the Retail Study Update 
(2012) report, taking into account impact on planned centres within 
the retail hierarchy; 

• Minor changes to the Primary Retail Frontage and the Primary 
Shopping Area shown on the Town Centre Map plus showing 
Gravesend Charter Market as a key link between High Street and 
Queen Street; 

• The inclusion of the definition of a 500 metre zone of Gravesend 
Railway Station as being edge-of-centre for the purposes of office 
development as set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework; 

• The identification of sites around Gravesend Railway Station as a 
possible location for office development given the improved 
accessibility to London afforded by HS1 rail services – 
consideration will also be given here to including an appropriate 
floorspace or jobs target for monitoring purposes; 

• Strengthening of the wording of the draft town centre policy in 
terms of social, leisure and cultural uses to ensure that it is clear 
that a more rounded mixed-use outcome is sought; and 

• The identification of Heritage Quarter as a strategic development 
site and preferred location for a Primary Shopping Area extension 
– subject to a sympathetic design solution being developed that is 
responsive to context. 

 
8.4 In addition to the above, the wording of the draft policies will be re-visited to 

ensure consistency both with the National Planning Policy Framework and 
with the rest of the document.  The document will also be made clearer in 
terms of the status and role of the Imperial Retail Park, whilst outputs from 
further work on transport and car parking will also be used to inform emerging 
policy in due course. 

Page 125



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

57 
 

Appendix 
 

Structure of the Ebbsfleet Planning Permissions 
 
The structure of the Ebbsfleet outline planning permissions is complex, reflecting the 
fact that there is flexibility in the way they may be implemented.  The following sets 
out the basic parameters of the permissions. 

• The outline planning permission is granted under DA/96/00047 (Dartford) and 
GR/1996/0035 (Gravesham).  

• The Dartford and Gravesham areas are then divided in half, making 4 quarters 
in all – i.e. Station Quarter North and Station Quarter South (Dartford) and 
Springhead Rise Quarter and Northfleet Rise Quarter (Gravesham). 

• The outline planning permissions have conditions applied which set the 
maximum quantum of floorspace overall in Dartford and Gravesham, with 
further limits on the maximum amount of retail/leisure floorspace and the size 
of some types of unit in each quarter. 

• Conditions are then applied which require the submission of retail statements 
that show the floorspace is located so as to serve primarily the residential and 
working populations, living and working within the development and compliance 
with the sequential approach set out in PPG6 (now the NPPF). [DA/96/00047 – 
Conditions D7 & D8; GR/1996/0035 – Conditions D7 & D8].   

For the Dartford part of Ebbsfleet, the floorspace limits are as follows:- 

Overall parameters within Dartford outline planning permission – DA/96/00047 

Condition   

D2 No more than a total of 16,250 sq.m gross floorspace to be used for retail use for the sale of 
convenience goods. 

D3 No individual store selling predominantly food or convenience goods to exceed 7,500 sq.m in gross 
floor area. 

D6 None of the retail floorspace combined within the development shall be used for or as part of a 
‘factory outlets centre’, ‘warehouse club’ or ‘retail warehouse’. 

Parameters applying to Station Quarter North 

C7.c No more than 500 sq.m gross floorspace to be used for A1 local shops, with no single unit to exceed 
300 sq.m gross floorspace.  

C7.d No more than a total of 12,000 sq.m gross floorspace to be for core A1 retail use – this is in addition to 
the up to 500 sq.m. gross total for local shops. 

C8 Largest unit for sale of food or convenience goods in Station Quarter North to be maximum 7,500 sq.m 
gross floorspace. 

Parameters applying to Station Quarter South 

C9.c No more than 750 sq.m gross floorspace to be used for A1 local shops, with no single unit to exceed 
300 sq.m gross floorspace. 

C9.d No more than a total of 3,500 sq.m gross floorspace to be for core A1 retail use – this is in addition to 
the up to 750 sq.m. gross total for local shops. 

C10 Largest unit for sale of food or convenience goods in Station Quarter South to be maximum 2,500 sq.m 
gross floorspace 

Page 126



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

58 
 

From the above it is concluded that, subject to a retail assessment under Conditions 
D7 & D8, it would be possible to accommodate a maximum 16,750 sq.m gross 
floorspace for A1 retail use in the Dartford part of Ebbsfleet.   

This is comprised of 12,500 sq.m gross floorspace in Station Quarter North (12,000 
sq.m + 500 sq.m local shops under Conditions C7.c & C7.d) and 4,250 sq.m gross 
floorspace in Station Quarter South (3,500 sq.m + 750 sq.m local shops under 
Conditions C9.c & C9.d).  

Overall, the total amount of floorspace used for the retail sale of food or convenience 
goods within the two quarters combined cannot exceed a maximum of 16,250 sq.m 
gross floorspace, with the largest A1 food/convenience unit in Station Quarter North 
being limited to 7,500 sq.m gross and in Station Quarter South 2,500 sq.m gross.  

There does not appear to be any limit on the quantum of comparison floorspace 
other than the maximum 16,750 sq.m gross floorspace upper limit for A1 retail.  

For Gravesham part of Ebbsfleet, the floorspace limits are as follows:- 

 

Overall parameters within Gravesham outline planning permission – GR/1996/0035 

Condition   

D2 No more than a total of 3,750 sq.m gross floorspace to be used for retail use for the sale of 
convenience goods. 

D3 No individual store selling predominantly food or convenience goods to exceed 2,750 sq.m in gross 
floor area. 

D6 None of the retail floorspace combined within the development shall be used for or as part of a 
‘factory outlets centre’, ‘warehouse club’ or ‘retail warehouse’. 

Parameters applying to Springhead Quarter 

C7.c No more than 500 sq.m gross floorspace to be used for A1 local shops, with no single unit to exceed 
500 sq.m gross floorspace.  

C7.d No more than a total of 500 sq.m gross floorspace to be for core A1 retail use – this is in addition to the 
up to 500 sq.m. gross total for local shops. 

C8 Largest unit for sale of food or convenience goods in Station Quarter North to be maximum 1,000 sq.m 
gross floorspace. 

Parameters applying to Northfleet Rise Quarter 

C9.c No more than 350 sq.m gross floorspace to be used for A1 local shops, with no single unit to exceed 
350 sq.m gross floorspace. 

C9.d No more than a total of 2,400 sq.m gross floorspace to be for core A1 retail use – this is in addition to 
the up to 350 sq.m. gross total floorspace for local shops. 

C10 Largest unit for sale of food or convenience goods in Northfleet Rise Quarter to be maximum 2,750 
sq.m gross floorspace 

 

From the above it is concluded that, subject to a retail assessment under Conditions 
D7 & D8, it would be possible to accommodate a maximum 3,750 sq.m gross 
floorspace for A1 retail use in the Gravesham part of Ebbsfleet.   

This is comprised of 1,000 sq.m gross floorspace in Springhead Quarter (500 sq.m 
+ 500 sq.m local shops under Conditions C7.c & C7.d) and 2,750 sq.m gross 

Page 127



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

59 
 

floorspace in Station Quarter North (2,400 sq.m + 350 sq.m local shops under 
Conditions C9.c & C9.d).  

Overall, the total amount of floorspace used for the retail sale of food or convenience 
goods within the two quarters combined cannot exceed a maximum of 3,750 sq.m 
gross floorspace, with the largest A1 food/convenience unit in Springhead Quarter 
being limited to 1,000 sq.m gross and in Northfleet Rise Quarter 2,500 sq.m gross.  

There does not appear to be any limit on the quantum of comparison floorspace 
other than the maximum 3,750 sq.m gross floorspace upper limit for A1 retail. 

 

 

 
 

Page 128



Gravesend Town Centre and Retail Policy: Assessment of Consultation Responses Paper April 2012  

60 
 

References 

Page 129



Page 130

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Planning Delivery Committee – 20 June 2012 
Performance Update - Quarter Four 2011-12 (January 2012 – March 2012) 

 
Classification:   Part 1 – Public  
   
Key Decision: No 
  

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Planning Delivery Committee 

Date: 20 June 2012 

Reporting officer: Sue Lord, Service Manager (Regeneration & Policy) 
Clive Gilbert, Service Manager (Development Control) 
 

Subject: Performance Update - Quarter Four 2011-12  
(January 2012 to March 2012) 
 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To provide Members of the Planning Delivery Committee with a report on the progress made 
by the council in delivering the Areas of Focus and Measures of Accountability (relevant to 
the committee) as set out within the Corporate Business Plan 2011-15. 

 

Recommendations: 

Members are requested to note the information contained within the report appendix. 

 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The council’s Corporate Business Plan 2011-15 sets out the 18 Areas of Focus 
which form the framework for the direction of the council during the four-year 
period.  The success and impact of the council in delivering the objectives within 
each Area of Focus is measured periodically through formal performance reports. 

1.2 The implications arising from this report are summarised in appendix one. 

 

2. Performance Data report 

2.1 Appendix two provides the an update for Members on performance in the third 
quarter of 2011-12 within the four key Areas of Focus and the five Measures of 
Accountability that fall within the remit of Planning Delivery Committee. The 
appendix is set out as follows: 

 

 

Agenda Item 8Page 131



 
 

Planning Delivery Committee – 20 June 2012 
Performance Update - Quarter Four 2011-12 (January 2012 – March 2012) 

2.2 The appendix is set out as follows: 

2.2.1 Areas of Focus Update – this provides an update for Members on work 
that has been undertaken by the council between January 2012 and March 
2012 in relation to each of the key areas of focus within the Corporate 
Business Plan, relevant to the committee. 

2.2.2 Measures of Accountability – this provides Members with details of 
performance from January 2012 to March 2012 against the measures of 
accountability set out in the Corporate Business Plan. Information on 
performance over the last quarter is presented both graphically and in 
tabular form. The table also provides a ‘traffic light system’ to enable 
Members to assess how the council is performing against the target it has 
set for each measure. A commentary on performance has been provided 
where considered necessary. 

2.3 Members are requested to note the information contained within the report 
appendix. 

 

3. Executive Performance Summary 

3.1 Key areas of improvement/good performance: 

3.1.1 CBP 14 - Affordable Homes 
In accordance with the procedure for collation of data for CBP 14, a total of 
142 new-build affordable homes were delivered during 2011-2012 which 
included 30 delivered in quarter four. For the reporting of affordable 
housing provision based upon Housing Association handovers however, a 
total of 151 new-build homes were delivered during this time. This figure 
includes 90 units of general needs housing for social rent, shared-
ownership and intermediate rent comprising; 
- 20 x 1-bed units; 
- 32 x 2-bed units; 
- 30 x 3-bed units; and  
- Eight x 4-bed units.  
 
In addition, 56 1-bed and 2-bed units for Extra Care were delivered during 
this financial year with a further five bungalows for people with specialist 
housing requirements being delivered by the Council. 

3.1.2 CBP 29 - Town Centre Footfall 
Footfall in the town centre is affected by a range of factors, including 
consumer confidence and weather.  A range of events and promotion in 
the town centre has helped towards achieving recorded average footfall 
levels of 186,354, over 1,400 above the set target for the year. 

3.2 Potential areas for review: 

3.2.1 CBP 13 - Net Additional Homes (full detail supplied in appendix two) 
Data for CBP13 is currently comprised of Building Control returns and a 
site visit for Springhead (also known as Penn Green, Springhead Park, 
Ebbsfleet). This data is subject to additional data quality checks and site 
visits undertaken as part of the Annual Monitoring Report.  
 
 

Page 132



 
 

Planning Delivery Committee – 20 June 2012 
Performance Update - Quarter Four 2011-12 (January 2012 – March 2012) 

Whilst 81 completions occurred at Christianfields Phase 2 during the 
monitoring period, a net loss of 11 dwellings has been recorded for this 
site due to the need to take into account 92 demolitions that occurred 
during the monitoring period for Christianfields Phase 3. Three sites 
accounted for the bulk of net completions for the monitoring period, these 
being Clarendon Royal Hotel (50 dwellings), Watling Court (56 extra care 
dwellings) and Springhead (55 dwellings).  
 

3.2.2 CBP 28 - Unemployment rate (Quarterly) 
The resident rate of unemployment increased in the final quarter of 2011-
12 to reach an annual peak of 4.7%. This rise mirrors what is happening 
across the UK. 

 

4. Background Papers 

4.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report. 

 

Page 133



 
 

Planning Delivery Committee – 20 June 2012 
Performance Update - Quarter Four 2011-12 (January 2012 – March 2012) 

IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                             APPENDIX 1  

Legal  There are no legal implications arising from the decisions taken as a result of this 
report. 

Finance and 
Value for 
Money  

Quarterly reporting and review of the council’s progress against its strategic 
priorities provides an important opportunity to influence performance.   Such action 
will also help to ensure that council resources are being directed in an efficient and 
effective manner and to the benefit of the Gravesham community. 

Risk 
Assessment 

 

The specific targets set for each of the measures of accountability are designed to 
be realistic but challenging to the council; resultantly there are likely to be instances 
when target performance may not be achieved.  Quarterly reporting and review of 
performance against the measures of accountability and the council’s progress 
against its strategic priorities enables managers and Members to identify risks to 
the achievement of the council’s priorities, enabling action to be taken to mitigate or 
manage risks and/or influence council performance at the earliest opportunity.     

Equality 
Impact 
Assessment 

Screening for Equality Impacts 

Question Answer Explanation 

a. Does the decision 
being made or 
recommended 
through this paper 
have potential to 
cause adverse impact 
or discriminate against 
different groups in the 
community? 

No The report is intended to 
provide an update on the 
council’s performance in 
delivering the priorities 
for the community as set 
out in the Corporate 
Business Plan 2011-15. 

b. Does the decision 
being made or 
recommended 
through this paper 
make a positive 
contribution to 
promoting equality? 

No The report is intended to 
provide an update on the 
council’s performance in 
delivering the priorities 
for the community as set 
out in the Corporate 
Business Plan 2011-15. 

c. What steps are you 
taking to mitigate, 
reduce, avoid or 
minimise the impacts 
identified above? 

N/A 
 

 

-- 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as 
noted in the table above 

 

Corporate 
Business 
Plan 

The Corporate Business Plan 2011-15, which sets out the council’s strategic 
priorities and measures of accountability considered in this report, forms part of the 
council’s Policy Framework. 

 

 

 

Page 134



 
 

Planning Delivery Committee – 20 June 2012 
Performance Update - Quarter Four 2011-12 (January 2012 – March 2012) 

IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                             APPENDIX 1  

Crime and 
Disorder 

  

The full Corporate Business Plan document includes two key areas of focus relating 
specifically to crime and anti-social behaviour; ‘Keeping Gravesham Safe’ and 
‘Raising young people’s awareness of crime and anti-social behaviour issues’.  
Whilst the work of the Business & Partnerships Committee is not directly related to 
Community Safety, there may be aspects of the Committee’s work that will need to 
take community safety issues into consideration. 

 

Page 135



Page 136

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	7 Retail Study and Policy approach - Report & appendices herewith
	Gravesham Retail Update Final Report
	Gravesend Town Centre Posistioning Paper

	8 Performance Update - Quarter Four 2011-12 (January 2012 to March 2012) - Report & appendices herewith
	Performance Update - Quarter Four 2011-12 - Appendix Two


